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Chairman’s Statement

ERE®E

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the annual report of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) the provision of foundation
(including the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel
H-piles and driven steel H piles) and other civil works (including site
formation works, and road and pavement works) and tunneling
works (including pipe jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-cover
tunnel works) in Hong Kong and overseas, and (ii) premises
revitalisation and enhancement business in the PRC.

The Group has also invested in an associate for the purpose of the
development of the Birmingham Property Project. The Birmingham
Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments situated at
the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom. As at 31
March 2024, about 96.7% of the apartments have been sold.
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Chairman’s Statement

ERBE

RESULT SUMMARY

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$832.1 million, representing an
increase of 17.6% from the 2023 Corresponding Year. Gross
profit of the Group amounted to HK$93.2 million, an increase of
22.3% from the 2023 Corresponding Year. Profit attributable to
owners of Company amounted to HK$22.1 million representing an
increase 82.7% as compared to that in the 2023 Corresponding
Year. Earnings per share was HK$0.04 for the 2024 Financial Year
comparing with HK$0.02 for the 2023 Corresponding Year. The
Group maintains healthy financial position with net current assets of
HK$266.8 million and net cash position at the financial year end.

With the dedicated support of our staff and customers, the Group
has been awarded 17 contracts with original contract sums of
totalling HK$ 1,365 million and the outstanding contract value (based
on the original contract value) as at 31 March 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$1,309 million.

OUTLOOK

The Group’s dedicated focus on connecting core scientific and
innovation research with universities in Hong Kong underscores its
commitment to driving progress and improving quality of life. By
consistently developing valuable and innovative technologies, the
Group aims to not only advance green industries but also contribute
to the low-carbon transformation of Hong Kong and the Greater
Bay Area.

Looking ahead, the Group recognizes the importance of strategic
preparations for the commercialization of its R&D technologies. The
Group plans to actively recruit outstanding talents in the areas of
commercial sales, research and development, and manufacturing.
This strategic talent acquisition will equip the Group with the
necessary expertise and capabilities to effectively translate its
innovative research and development into tangible, market-ready
solutions.

Furthermore, the Group will continue to explore, build, and improve
the capabilities of its R&D platforms, laying a solid foundation
for the vigorous development of its R&D pipeline over the next
decade. This long-term, forward-looking approach demonstrates
the Group’s dedication to maintaining a robust and sustainable
innovation ecosystem. By broadening its global footprint, the Group
is positioned to evolve into a leading global specialty biomedical and
biochemical developer, generating enduring value for its customers,
workforce, society, and shareholders.
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Chairman's Statement

ERBE

APPRECIATION

I would like to this opportunity to express my heartfelt appreciation
to the Board members, management team and staff for their
dedication and their valuable contributions.

| would also like to thank our customers, subcontractors and
suppliers, other business partners and, most importantly, our
Shareholders of their continue support to the Group for the past
years.

Jim Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEBNWR TN

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a long established contractor in Hong Kong and is
principally engaged in the provision of foundation works (including
the construction of mini-piles, rock-socketed steel H-piles and driven
steel H piles, and other civil work, including site formation works,
and road and pavement works) and tunneling works (including pipe
jacking, hand dig tunnel and cut-and-over tunnel works) in Hong
Kong and overseas.

In late March 2021, the Group has diversified and expanded to
premises revitalisation and enhancement business by entering into
two cooperation agreements which relate to premises situated in
Guangzhou, a first-tier city in the PRC. As at 31 March 2024, the
Group has entered into four cooperation agreements which relate
to premises situated in Guangzhou and the aggregate estimated
gross leasable areas after renovation and enhancement works is
approximately 79,400 square meters.

The Group has also invested in an associate company for the
purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property Project. The
Birmingham Property Project consists of 304 residential apartments
situated at the Windmill Street, Birmingham, the United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2024, 96.4% of the apartments have been sold and
the share of loss from the Birmingham Property Project for the 2024
Financial Year was approximately HK$2.5 million.

The Group has entered into a framework agreement with The Hong
Kong University of Science and Technology (the “"HKUST") for the
establishment of a joint laboratory bearing the name “HKUST-AP
EnviroSci Ltd. Joint Laboratory on Health and Environmental
Innovations” (the “Joint Lab”) for a period of five years from
October 2023. During the term of the framework agreement, the
Group will provide funding in support of a sponsored research
project, a mix-funding research project and research-related events
and student sponsorship, covering the following research topics: (i)
environmental hygiene and sanitation; (ii) air and water purifications;
(iii) net-zero, circular resource utilization; and (iv) energy-saving
decarbonization processes.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERENWE DN

In March 2024, the Group also launched the “APEL Biomedical
Technology Innovation and Translational Commercial Laboratory”
(the “Comm Lab") in the Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks
(the "HKSTP”). The establishment of the Comm Lab represents
the first phase of APEL's strategic plan to set up a presence within
the Hong Kong Science and Technology Parks (HKSTP) ecosystem.
This initiative aligns with the Group's vision to position the Comm
Lab as a central hub that will integrate its biomedical and new
materials businesses, facilitate research and development activities,
drive the transformation of applications, and ultimately, enable
the commercialisation of its R&D endeavors. By leveraging the
resources and collaborative opportunities available within the HKSTP
environment, the Group is poised to amplify its impact, accelerate
its business diversification, and solidify its position as a leader in the
biomedical and new materials technology sectors.

Following the establishment of the Comm Lab, the Group will work
to diversify its business operations and explore opportunities in the
biomedical and new materials technology sectors. The Group has
also been studying commercialisation prospects for well-developed
and high-quality research and development projects related to
groundbreaking technologies developed by universities in Hong
Kong.

Moreover, GERMAGIC™ PET, a brand under APEL, is one of the
few high-end pet health care brands in Hong Kong to have earned
the prestigious Quality Pet Protection (QPP) certification. QPP is an
industry-leading scheme led by the IBH Pet Industry Development
Standing Committee that promotes higher quality standards and
pet well-being, with veterinary professional support from Pet Space
Group and testing and certification services from SGS.

The introduction of “The Pet Care Trio” by GERMAGIC™ PET at
the 11th Premium Pet Supplies Expo 2024 represents a strategic
move by the Group to expand its product portfolio and cater to the
growing demands of the pet care market. The deodorizer, itch relief,
and skin healer products, which leverage GERMAGIC™'s proprietary
encapsulation technology, offer long-lasting antibacterial protection
— a feature that is likely to resonate well with pet owners seeking
comprehensive care solutions for their beloved companions.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERENWE DN

The initial launch of these products in Hong Kong and Macau, with
distribution channels encompassing HKTVmall, Pricerite, and various
pharmacies, demonstrates the Group’s commitment to ensure
widespread accessibility and availability of these innovative pet care
offerings. This multi-channel approach enables the Group to reach
a diverse customer base and solidify its presence in the regional
market. Furthermore, the Group’s ambitious plan to expand into the
Chinese market in mid-June 2024 represents a significant growth
opportunity.

For the 2024 Financial Year, the revenue of the Group increased
to approximately HK$832.1 million (2023 Corresponding Year:
HK$707.8 million), an increase of 17.6%.

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Group has been awarded 17
contracts with original contract sums of approximately HK$1,365
million of which 14 contracts are for foundation works and 3
contracts are for tunneling works in the sum of approximately
HK$1,309 million and HK$57 million respectively.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total of 35 major contracts
on hands with the outstanding contract value in Hong Kong
(based on the original contract value) amounted to approximately
HK$1,423.3 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$869.4 million) to be
completed.

SAFETY AND ENVIRONMENTAL MANAGEMENT

The Group has placed strong emphasis on its quality assurance
systems. We have strong commitment to works’ quality, safety,
occupational health and environmental management to ensure
delivery of quality works to the customers on a timely basis.

The Group has implemented a stringent management system to
regulate its works’ quality, safety and environmental management
standards, which complies with international standards. The Group
has met the requirements of ISO 9001, ISO 14001, ISO 45001, ISO
50001 and OHSAS 18001 accreditation for our quality management
system, environmental management system, energy management
system and occupational safety and health management system
respectively.

Same as previous years, the Group has maintained accident rates at
the construction sites lower than the industry average.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWR DT

During the 2024 Financial Year, the Group was the recipient
of several prestigious awards from Hong Kong Government
departments, public utility companies, and industry organizations
in recognition of its unwavering commitment to promoting and
upholding the highest standards of site safety.

- Merit in Public Works Sites — RMAA Works — Merit by 29th

Development Bureau Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme

- Merit in Non-Public Works Sites — New Works — Merit by 29th

Development Bureau Considerate Contractors Site Award
Scheme

KEY AWARDS

Leveraging the Group’s unparalleled leadership team, the Group’s
commitment to innovation was recognized at the 49th International
Exhibition of Inventions Geneva in April 2024, where the Company
won two gold medals and one bronze medal, achieving a 100%
success rate for its pioneering scientific research. Competing against
over 1,000 inventions from 38 countries, the Group’s success at the
exhibition highlights the Company’s exceptional research capabilities
and its readiness to tackle global challenges with advanced
technologies.

Pioneering Breakthroughs Shine at 49th International Exhibition of
Inventions Geneva

o Gold Medal — Low-carbon Multi-purpose Silica Encapsulating
Technology

o Gold Medal - Light-based Devices for Disinfection and
Deodorization

o Bronze Medal — Safe and Environmentally Friendly Multilevel
Antimicrobial & Pest-Repellent Formulated Products
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERENWE DN

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the 2024 Financial Year, the Group recorded a consolidated
revenue of approximately HK$832.1 million, an increase of
approximately 17.6% when compared with the revenue of
approximately HK$707.8 million for the 2023 Corresponding
Year. The increase in revenue is mainly due to the increase in the
revenue of foundation and other civil works by approximately
HK$106.8 million, the revenue of tunneling works by approximately
HK$5.5 million and rental income and management fee income of
approximately HK$11.9 million recognised for the 2024 Financial
Year.

Revenue from the foundation and other civil works segment
increased from approximately HK$563.8 million for the 2023
Corresponding Year to approximately HK$670.6 million for the 2024
Financial Year, an increase of approximately 18.9%. The increase
in the revenue of the foundation works was primarily due to the
increase in the number of projects tendered and commenced during
the 2024 Financial Year.

Revenue from the tunneling works segment for the 2024 Financial
Year amounted to approximately HK$146.3 million, representing an
increase of approximately 3.9% from the 2023 Corresponding Year.

Rental income and management fee income under premises
revitalization and enhancement business increased from
approximately HK$3.2 million for the 2023 Corresponding Year
to approximately HK$15.1 million for the 2024 Financial Year,
representing an increase of approximately 368.2%. Following the
reopening of borders of the PRC in January 2023 and the better
economic environment expected, the overall occupancy rate
increased from approximately 39.6% for the 2023 Corresponding
Year to approximately 51.4% for the 2024 Financial Year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
BEERENWE DN

Gross profit and gross profit margin

The overall gross profit of the Group increased from approximately
HK$76.2 million for the 2023 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$93.2 million for the 2024 Financial Year, representing an
increase of approximately 22.3%.

The gross profit in relation to the foundation and other civil works
decreased by approximately HK$3.5 million from approximately
HK$59.3 million for the 2023 Corresponding Year to approximately
HK$55.8 million for the 2024 Financial Year. The decrease in gross
profit was mainly due to the increase in the costs for pre-foundation
work for the new projects such as design and preparation work
incurred during the year 2024 Financial Year. Consequently,
the gross profit margin for the foundation and other civil works
decreased from approximately 10.5% for the 2023 Corresponding
Year to approximately 8.3% for the 2024 Financial Year.

Gross profit in relation to tunneling works increased by
approximately HK$26.9 million from approximately HK$17.6
million for the 2023 Corresponding Year to approximately HK$44.5
million for the 2024 Financial Year. The gross profit margin for the
tunneling works segment increased from approximately 12.5%
for the 2023 Corresponding Year to approximately 30.4% for the
2024 Financial Year as a result of the commencement of high profit
margin projects during the 2024 Financial Year.

The gross loss in relation to the premises revitalization and
enhancement increased by approximately HK$7.4 million from
approximately HK$72,000 for the 2023 Corresponding Year to
approximately HK$7.5 million for the 2024 Financial Year. The
increase in gross loss was mainly due to the increase in depreciation
of investment properties of approximately HK$18.6 million and
offset by the increase in rental income and management fee income
of approximately HK$11.9 million and other operation costs.
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other income and gain

Other income and gain for the 2024 Financial Year amounted to
HK$20.1 million, comparing with that of HK$26.1 million for the
2023 Corresponding Year. The decrease in other income and gain
mainly due to combined effect of the absence of approximately
HK$7.5 million grants under the “Anti-epidemic Fund” and the
"Employment Support Scheme” received in the 2023 Corresponding
Year, the decrease in service income of approximately HK$6.6
million from joint operations and an associate, and the sales of
materials of approximately HK$7.2 million recognized in the 2024
Financial Year.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for the 2024 Financial Year
amounted to HK$1.5 million, comparing with that of HK$0.9 million
for the 2023 Corresponding Year. The selling and distribution
expenses was mainly marketing and promotion expenses incurred by
the premises revitalisation and enhancement business.

Administrative and other expenses

Administrative and other expenses for the 2024 Financial Year
amounted to HK$76.2 million, comparing with that of HK$75.3
million for the 2023 Corresponding Year. The increase in
administrative and other expenses was mainly attributable to the
increase in the research and development expenses of approximately
of HK$2.1 million and other general corporate expenses.

Research and development expenses for the 2024 Financial Year
amounted to approximately HK$2.1 million. The research and
development expenses was mainly laboratory testing expenses and
upfront and milestone payments made to the Joint Lab with the
HKUST.
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Finance costs

Finance cost of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year was
approximately HK$14.4 million, compared to approximately
HK$27.1 million for the 2023 Corresponding Year. The decrease in
finance cost was mainly attributable to the decrease in interests on
lease liabilities from the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business due to the rental concession provided by the lessor during
the 2024 Financial Year.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate relates to the Group’s 40% interest in
an associate for the purpose of developing the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group'’s share of loss of an associate for the 2024
Financial Year was approximately HK$2.5 million.

Income tax (expenses)/credit

Income tax expense for the 2024 Financial Year was approximately
HK$8.0 million (2023 Corresponding Year: income tax credit of
approximately HK$2.6 million). The change was mainly due to the
increase in the assessable profits and the increase in the deferred tax
assets recognized in the 2024 Financial Year.

Profit attributable to the owners of the Company

The consolidated profit attributable to the owners of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$22.1 million for the 2024 Financial
Year when compared to approximately HK$12.1 million for the
2023 Corresponding Year, an increase of 82.7%.

Return on total assets for the 2024 Financial Year increased to 2.1%,
from 1.1% for the 2023 Corresponding Year. The increase was due
to the increase in profits for the year. Return on equity for the 2024
Financial Year was 4.4% when compared to 2.5% for the 2023
Corresponding Year. The increase was due to the increase in profits
attributable to the owners of the Company.

Capital expenditure

The Group incurred capital expenditure, primarily on investment
properties, machinery and equipment and motor vehicles, of
approximately HK$29.6 million for the 2024 Financial Year, (2023
Corresponding Year: approximately HK$70.6 million) which was
financed by internal resources and borrowings.
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Liquidity and financial resources

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank balances and cash of
approximately HK$166.7 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$127.2
million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had bank and other borrowings of
approximately HK$96.9 million (as at 31 March 2023: approximately
HK$122.3 million) out of which approximately HK$57.8 million
(as at 31 March 2023: HK$54.7 million) were classified as current
liabilities.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had lease liabilities of
approximately HK$293.2 million (as at 31 March 2023: HK$336.5
million).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had net current assets
of approximately HK$266.8 million (as at 31 March 2023:
approximately HK$259.0 million).

The Group's current ratio (which is calculated on the basis of current
assets over current liabilities) as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March
2023 was approximately 2.0 times and 2.3 times respectively. The
gearing ratio (which is calculated on the basis of total debt over total
equity. Total debt includes bank and other borrowings and lease
liabilities) of the Group as at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023
was approximately 81.4% and 97.0% respectively.

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's capital commitments relating
to the renovation work of investment properties and purchase of
machinery and equipment was approximately HK$29.3 million (as at
31 March 2023: HK$50.5 million).

Pledge of assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has pledged to other financial
institutions deposits of approximately in total HK$39.3 million
(31 March 2023: HK$39.8 million) to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group.

Segmental information
Details of segmental information are set out in the note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Significant Investment

The Group’s significant investment comprised interest in an associate
for the purpose of the development of the Birmingham Property
Project. The Group’s interest in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method and the
carrying amount of the interest in an associate represented 6.2%
of the Group’s total assets as at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023:
6.5%).

Investment Strategy

The Birmingham Property Project is developed for the purpose of
participating in the property related business in United Kingdom.
As at 31 March 2024, 96.4% of the apartments of the Birmingham
Property Project have been sold and the Group intends to dispose
the remaining apartments in the near future.

Foreign exchange risk management

Apart from the interest in an associate of which the underlining
functional currency is GBP, and the subsidiaries in the Philippines
and the PRC of which the underling functional currencies are PHP
and RMB respectively, the revenue, expenses, monetary assets and
liabilities of the Group are mainly denominated in Hong Kong dollar
(which is the presentation currency of the financial information),
same as the functional currency of the Group.

For the 2024 Financial Year, apart from the interest in an associate
in the United Kingdom and subsidiaries in the Philippines and the
PRC, there was no significant exposure to the foreign currency
rate fluctuations from the operations of the Group. The Group
did not maintain any hedging policy against foreign currency risk.
The management will closely monitor the exposure to the foreign
currency risk and will consider hedging significant currency exposure
should the need arise.

Contingent liabilities
Details of contingent liabilities are set out in the note 35 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Employees and remuneration policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has 354 employees in Hong
Kong (as at 31 March 2023: 348), 30 employees in the Philippines
(as at 31 March 2023: 41) and 44 employees in PRC (as at 31
March 2023: 58). The remuneration package of the Group for
its employees includes salary, bonuses, other cash subsidies and
allowances. In general, employee salaries are determined based on
each employee’s qualifications, experience and capability and the
market remuneration rate. The Group has an annual review system
to assess the performance of our employees, which forms the
basis with respect to salary adjustments, bonuses and promotions.
Some in-house site staff are employed as daily workers and their
remuneration package includes salary and overtime allowances.
The employee remuneration expense and Directors’ emoluments
(including salaries, other benefits and retirement benefit costs)
amounted to approximately HK$176.5 million (2023 Corresponding
Year: HK$178.1 million) for the 2024 Financial Year.

In addition, to provide incentive or reward to eligible persons for
their contribution to, and continuing efforts to promote the interests
of the Group, the Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme
and a Share Award Plan on 25 November 2015 and 17 April 2024,
respectively. The objectives of these two schemes are to recognise
and reward the contribution of eligible participants to the growth
and development of the Group and to give incentives to eligible
participants in order to retain them for the continual operation and
development of the Group, and to attract suitable personnel for
further development of the Group.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends has been paid by the Group during the 2024
Financial Year (2023 Corresponding Year: Nil).

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend to
the Shareholders of the Company for the 2024 Financial Year (2023
Corresponding Year: Nil).
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Board and senior management of the Company is committed to
achieve a high standard of corporate governance, to formulate good
corporate governance practice for improvement of accountability
and transparency in operations, and to strengthen the internal
control and risk management systems from time to time so as
to ensure to protect the rights of the shareholders and enhance
shareholder value.

The Company has adopted the code provisions set out in the CG
code under Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules. The Company has
complied with the code provision of the CG Code during the 2024
Financial Year.

CULTURES AND VALUES

The Company is committed to developing a positive and progressive
culture with the following core principles and to ensure that the
Company’s vision, values and business strategies are aligned to it.

1. Integrity and code of conduct

The Group strives to maintain high standards of business
ethics and corporate governance across all our activities and
operations. The Directors, management and staff are all
required to act lawfully, ethically and responsibly, and the
required standards and norms are explicitly set out in the
training materials for all new staff and embedded in various
policies such as the Group’s Employee Handbook (including
therein the Group’s code of conduct), the Anti-corruption
Policy and the Whistleblowing Policy of the Group. Trainings
are conducted from time to time to reinforce the required
standards in respect of ethics and integrity.

2. Commitment

The Group believes that the culture of commitment to
workforce development, workplace safety and health,
diversity, and sustainability is one where people have a feeling
of commitment and emotional engagement with the Group’s
mission. This sets the tone for a strong, productive workforce
that attracts, develops, and retains the best talent and
produces the highest quality work. Moreover, the Company’s
strategy in the business development and management are
to achieve long-term, steady and sustainable growth, while
having due considerations from environment, social and
governance aspects.
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DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
C3 of the Listing Rules. The Company has made specific enquiries
with all the Directors and all the Directors have confirmed that they
have complied with the standards required by the Model Code
during the 2024 Financial Year (the “CG Reporting Period”).

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Overall Accountability

The Board is accountable to the Shareholders and in discharging its
corporate accountability. The Directors, individually and collectively,
must act in good faith in the best interests of the Company and the
Shareholders and fulfill their fiduciary duties by applying the required
level of skills, care and diligence to a standard in accordance with
the statutory requirements.

Board Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating Group policies and business
directions, and monitoring internal controls and performances. The
management has been delegated the authority and responsibility by
the Board for the operations of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the Board committees,
namely, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and
the Nomination Committee.

Composition of the Board

As at 31 March 2024, the Board comprises eight members who
include four Executive Directors, one Non-executive Director and
three Independent Non-executive Directors.

The current Board members are:
Name Present position

Chairman of the Board

Vice Chairman

Chief Executive Officer

Executive Director

Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director
Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel

Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

The composition of the Board has a balance and diverse skill,
experience and professional knowledge in construction business, as
well as finance, accounting and legal expertise appropriate for the
requirements of the business of the Group.
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The biographies details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Profiles of Directors and Senior Management” in this
annual report. Save as those disclosed in this annual report, there is
no family relationship among the Directors.

As permitted under the Articles, the Company has arranged
Directors and Officers Liability Insurance in respect of any legal
actions which may be taken against Directors and management in
execution and discharge of their duties or in relation thereto.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Board at all times met the
requirement of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the Listing
Rules relating to the appointment of at least three Independent
Non-executive Directors representing one-third of the Board and
with at least one Independent Non-executive Director possessing
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board is headed by the Chairman Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin, with
the assistance of the Vice-chairman, Mr. Chui Mo Ming. The roles of
the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Yan Chi Tat, are
segregated and not exercised by the same individual.

The Chairman is responsible for the leadership and effective running
of the Board and ensuring that all material issues are discussed by
the Board in a timely and constructive manner. The Chief Executive
Officer is responsible for the management of the Group’s business
and the implementation of the approved strategies of the Group. In
addition, each Executive Director is responsible for the management
of the different functions of the business of the Group.

With the support of the Company Secretary, the Chairman ensures
that all the Directors are properly briefed on issues arising from
Board meetings and be provided with adequate information in a
timely manner.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Board at all times met the
requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three Independent Non-executive Directors representing
one-third of the Board. These Independent Non-executive Directors
are individuals from diversified backgrounds and industries and
one member has appropriate accounting and related financial
management expertise.
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The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in
the Board as they bring an impartial view on the Group’s strategies,
performance and control, as well as ensure that the interests of
all shareholders are considered. All Independent Non-executive
Directors possess appropriate academic, professional qualifications or
related financial management experience. None of the Independent
Non-executive Directors held any other offices in the Company or
any of its subsidiaries or is interested in any shares of the Company.

In order to ensure that independent views and input of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are made available to the
Board, the Nomination Committee and the Board are committed
to assess the Directors’ independence annually with regards to all
relevant factors related to the Independent Non-executive Directors
including the following:

o required character, integrity, expertise, experience and stability
to fulfill their roles;

° time commitment and attention to the Company'’s affairs;

o firm commitment to their independent roles and to the Board;

o declaration of conflict of interest in their roles as Independent
Non-executive Directors;

o no involvement in the daily management of the Company nor
in any relationship or circumstances which would affect the
exercise of their independent judgement; and

o the Chairman meets with the Independent Non-executive
Directors regularly without the presence of the Executive
Directors.

The Board has conducted an annual review on these mechanisms
and considered they are in place and are effective.

The Company has received from each Independent Non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his independence, and the
Company considers such Directors to be independent in accordance
with the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
or letter of appointment with the Company with a fixed term,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with the Articles
of the Company.

According to code provision B.2.2 of the CG Code, every director,
including those appointed for a specific term, should be subject to
re-election. Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent
Non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement or
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of three years,
subject to retirement and re-election in accordance with Articles of
the Company.

Each of the Non-executive Director and Independent Non-executive
Directors may terminate his/her appointment by giving a
three-month/one-month prior written notice to the Company
or in accordance with the terms set out in the respective service
agreement or letter of appointment.

The Articles of the Company provides that any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy in the Board shall hold office until
the first general meeting of the Company after his/her appointment
and be subject to re-election at such meeting, and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall
hold office only until the next following annual general meeting of
the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee for overseeing specific
aspects of the Company’s affair under its defined scope of duties
and term of reference. The terms of reference of each of the Board
Committees are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Details of each committee are discussed below.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Audit Committee is available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee are, among other things, to review and supervise the
financial reporting process and internal control and risk management
systems of the Group.
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As at 31 March 2024, the Audit Committee consists of three
members who are the Independent Non-executive Directors, namely
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu, Mr. YU Hon Kwan and Mr. WONG Chi Keung
Johnny. The Chairman of the Audit Committee is Mr. LEE Luk Shiu.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Audit Committee had held two
meetings and performed following work:

o Reviewed the Group’s audited financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2023 in conjunction with the Auditor and the
unaudited consolidated financial statements for the six months
ended 30 September 2023;

o Reviewed the auditing and financial reporting matters,
including the key audit matters of the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 which
are set out in the annual report of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023;

o Reviewed the changes in accounting standards and assessed
their potential impacts on the Group’s financial statements;

. Reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit function
performed by independent professional adviser;

o Reviewed the risk assessment and internal control report and
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control
system;

o Reviewed the continuing connected transactions conducted by
the Group; and

o Considered and made recommendations on the
re-appointment of the Auditor of the Group, and the terms of
engagement.

The members of the Audit Committee have a private meeting with
the Auditors, without the presence of the management, to discuss
matters in relation to the audit of the Group.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Remuneration Committee pursuant
to a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015
with written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code.
A revised terms of reference has been adopted on 30 December
2022 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised
terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee is available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are, among other things,
to review and to determine the terms of remuneration packages,
bonuses and other compensation payable to the Directors and
senior management, including any compensation payable for loss
or termination of their office or appointment and to review and/or
approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter 17 of the
Listing Rules.

As at 31 March 2024, the Remuneration Committee consists of
four members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee has
held two meetings. The major work performed by the Remuneration
Committee included reviewing the remuneration of the Directors
and senior management with reference to the remuneration level
of comparable companies, and responsibilities, performance and
contributions of Directors and senior management. No Director is
allowed to take part in any discussion about his own remuneration.

Details of the remuneration paid to Directors and the five highest
paid employees are set out in notes 10 and 11 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Details of remuneration of the members of senior management by
band for the 2024 Financial Year are set out below:

FMEES
RAFBREN2015F11 A25BRBNE
EREFERVUFNEZES  WEHFAE
TEERTAMNESMBREE - 1K2022F
12 H30H B RN ISR I & E A A |
MHRAKER] - HINE B 2 LIS FT 2
HEBAAINAR R RBZFTEIEER -
FMZEENEIERER (HPEE &
MLETENESERSRERENTIE
B A REAM RN BB R
RIFBBRZANREMEERERR X
A BRI FE17E Tl A ARSI
£H o

MR2024F3831H - FFMZEESHWMAK
BN DRlAREWMEE EREL
ETEBEERTREIGE - REHL
EARTHEESERF -

REXEBERRESHE FMEZESC 817
MAEH - FTMERSETNIETIEE
BRIEENSREEENHH  HhE
2ZRURANTFHKTIAREERSR
EEENEE REAMBEH -MEEFE
BES BN ARG FH 2 AR o

XN TEERARRRHMEBNH M
BENER A M IE MR EI0R11 -

P204F TR FE - mREEEKEMNF
ENEEI R INE

Number of

Senior Management

Remuneration band % i 48 7 EREEEAY
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000 7B #500,0007T 2 /5 1,000,000 2

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000

7B #1,000,0017T £ /5 #1,500,0007T

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & ZRARAR  IIIIEEEE—



Corporate Governance Report
EEERHRSE

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 25 November 2015 with
written terms of reference in compliance with the CG Code. A
revised term of reference has been adopted on 30 December 2022
to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The revised terms of
reference of the Nomination Committee is available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The primary function of
the Nomination Committee is to make recommendations to the
Board on the appointment or re-appointment of Directors and the
management of the Board succession. It also oversees the diversity
policy of the Group.

As at 31 March 2024, the Nomination Committee consists of four
members, namely Mr. YU Hon Kwan, Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin,
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu. The Chairman
of the Nomination Committee is Mr. YU Hon Kwan.

During the CG Reporting Period, the Nomination Committee has
held two meetings. The major work performed by the Nomination
Committee included assessing the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, reviewing the rotation of the Directors for
the re-election at the AGM and reviewing the composition, the size
and the diversity of the Board in accordance with the Board Diversity
Policy adopted by the Company.

Pursuant to the CG Code, a separate ordinary resolution will be
proposed at the 2024 AGM for Shareholders to consider and
approve the re-election of the retiring Directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Board adopted a board diversity
policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”). The Company recognised
and embraces the benefits of diversity of Board members. While
all Board appointments will continue to the made on a merit basis,
the Company will ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the needs of
the Company’s business. Selection of candidates will be based on
the Company’s Board Nomination Policy and a range of diversity
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, experience (professional or otherwise),
ethnicity, skills and knowledge and length of service.
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In terms of the overall capability and professionalism, the Board
achieved a balance among operational judgment and management
capabilities, accounting and financial analytical capabilities, crisis
management capabilities, industry knowledge, leadership, and
decision-making capabilities. As of the date of this annual report,
the Board has one female Director out of eight Directors. The Board
will maintain at the least the current level of female representation
on the Board, and in any event not less than the requirements
under the Listing Rules. The Board is committed to further enhance
gender diversity as and when suitable candidates are identified.
The Board would ensure that an appropriate balance of gender
diversity is achieved with reference to stakeholders’ expectation
and international and local recommended best practices. Similar
considerations shall also be applied for selecting potential candidate
of the senior management team from time to time.

As of 31 March 2024, 8.5% of our colleagues are female. The Board
considers that the gender ratio of the workforce of the Group,
including the Senior Management, is appropriate for the operations
of the Group and will strive to maintain this ratio.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprises eight
Directors. The following tables further illustrate the diversity of the
Board members as of the date of this annual report:
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50-59 60 and above
Name of Directors EEgR 50 -595% 605% & LA £
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERELE Vv
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming HRBALE vV
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEESRE v
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick P A v
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRFEXT Vv
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FIkkaE v
Mr. YU Hon Kwan SOE kA v
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FERAEL v
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TEERRE
Professional Experience
CE 04
Business
Engineering management
and Accounting and
construction Law and Finance development
Name of Directors BEpg IRRES pixed B REH EBEERER
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERELE |
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRALE |
Mr. YAN Chi Tat gEERE /
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RlER A v
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRERL |
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu Tk |
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REMEE V
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny ok ke |

The Board and the Nomination Committee have reviewed the
Board Diversity Policy and considered it to be effective for the 2024
Financial Year.

BOARD NOMINATION POLICY

The Company has adopted a Board Nomination Policy for the
Nomination Committee to consider and make recommendations to
Shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint
as Directors to fill casual vacancies.

Selection Criteria

The factors listed below would be used as reference by the
Nomination Committee in assessing the suitability of a proposed
candidate:

1. reputation for integrity;

2. accomplishment and experience in the business in which the
Group is engaged in;

3. commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest;

4. diversity in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age (18 years or above), cultural and educational background,
professional experience, talents, skills, knowledge, length of
service experience and other qualities;

5. qualifications which include professional qualifications, skills,
knowledge and experience that are relevant to the Company’s
business and corporate strategy;
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6.  the number of existing directorships and other commitments
that may demand the attention of the candidate;

7. requirement for the Board to have Independent Non-executive
Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and whether the
candidates would be considered independent with reference
to the independence guidelines set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and
3.13 of the Listing Rules;

8. Board Diversity Policy of the Company and any measurable
objectives adopted by the Nomination Committee for
achieving diversity on the Board; and

9.  such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s
business.

Director Nomination Procedure

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of the Company and the
Listing Rules, if the Board recognises the need for an additional
Director or a member of senior management, the following
procedure will be followed:

1. The Nomination Committee and/or Board will identify potential
candidates based on the criteria as set out in the selection
criteria, possibly with assistance from external agencies and/or
advisors;

2. The Nomination Committee and/or the Company Secretary of
the Company will then provide the Board with the biographical
details and details of the relationship between the candidate
and the Company and/or Directors, directorships held, skills
and experience, other positions which involve significant time
commitment and any other particulars required by the Listing
Rules, the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands and other
regulatory requirements for any candidate for appointment to
the Board;

3. The Nomination Committee would then make
recommendation to the Board on the proposed candidate(s)
and the terms and conditions of the appointment;

4. The Nomination Committee should ensure that the proposed
candidate(s) will enhance the diversity of the Board;
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5. In the case of the appointment of an Independent
Non-executive Director, the Nomination Committee and/
or the Board should obtain all information in relation to the
proposed Director to allow the Board to adequately assess the
independence of the Director in accordance with the factors
set out in Rules 3.08, 3.09 and 3.13 of the Listing Rules,
subject to any amendments as may be made by the Stock
Exchange from time to time; and

6.  The Board will then deliberate and decide on the appointment
based upon the recommendation of the Nomination
Committee.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Company generally convenes four regular Board meetings per
year or more meetings when necessary. During the CG Reporting
Period, 8 Board meetings were held, inter alia, to consider and
approve the matters recommended by the Board Committees,
including the interim report and annual report, the continuing
connected transactions, adoption of a share award plan, to review
and discuss the financial operation of the Group and appointment
of an Executive Director. The table below sets out the attendance of
each Director at the AGM and the meetings of the Board and other
Board committees held during the 2024 Financial Year:

»>

5. WMZEE—ZBBUIERTES  RAB
ZEek/LESCHEEBEES
EEHEHMNBAR FESEg
B £ R B 553.085 - 3.0915F &
33EATENE = (B R AT ek & 1
HEMHEET) HEE B EED#
B &

6. EFeERSENRLZESNHE
BEREEERMREEBERE -

EEEEE
ARB-—REFAHANAERE=TSSH
INEFERIEMERAE - REEER
WEME BTBREFEGEH U (ESP
B ZERLEESTEREEMERED
EE BRERTPHRENRFR HERER
5 MR BT RBES BT
RwmARENPBEEFRRTENTE
= TREJESUEFHFER20245F 8K
FERTHERBFAGRESTS NEM
ExeZB8geanNER:
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BRREFEAE e ERZEE HMEEE REEEE
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin EREAE /1 8/8 NAT B WYk Wy
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming BRRBEE 1l 858 NATER NATER NATER
Mr. YAN Chi Tat FELE 1/1 8/8 NAT B NAT B NAT B
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick 23 % 4 N 818 NATE R NATER NATEH
Non-executive Director FHTES
Mr. WANG Jian TELE NATE A NATE A NATEA NATE A NATE B
(resigned on 31 May 2023) (202355431 HEHE)
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel FRERT (R2023F5A318 N 6/ NATEE NATE R NATE A
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Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRkEE 11 8/8 Wy 2 Wy
Mr. YU Hon Kwan REHEE 11 8/8 Wy 2 Wy
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny TERck 101 8/8 M 22 Wy
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Formal notices of Board meeting have been given to all Directors
at least 14 days before the meeting, or reasonable time period as
allowed by the Directors. Notices and agenda of the Board meeting
are prepared by the Company Secretary as delegated by the
Chairman. All Directors are given opportunity to include any matters
which they believe to be appropriate in the agenda of the Board
meetings.

Agenda and relevant information of Board meeting with adequate
background information and supporting analysis are made available
to the Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of the
Board meeting. All Directors are given separate and independent
access to the Company’s senior management for further information
and enquiries. The Company Secretary and senior management
will attend all the meetings of the Board and Board Committees to
advise on corporate governance, statutory compliance and financial
matters.

Any material matters that would have conflict of interest between
the Directors/substantial shareholders and the Company will be dealt
with in the Board meeting. Pursuant to the Articles, a Director is not
entitled to vote on (nor is counted in the quorum) any resolution of
the Board in respect of any contract or arrangement or any other
proposal whatsoever in which he or any of his associates (including
any person who would be deemed to be an “associate” of the
Directors under the Listing Rules) has any material interest, except in
certain special circumstances. The Chairman of the Board meeting is
required to ensure that each Director is aware of such requirement
at the commencement of each Board meeting and declaration of
interest is properly made in the Board meeting where conflicts of
interest arise.

Directors have access to advices and services of the Company
Secretary and key officers of the Company in relation to the Board
procedures. Draft minutes of the Board/Board Committee meetings
are recorded in sufficient details. The matters considered by
participants of such meetings and decisions reached are forwarded
to participants for comments within a reasonable time after the
meetings and final versions of minutes of Board meetings and
meetings of Board Committee are kept by the Company Secretary,
which are open for inspection by any Directors at any reasonable
time on reasonable notice.

Board members are provided with complete, adequate and timely
information to allow the Directors to fulfill their duties properly.
Directors may seek independent professional advice at the
Company'’s expense, if necessary, with the approval of the Board.
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During the CG Reporting Period, the Chairman has held a private
meeting with the Independent Non-executive Directors without the
presence of other Executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING AND PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

All Directors are encouraged to keep abreast of their responsibilities
as a Director and of the conduct, business activities and development
of the Company. The Company from time to time updates the
Directors on the latest regulatory and governance developments.

Directors are encouraged to participate in professional development
courses and seminars to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills relating to the roles, functions and duties of a Director
of a listed company. Directors are regularly updated on the latest
development on the Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory
requirements to ensure their contributions to the Board remains
informed and relevant.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Directors participated in
the following trainings:
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Types of training

EHlER
Executive Directors HTES
Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin ERA A A, B
Mr. CHUI Mo Ming R A A, B
Mr. YAN Chi Tat BEESE A B
Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick RIS A A, B
Non-executive Director #iﬁlﬁi?
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel EBEFL A, B
Independent Non-executive Directors BAFHITES
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu FRIEE A B
Mr. YU Hong Kwan FOE IR A A B
Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny FEBESE A B
A:  attending in-house training sessions. Ar ZEARIREEIIRE -
B: reading newspapers, journals and updates distributed by the Group relating B: Iiﬁ%?a’fl"%@?‘ﬁﬂ’]ﬁ?ﬁi%lﬁ CEEREER

to the economy, general business and regulatory matters.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDITING

The Board acknowledges its responsibility in preparing the Group's
consolidated financial statements for each financial year which give
a true and fair view of the Group’s state of affairs, results and cash
flows and in accordance with the relevant accounting standards and
principles and the disclosure requirements under applicable laws and
regulations in Hong Kong.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31 March 2024, the generally accepted accounting principles
in Hong Kong, Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and Hong
Kong Accounting Standards are adopted, with consistent use of
appropriate accounting policies, for making reasonable and prudent
judgments and estimates. The consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2024 have been prepared on a going
concern basis. The reporting responsibilities of the Auditors are set
out in the Independent Auditors’ Report in this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy, pursuant to which
the Board has the discretion to declare and distribute dividends to
the shareholders of the Company, subject to the Memorandum and
Articles of the Company and the applicable laws and regulations of
Hong Kong and the Cayman Islands, any other laws and regulations
applicable to the Company and the factors set out in the Dividend
Policy.

The Board shall also take into account the actual and expected
operation and financial performance of the Group; the retained
earnings and distributable reserves of the Company; the expected
working capital requirement and economic outlook for business
strategy and future expansion plan of the Group; the financial
and liquidity position of the Group; the financial covenants and
restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by the
lenders of the Group; the statutory and regulatory restrictions
and taxation implications; the general economic conditions and
other internal and external factors that may have an impact on
the business of the Group; and other factors that the Board may
consider relevant when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends.

The Board will continue to review the Dividend Policy and reserves
the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend and/or
modify the Dividend Policy at any time, and the Dividend Policy shall
in no way constitute a legally binding commitment by the Company
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount and/or in no
way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at any time or from
time to time.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT
SYSTEMS

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective
internal control and risk management systems and for reviewing
their effectiveness, particularly in respect of controls on financial,
operational, compliance and risk management, to safeguard
shareholders’ investment and the Group's assets.

The internal control and risk management systems are designed to
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance. The systems aim
to eliminate, or otherwise manage, risks of failure in achieving the
Company’s objectives.

The Company does not establish an internal audit function. The
Group has engaged an external internal control consultant to
review various aspects of the internal control and risk management
systems of the Group. The Board, through the Audit Committee,
has reviewed the result of the work of the external internal control
consultant in relation to the effectiveness of the internal control and
risk management systems of the Group, including the adequacy of
resources, qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function. The Audit Committee
oversees the internal control and risk management systems of the
Group and reports any material issues to the Board.

Based on the result of the reviews as mentioned above, the Board
considered that proper internal control and risk management
systems are in place and implemented effectively.

The Group has implemented the management and quality assurance
standards in accordance with the standards of International
Organisation for Standardisation in respect of ISO 9001 (quality
management systems), ISO 14001 (environmental management
system) and ISO 50001 (energy management system). In addition,
the Group has implemented the occupational health and safety
management system in accordance with the requirements of I1SO
45001 (Occupational Health and Safety) and OHSAS 18001 of
Occupational Health and Safety Assessment Specification. The
Group has met the requirements of the annual review conducted by
the external consultants.

The Group has engaged Registered Safety Auditors to conduct
independent safety and health audit in relation to the effectiveness,
efficiency and reliability of safety and health management systems
in accordance with the requirements under the Code of Practice on
Safety Management for various construction sites during the CG
Reporting Period. Improvements had been implemented according
to the recommendations of the Registered Safety Auditors.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

In order to avoid any future competition between the Group and
the Controlling Shareholders, each of the Controlling Shareholders
has executed a deed of non-competition dated 25 November 2015
(the "Deed of Non-Competition”) in favour of the Company.
Pursuant to the terms of the Deed of Non-Competition, each of
the Controlling Shareholders has undertaken, among others, in
favour of the Company that he/it will not and will procure his/its
close associates not to engage in any business which may be in
competition with the business carried on by the Group from time to
time. The Independent Non-executive Directors have also reviewed
the status of compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders
with the Deed of Non-Competition and as far as the Independent
Non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of
the Deed of Non-Competition.

AUDITORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration paid or payable to SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
and its affiliated company in respect of the audit services and
non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2024 are as follows:
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey, the Company Secretary of the
Company, is the primary contact person of the Board for all
matters relating to corporate governance and board procedures.
All Directors have access to the Company Secretary to ensure that
Board procedures and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed. During the CG Reporting Period, he had taken relevant
professional trainings as required under Rule 3.29 of the Listing
Rules. The details of the biographical of the Company Secretary are
set out on page 43 of this annual report.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.6 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted a whistleblowing policy (the “Whistleblowing
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which provides formal channels and
guidance to facilitate the raising of matters of concern by employees
of the Group (the “Employee”) and those who deal with the
Group (e.g. customers, suppliers, creditors and debtors) (the “Third
Parties”, each a “Whistleblower”), in confidence, without
fear of reprisals. Procedures have been formulated to enable the
Whistleblower to report to the Group directly (addressed to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Group) suspected improprieties.

ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with code provision D.2.7 in Part 2 of the CG Code,
the Board adopted an anti-corruption policy (the “Anti-corruption
Policy”) on 30 March 2022 which sets out the guidelines and
responsibilities of the Employees, the Third Parties and those acting
in an agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group. The Group
Is committed to maintaining a high standard of integrity, openness
and discipline in its business operations. The Anti-corruption Policy
forms an integral part of the framework, including the CG Code
and Whistleblowing Policy, outline the Group’s expectations and
requirement of business ethics, as well as the investigation and
reporting mechanism of suspected corruption practices.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with
Shareholders is essential for enhancing investor relations and
investors’ understanding of the Group’s business performance
and strategies. The Group also recognises the importance of
transparency and timely disclosure of corporate information, which
enables Shareholders and investors to make appropriate investment
decisions.

All the members of the Board and Board committees and the
Auditor have attended the 2023 AGM to answer Shareholders’
questions. Circular and notice of the 2023 AGM have been
distributed to all Shareholders before the 2023 AGM in accordance
with the timeline requirement as laid down in the Listing Rules and
the Articles. All the resolutions proposed to be approved at the 2023
AGM have been taken by poll and poll voting results have been
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company
after the 2023 AGM.

»>

SR ER
BRAETATAIE XD TAUKEXSE
D.2.6{5  EE & 1202293 A30H £ 47 5
WK ([BEEEK]) EFEFIHALERE
ERIES LREAEEES ((BED X
HMAEBBEBERZALT(MEFS - #
R BERAREBA) ((E=H] &8
BIERADEREZNBELTIREBES
H - MEBASRERFRE ALEEHITE
BF SERATEEALRER (EXT
REBERNITHAE) BREMBUTET
,t'_., °

RESBE
BROETATUNE D TAUKEXE
D.2.71% » E E & /20223 A30H 2 H 4
REFSHR(RESEE])  EF5HE
B FZARURESZAATHRERE
EETENMATVAEEBTNESIREME-
REEREFEERPROERREHRE -
PHAMLCREZEE - RESHEBKIESR
MEREIDG (BIECEEA TR RERK
) B ASEBEHHEEENHERR
T UERERUESITANHEAE &R
o

ERRRREENEE

ARBEE - BERREVEBEINFRE
ERRARREBEEHAREEBRALK
e THRMS ZEMER - AREINRAR
FAYE R B B B R AEBRR MIREE
FHEERERENERMN -

MEEEERNETELZBENRE N LK
ZEDE HF2023F R BFRERERR
EVEEMAE B N 2023FRBFAGEE
BB EMRAEERADRREDER -
R2023FBRBFASEITRNIKE T2
IR o 2 BN 2023 F IR BFEARE LB
2EMORBESUARESTXNETRR
BREHERCDR2023FRRBFRNS R AR
R RAR B TE

I Annual Report 2023/24 F#

35



36

‘rv

Corporate Governance Report
EEERHRSE

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group
maintains a website where information on the Company’s
announcements, financial information and other information
are posted. Shareholders and investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong with any
enquiries.

A revised Shareholders Communication Policy has been adopted on
28 March 2024 to incorporate amendments to the Listing Rules. The
revised Policy is currently made available on the Company’s website.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

1)

2)

Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting ("EGM")

Pursuant to the Articles 64 of the Articles of the Company,
an extraordinary general meeting can be convened on the
requisition of one or more Shareholders holding, at the date
of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth (10%) of
the voting rights (on a one vote per share basis) in the capital
of the Company. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Board or the Company Secretary of the Company for the
purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board and adding resolutions to the agenda of
the meeting for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within 2 months
after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such
deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting,
the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the
same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Procedures for putting forward proposals at
Shareholders’ meeting

There are no provisions in the Articles of the Company or
the Companies Act of the Cayman Islands for Shareholders
to move new resolutions at general meetings. Shareholders
who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to
convene a general meeting in accordance with the procedures
set out in the preceding paragraph.
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3)

Shareholders’ enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns together
with their names and contact information to the Board by
addressing them to the head office in Hong Kong at Units
1104-1106, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong by post or email to
info@yee-hop.com.hk for the attention of the Chairman of the
Board. The Board will reply the enquiries and concerns as soon
as possible.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholders must deposit and
send the original duly signed written requisition, notice and
statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to the above
address and provide their full name, contact details and
identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’
information may be disclosed as required by law.

The Board has carried out an annual review on the above policy
regarding shareholders' communication, and considered that such
policy has been properly implemented during the 2024 Financial

Year.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change to the memorandum and articles of association
of the Company.

A copy of the Company’s updated memorandum and articles of
association is available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Jim Yin Kwan Jackin (&##¥), aged 62, an Executive Director
and the Chairman of the Board, a member of both the Nomination
Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the Company.
Mr. Jim is one of the founders of the Group. He is also a director of
various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Jim has over 30 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Jim is responsible for formulating
corporate strategies and planning the business development of
the Group. Mr. Jim graduated from the University of Reading with
a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying and holds a
Master’s Degree of Business Administration in Management from
the Brighton University.

Mr. Chui Mo Ming (#REH), aged 71, an Executive Director and
the Vice-chairman of the Board. Mr. Chui is one of the founders of
the Group. He is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Chui has over 45 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Chui is responsible for the formulating the
corporate strategies of the Group. Mr. Chui has been a construction
supervisor member of the Hong Kong Institute of Construction
Managers since August 2003.

Mr. Yan Chi Tat (alias: Andrew) (E&#Z), aged 57, an Executive
Director and the Chief Executive Officer of the Group. Mr. Yan
joined the Group in October 2010. He is also a director of Yee Hop
Engineering.

Mr. Yan has over 25 years of experience in the engineering and
construction industry. Mr. Yan is responsible for formulating
corporate and business strategies and operations of the Group.
Mr. Yan graduated from the South Bank University with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is an associate of The
Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and a professional associate of
The Royal Institute of Chartered Surveyors. He has been a Registered
Professional Surveyor since July 2004.
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Mr. Leung Hung Kwong Derrick (R#3#), aged 55, an Executive
Director. Mr. Leung joined the Group in August 2008. He is also a
director of Yee Hop Engineering.

Mr. Leung has been the Technical Director of Yee Hop Engineering
for its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
and Registered Specialist Contractor in the foundation works
category with the Buildings Department since 2008 and 2011
respectively. He has over 25 years of experience in the engineering
and construction industry. Mr. Leung is responsible for formulating
the corporate business strategies. Mr. Leung graduated from the
National Taiwan University with a Bachelor's Degree of Science in
Engineering. He holds a Master’s Degree of Philosophy in Civil &
Structural Engineering from the Hong Kong University of Science
& Technology. He is currently a Registered Professional Engineer
(Geotechnical, Structural). He is a member of the Institution of
Structural Engineers and the Hong Kong Institution of Engineers.

Mr. Derrick Leung is an Independent Non-executive Director of Chi
Ho Development Holdings Ltd (Stock Code: 8423), the shares of
which are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. The principal
business of Chi Ho Development Holdings Ltd is the provision of
renovation, maintenance and fitting-out works.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
Ms. Lee Sze Wing Mabel (ZF258), aged 54, Non-Executive
Director. Ms. Lee joined the Group in 2023 and was appointed as a
Non-Executive Director on 31 May 2023.

Ms. Lee has more than 15 years of experience in various fields of
business management and development, such as administration,
human resources and sales and marketing. Ms. Lee has been the
sales and marketing manager of Fullrich Financial Services (Asia)
Limited (E &7 (ZM) BFRAR]) since 2014,
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Luk Shiu (alias: Vincent) (Z=3%JK), aged 66, an
Independent Non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee and the
Remuneration Committee of the Company.

Mr. Lee has about 30 years of experience in commercial accounting
and corporate finance. Mr. Lee is currently a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and was a fellow
member of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants
for about 22 years. He graduated from the Hong Kong Shue Yan
College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan University) with a
Diploma in Business Administration. Mr. Lee has worked in the
Stock Exchange for around 15 years where his duties included
regulating and monitoring Hong Kong listed companies in relation
to their compliance with the Listing Rules and processing new
listing applications. His last position with the Stock Exchange was
an Assistant Vice President of the Listing Division. Mr. Lee was
also a senior consultant of an investment bank for 5 years. He is
an Independent Non-executive Director of Huabao International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 336) and Hin Sang Group
(International) Holding Co. Ltd (stock code: 6893), the shares of
which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.
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Mr. Yu Hon Kwan (alias: Randy) (R#3#), aged 61, an
Independent Non-executive Director, Chairman of both the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee and a
member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yu has over 30 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Yu graduated from the University of Reading with a Bachelor’s
Degree of Science in Quantity Surveying. He is a Member of the
Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors. Mr. Yu is the General
Manager (Community Relations) of Henderson Land Development
Company Limited. Mr. Yu was a lecturer (non- clinical) in the
Department of Real Estate and Construction of the University of
Hong Kong.

Mr. Yu is a Justice of the Peace of Hong Kong and also a New
Territories Justices of the Peace. He has dedicated a significant
proportion of his time in community service. Mr. Yu is currently a
member of the Islands District Council, a member of the Agriculture,
Fisheries and Conservation Department’s Country and Marine Parks
Board, a member of Community Investment & Inclusion Fund and
a member of the Independent Police Complaints Council of the
Hong Kong SAR. He was awarded a Medal of Honour in July 2015
in recognition of his long and dedicated public and community
services.

Mr. Yu is a Board Director of the Business Environment Council since
April 2016 (formerly also a Director of the same Board from June
2011 to February 2015). He also serves as a Director of the Hong
Kong Green Building Council.

Mr. Wong Chi Keung Johnny (E&3&), aged 65, an Independent
Non-executive Director, a member of the Audit Committee, the
Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Wong graduated from the University of London with a
Bachelor's Degree of Laws with Honours and holds a Master’s
Degree of Laws from the University of London. He is a solicitor of
the High Court of Hong Kong, a solicitor of the Supreme Court
of England & Wales and a barrister and solicitor of the Supreme
Court of the Australia Capital Territory, Australia. He is currently a
partner of Messrs. Lo, Wong & Tsui, Solicitors, handling general and
commercial litigations, conveyancing works, land acquisition and
land exchange, real estate development and financing.
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Mr. Wong has served as a member of the Provisional Regional
Council from 1997 to 1999, a member of the Tai Po District Council
from 1999 to 2003, a member of the Liquor Licensing Board
from January 2000 to January 2004, and a member of the Appeal
Tribunal Panel under the Buildings Ordinance from December 2000
to December 2004. He obtained the HKSAR Medal of Honour in
October 2002. Mr. Wong was also an appointed member of the
Yuen Long District Council from January 2008 to December 2011.
He was an Independent Non- executive Director of SkyOcean
International Holdings Limited (formerly known as Allied Overseas
Limited), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 593)
for the period from June 1993 to August 1997.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Dr. Chung Wai Keung David (#{&38), aged 58, chairman of
Absolute Pure EnviroSci Limited, an indirectly owned subsidiary of
the Group which principally engages in the business of distribution,
research and development of specialty biochemical and biomedical
products. Dr. Chung joined the Group in July 2023.

Dr. Chung is also the founder and chief impact officer of ImpactD
Limited, and an adjunct professor in the Department of Computer
Science and Academy of Innovation at the City University of Hong
Kong. He previously served as the Under Secretary for Innovation
and Technology Bureau of the HKSAR for two terms.

Dr David Chung is a seasoned technologist, entrepreneur, and
policymaker with over 30 years of experience. He is a strong
advocate for impact investment and has held senior management
positions in leading multinational, Hong Kong, and mainland
enterprises such as Cyberport, Microsoft, and Jardine Pacific. He
has also led the expansion of several technology startups into
international markets. In recognition of his contributions to the field,
he was awarded the Iconic Star - IFTA FinTech and Innovation Award
2021/22 and was named Top CIO of Greater China by CEOQ/CIO
magazine in 2013.

Dr Chung is actively involved in various high-level advisory
committees in the academic, professional, and community arenas.
He has served as a member of the Consumer Council and Expert
Group on Cloud Computing Services and Standards.

Dr Chung holds a Doctorate Degree in Engineering Management
from the City University of Hong Kong, an MBA from the
Metropolitan University of Hong Kong, a Postgraduate Diploma in
Business Management from the Chinese University of Hong Kong,
and a Bachelor of Science (Engineering) in Computer Science from
the Imperial College London.
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Mr. Chan King Yip (alias: Kelvin) (BR#% %), aged 50, Project
Director of the Group. Mr. Chan joined the Group in April 2006.
Mr. Chan has over 20 years of experience in handling engineering
and construction projects. Mr. Chan is responsible for the overall
project management. Mr. Chan graduated from the University of
Hong Kong with a Bachelor’s Degree of Science.

Mr. Wai Aoting (alias: Paul) (E{##), aged 45, directors and
legal representatives of certain subsidiaries in the PRC and the chief
operating officer of the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business of the Group. Mr. Wai joined the Group in March 2021.

Mr. Wai has over 18 years of experience in real estate development
and revitalizing historic buildings. Mr. Wai graduated from the Sun
Yat-sen University (71 KX2%) with a Bachelor's Degree of Business
Administration in Marketing.

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (3£338), aged 46, Chief Financial
Officer and Company Secretary of the Company. Mr. Chong joined
the Group in November 2019.

Mr. Chong graduated from the Hong Kong University of Science and
Technology with a Bachelor’s Degree of Business Administration in
Accounting and holds a Master’s Degree of Business Administration
from the City University of Hong Kong. Mr. Chong is currently
a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Mr. Chong has over 20 years of experience in audit and finance and
is responsible for the financial management, internal control and
company secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chong is currently
also serving as the company secretary of China Partytime Culture
Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1532) since May 2015 and an Independent
Non-executive Director of Taung Gold International Limited (stock
code: 621) listed on the Stock Exchange.
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Ms. Wong Lok Man Vicko (E&#), aged 43, Environmental
and Safety Manager of the Group. Ms. Wong joined the Group in
November 2007.

Ms. Wong has over 17 years of experience in industrial safety
industry. Ms. Wong holds a Professional Diploma of Legal Executive
from the Hong Kong Institute of Vocational Education, a Diploma
in Occupational Health & Safety from the Hong Kong Metropolitan
University (formerly known as the Open University of Hong
Kong) and a Bachelor's Degree of Science in Environmental and
Occupational Safety & Health from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. She is a registered safety officer under the Factories and
Industrial Undertakings (Safety Officers and Safety Supervisors)
Regulations and a safety auditor. She is currently a chartered
building engineer of the Chartered Association of Building Engineer
and a full member of the International Institute of Risk and Safety
Management.

Ms. Wong has also obtained other relevant certificates such as
the Occupational Health and Safety Council Certificate for Safety
& Health Supervisor (Construction) in July 2002, the Certificate
of Occupational Safety and Health Trainer in February 2004, the
Occupational Health and Safety Council Combined Certificate for
Safety, Health & Environmental Supervisor (Construction) in June
2005, the Certificate of Site Audit Inspection Standards (Safety &
Roadwork Obligations) Course — Highways Department in 2010, the
Certificate of Occupational Health and Safety Council Fire Prevention
(Construction Industry) in March 2010, the Certificate of Supervision
of Tree Works Course in June 2011, the Certificate of Continuing
Professional Development for 1SO14001:2004 Environmental
Management System Introduction and Internal Auditing in October
2012, the Certificate for 1ISO45001:2016 Lead Auditor in October
2018.

Mr. Chui Heung Wing (#[1%¥), aged 65, Project Director of the
Group. Mr. Chui Heung Wing served the Group from September
1997 to August 2016 and re-joined the Group in April 2019.
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He is currently the Authorised Signatory of Yee Hop Engineering
under its registration as a Registered General Building Contractor
in the foundation works category with the Buildings Department.
He has over 40 years of experience in the construction industry.
Mr. Chui holds a Diploma in Structural Engineering and a
Higher Certificate in Structural Engineering from the Hong
Kong Polytechnic University (formerly known as the Hong Kong
Polytechnic) and a Bachelor's Degree of Civil Engineering from the
Washington InterContinental University and a Master of Science
Degree in Civil Engineering and Construction Management from
the Heriot-Watt University. He is a chartered building engineer
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers. He has also
been one of the Authorised Signatories of the Registered General
Buildings Contractors and the Registered Specialist Contractors in
the foundation works category of the Buildings Department since
May 2008 and March 2013 respectively. He is a fellow member
of the Chartered Association of Building Engineers, a member of
the Australian Institute of Building, a chartered environmentalist
of the Society for the Environment. He has also obtained the I1SO
14001:2004 Environmental Management System Internal Auditor
Training at the Hong Kong Certification Services Ltd from September
to December 2005. He has completed the Lead Assessor course of
Quality Assurance from BSI Quality Assurance in June 1993 and a
visiting lecturer of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Institute
for Enterprise in July 2003.

Mr. Wu Tai Cheung (alias: Douglas) (# K #£), aged 66, the
Senior Vice President of the Company. Mr. Wu joined the Group in
October 2014 as Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary and
re-designated as Senior Vice President in November 2019. Mr. Wu
has over 20 years of experience in accounting and corporate finance.

Mr. Wu graduated from the University of Bolton (formerly known as
the Bolton Institute of Higher Education) with a Bachelor’'s Degree
of Arts in Accountancy and holds a Master's Degree of Business
Administration from the University of Newcastle, Australia. He is a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants,
an associate of the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, a fellow of the
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants, an associate of The
Hong Kong Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The
Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries) and an associate of
The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly known as The Institute
of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators).

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chong Man Hung Jeffrey (£ 3X8), the Company Secretary
of the Company. Details of his biography are set out in the
paragraph headed “Senior management” in this section. Mr. Chong
was appointed as the Company Secretary in November 2019.
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The Board is pleased to present their report together with the
audited financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
March 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries comprise (i) provision of foundation and
other civil works and tunneling works in Hong Kong and overseas,;
and (i) premises revitalisation and enhancement in the PRC. The
principal activities of subsidiaries of the Company are set out in note
40 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND RESERVES

The results of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year are set out in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 75 in this annual report.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company
during the 2024 Financial Year are set out in consolidated statement
of changes in equity and note 39(b) to the consolidated financial
statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Details of segment information are set out in note 5 to the
consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDENDS
No interim dividends was paid by the Group during the 2024
Financial Year (2023 Corresponding Year: nil).

The Board does not recommend a payment of final dividend to the
shareholders of the Company for the 2024 Financial Year (2023
Corresponding Year: nil).

RELIEF OF TAXATION
The Company is not aware of any relief of taxation available to the
shareholders by reason of their holding of the shares.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business of the Group for the 2024 Financial
Year is set out in the section headed “Management Discussion and
Analysis” on pages 7 to 17 of this annual report.

MAJOR RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group's operation, financial conditions, business and prospectus
are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties. The following
principal risks and uncertainties are identified by the Group. In
addition, there may be other risks and uncertainties which are not
known to the Group or may not be material now but could be
turned out to be material in the future.

Business Risk

1.

The provision of foundation and other civil works and
tunnelling works are on project basis and non-recurring basis.
The future growth in revenue and financial results depend
on, among others, the success to secure new tenders and
contracts awarded.

The operations of the Group are mainly focus in Hong Kong,
which are affected by various factors, inter alia, the general
economic conditions in Hong Kong, general property market
in Hong Kong and government policies on the infrastructure
and property development and planning.

The demand of tunnelling services in Hong Kong is dominated
by a relatively small number of customers, mainly Hong
Kong SAR Government, public utilities companies and MTR
Corporation Limited. Though the Group has established long
and stable business relationships with the two electricity
supplies in Hong Kong, it is uncertain that our existing
customers will continue to provide us new contracts and the
Group will be able to secure contracts from new customers.

The financial performance of each project is subject to the risk
of underestimation of the project cost and the complexity as
well as the length of the projects.

The Group is required to obtain or maintain certain registration
and/or certificates under the laws in jurisdictions in which it
operates in order to carry on the business. It is uncertain that
all the required registrations, certificates or licences can be
maintained or renewed in a timely manner. Any changes to
the existing policies by the government authorities may have
significant impact on the ability of the Group to carry on the
existing business.
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The tenders which were awarded to the Group is based on
the estimated project costs (which include mainly wages and
construction material cost). The financial results of the Group
is subject to the risk of price fluctuation of material price and
the availability of the quality of construction materials will
always meet the required standards.

The construction business by nature is subject to the claims
and disputes with customers, subcontractors, workers in
relation to the substandard of works, completion of works in
time, labour compensations or personal injuries. Regardless of
the merits of the claims, the disputes and litigation will affect
the reputation of the Group in the industry it operates and
in turn, adversely affect the business operations and financial
results of the Group.

The inherent risk of the foundation and tunnelling business
is subject to the unforeseen ground conditions. The actual
ground condition may be different from the information
provided by the customers. The Group may be exposed to the
risk of cost overrun if the customers disagree to compensate
the Group for the additional cost incurred as a result of the
unforeseen ground conditions.

The Group is subject to the environmental regulations and
guidelines in the jurisdictions in which it operates, such as
Hong Kong, the PRC, the United Kingdom and the Philippines.
Any changes in the such regulations and guidelines may have
adverse impact on the operations and the financial results.

The results of the Group are affected by the trends in the
industries in which it operates, including the construction
(including the foundation and other civil works and tunnelling
works) and the premises revitalisation and enhancement
business. The change in the government budgets and
spending in infrastructures as well as the changes in customer
tastes and preference for may have adverse impact on the
revenue and operation results of the Group.

The success and the growth of the Group is, to a large extent,
attributable to the continued commitment of the Directors
and senior management team. Profile of Directors and senior
management is set out on pages 38 to 45 of this Annual
Report. Any unanticipated departure of the Directors and
senior management team without appropriate replacement
may have a material adverse impact on our business operations
and profitability.
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12.

14.

The subsidiaries of the Group operating in the PRC are
exposed to the following risks conducting business in the PRC:

. Under the PRC laws and regulations, the Group’s
subsidiaries in the PRC are subject to various dividend
policies. Limitations on the ability of the operating
subsidiaries in the PRC to pay dividends to the Group
and/or subject to higher withholding tax rate could have
a material adverse effect on the ability of the Group to
conduct business;

o The PRC government control over foreign currency
conversion and fluctuations in exchange rates may have
restriction on the PRC subsidiaries of the Group to access
foreign currency to pay dividends in foreign currencies
to the Shareholders and to obtain foreign exchange for
capital expenditure for the PRC subsidiaries.

The outbreak of the COVID-19 or any other natural disasters
or infectious diseases may severely affect and restrict the level
of economic activity in Hong Kong and the PRC which may
in turn have a material and adverse effect on the Group's
business, financial position and results of operations.

The Group's premises revitalization and enhancement business
is subject to the regulatory environment and measures affecting
the property related industries in the PRC. In particular, the
Group's business performance primarily depends on the total
contracted and revenue-bearing gross leasable area and the
number of properties the Group manages, but the Group's
business growth is, and will likely continue to be, affected by
the PRC government regulations relating to the industries in
which the Group operates.

. The subsidiary of the Group engaged in the in the business of

distribution, research and development of specialty biochemical
and biomedical products and are investing heavily on the
research and development, and such investment may negatively
impact our profitability and operating cash flow in the short
term and may not generate the results we expect to achieve.

12.

13.

14.

15.
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Financial Risk

The Group is exposed to various financial risks, including interest
rate, liquidity and credit risks. Details of financial risks are set out
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.

Joint Venture Partner Risk

The Group conducts some of its business through an associated
company/joint operations in which it shares control with the joint
venture partner. There are uncertainties that the joint venture
partner will continue the relationship with the Group in the future or
their goals or strategies are in line with the Group. Furthermore, the
joint venture partner in the associated company/joint operations may
undergo a change of control or financial difficulties which may have
adverse impact on the Group’s financial conditions and operation
results of the Group.

Likely development in the Group’s business

The likely development of the Group is disclosed in the paragraph
headed “Outlook” in the “Management Discussion and Analysis” in
this annual report.

An analysis using financial key performance indicators
The relevant financial key performance indicators relating to the
business of the Group are set out in the “Business Review"” and
“Financial Review"” section in the “Management Discussion and
Analysis” and the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report.
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Important events affecting the Group that have
occurred since the end of the 2024 Financial Year

Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Board is not aware
of any significant event requiring disclosure that has taken place
subsequent to 31 March 2024 and up to the date of this annual
report.

Environmental policies and performance

Environment protection is critical to the long term development
of the Group. The Group places importance in the management
practice so as to prevent pollution, reduce waste and enhance waste
recycling. The Group has adopted environmental management
practices in accordance to 1SO14001:2004 (Environmental
management system) and 1SO50001:2011 (Energy management
system). The Group promotes environment-friendly construction
worksites and implements appropriate facilities to improve the
environments of the construction worksites.

Relationships with employees, customers, suppliers and
others

The Group maintained a good relationship with its employees and
had not experienced any significant disruptions to the operation due
to labour dispute. The Group is committed to providing a safe and
healthy workplace for the staff and have arranged an annual safety
conference for staff of all levels to enhance their knowledge on site
safety.

The Group maintains a good relationship with its customers and
suppliers. The Group maintains close contact with the customers
and has conducted regular reviews of the requirements of the
customers and complaints. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers on regular basis.

Compliance with Laws and Regulations

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and risks of non-compliance with such requirements.
The Group has on-going review of new enacted laws and
regulations which may affect the operations of the Group. During
the 2024 Financial Year, there is no incidence of non-compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have significant impact
on the business of the Group.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 193.
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DONATIONS
Charitable donations made by the Group during the 2024 Financial

Year amounted to approximately HK$29,540 (2023 Corresponding
Year: approximately HK$23,200).

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the 2024 Financial Year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movement in investment properties of the Group during
the 2024 Financial Year are set out in note 16 to the consolidated
financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of in share capital of the Company during the 2024 Financial

Year are set out in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.
There were no movements in share capital during the 2024 Financial
Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS
There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction
in which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

During the 2024 Financial Year, neither the Company nor its
subsidiaries purchased, redeemed or sold any of the listed securities
of the Company.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES
As at 31 March 2024, the Company’s reserves available for

distribution, calculated in accordance with the provisions of the
Companies Act amounted to approximately HK$121.7 million.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the 2024 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest customers in
aggregate accounted for approximately 49.4% (2023 Corresponding
Year: approximately 43.0%) of the total revenue of the Group and
the largest customer included therein accounted for approximately
13.0% (2023 Corresponding Year: approximately 15.9%).
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For the 2024 Financial Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers
in aggregate accounted for approximately 12.14% (2023
Corresponding Year: approximately 15.82%) of the total costs of
revenue of the Group and the largest supplier included therein
accounted for approximately 4.26% (2023 Corresponding Year:
approximately 4.58%).

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors,
their associates or any shareholders of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company own more than 5%
of the Company’s issued share capital) had any interest in the five
largest suppliers or customers.

DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the 2024 Financial Year and
up to the date of this annual report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming

Mr. YAN Chi Tat

Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick

Non-executive Director
Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel (appointed on 31 May 2023)
Mr. WANG Jian (resigned on 31 May 2023)

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. LEE Luk Shiu

Mr. YU Hon Kwan

Mr. WONG Chi Keung Johnny

In accordance with Article 108(a) of the Company, Mr. JIM Yin
Kwan Jackin, Mr. LEUNG Hung Kwong Derrick and Mr. LEE Luk Shiu
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM.

The Company has received from each of the Independent Non-
executive Directors a confirmation of independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

»>

R2024F BT E - AEBE R AEERE
RS E R R AN HI12.14% (20234F 7
B : 4915.82%) - EFF EAHERGEERSE
B 48 U8 25 R 2N 494.26% (20235 A1 HA - 49
4.58%) °

REFMET fEF NENBEAL
AR BEMBRR BARRRESMAE
BARFS%IA LB BHTRAN) BEREAT
KRR E P A o

=
KRB0 FHRFEREEARFHRA
HIENESA:

BITES
HREAKE
RIUES L

FEHITES
ZBEF 4+ (FA2023E5A31BEET)
SEREZE A (202345 A31H BHT)

BYFHITES
FEREE
RERLE
IEeE

RIBEARARARIZRMANE108()E  EFRAE
T BRI ERERIREEBRIER
AR ERAFE AN EIRME WA BRBRET -

ARBIBWESBULIFATESRELD
MAIE3NGRBE B 5 01 O FER
RRRRA - MBBIMIFNTERIESS
AL

I Annual Report 2023/24 4 i

53



54

|
Report of Directors

EEEWRE

BIOGRAPHIES DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND
MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 38 to 45 of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the Executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company for an initial fixed term of three years
commencing from the date of Listing and has renewed for a further
three years.

Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from 31
May 2023, which may be terminated in accordance with the terms
of the letter of appointment.

Each of the Independent Non-executive Directors has entered into
a service agreement with the Company under which each of them
is appointed for a period of one year commencing from the date of
the Listing and has renewed for a further three years and shall be
automatically renewed for such further period after expiry of the
renewal term.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has an unexpired service
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save for those disclosed in this annual report, there is no
transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation
to the Group’s business to which the Company’s subsidiaries,
fellow subsidiaries or its parent companies was a party and in which
a Director or Controlling Shareholders of the Company and the
Director’s connected party had a material interest, whether directly
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the 2024 Financial Year.

REMUNERATION FOR DIRECTORS

In compliance with the CG Code, the Company has established
a Remuneration Committee to formulate remuneration policies.
Directors’ remuneration are subject to shareholders’ approval
at general meetings. Other emoluments are determined by the
Board with reference to Directors’ duties and responsibilities,
the recommendations of the Remuneration Committee and the
performance and results of the Group. Details of the remuneration
of the Company’s Directors are set out in note 10 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

Each of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined in the Listing Rules)
of the Company has executed a Deed of Non-competition dated
25 November 2015 in favour of the Company, which contains
certain non-competition undertakings given in favour of the Group.
Particulars of the Deed of Non-competition are set out in the section
headed “Relationship with the Controlling Shareholders” in the
Prospectus.

The controlling shareholders have provided a confirmation to the
Company confirming of their compliance with the Deed of Non-
competition during the 2024 Financial Year. The Independent
Non-executive Directors have also reviewed the status of
compliance by each of the Controlling Shareholders with the Deed
of Non-competition and as far as the Independent Non-executive
Directors can ascertain, there is no breach of any of the Deed of
Non-competition.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions entered into
by the Group under the applicable accounting standards during
the 2024 Financial Year are set out in note 37 to the consolidated
financial statements.

None of the related party transactions disclosed in note 37 to the
consolidated financial statements constituted disclosable non-
exempted connected transactions or non-exempted continuing
connected transactions of the Group under the Listing Rules. To
the extent of the related party transactions constituted connected
transactions as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had
complied with relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Group has the following transactions with connected persons
during the year and the Company has fully complied with the
announcement, reporting and/or independent shareholders’
approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules (where
applicable):

(i)  The Group through its subsidiary (as tenant) entered
into a lease agreement dated 1 April 2021 (the "Lease
Agreement”) with Pioneer National Development Limited (as
landlord) (“Pioneer National”) to lease the premises at Units
1104-1107, Nan Fung Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street,
Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for office use for a term
of three years commencing from 1 April 2022 at a monthly
rental of HK$78,000 (exclusive of rates, Government rent and
management fee payable by the tenant).

Pioneer National is owned as to 50% by Mr. Jim and 50%
by Mr. Chui, both are Executive Directors and Controlling
Shareholders of the Company. Pursuant to the Listing Rules,
Pioneer National is a connected person and transactions
contemplated under the Lease Agreement constituted
continuing connected transactions since the Listing.
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ANNUAL REVIEW ON CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

In accordance with Rule 14A.55 of the Listing Rules, the continuing
connected transactions set out above have been reviewed by the
Independent Non-executive Directors who confirmed that the
aforesaid continuing connected transactions were entered into:

(1) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(2)  on normal commercial terms or better; and

(3) in accordance with the relevant agreements governing them
on terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of
the shareholders of the Company as a whole.

For the purpose of Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules, the Company’s
Auditor, SHINEWING CPA (HK) Limited (“SHINEWING"), has been
engaged to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions
disclosed in item (iii) above in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance
Engagements Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial
Information” and with reference to Practice Note 740 "Auditor’s
Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. SHINEWING has issued an unqualified letter containing
findings and conclusions in respect of the continuing connected
transactions disclosed by the Group in item (iii) above in accordance
with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

DISCLOSURE UNDER LISTING RULE 13.21

On 8 January 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a
revolving credit facility up to an aggregate amount of HK$20 million
and later revised to HK$25 million on 13 January 2020. Pursuant
to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding right to
modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions thereof
at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon demand
made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 8 January 2019 and 13
January 2020.
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On 18 February 2019, Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop
Construction, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a
facility letter issued by a bank making available a facility of HK$20
million to both Yee Hop Engineering and Yee Hop Construction and
an aggregate of HK$250.61 million to Yee Hop Engineering only and
later revised to HK$15 million to the borrowers and an aggregate of
HK$35 million to Yee Hop Engineering only on 6 November 2020.
Pursuant to the terms of the facility, the bank reserves the overriding
right to modify and/or cancel the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 18 February 2019 and 6
November 2020.

On 27 March 2019, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower,
confirmed the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making
available a credit facility up to an aggregate amount not exceeding
HK$20.88 million and later revised to HK$37.63 million on 10
February 2020. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no
tenor, the bank reserves the overriding right to immediately modify,
terminate, cancel or suspend the facility and the terms/conditions
thereof at anytime at its discretion. The facility is repayable upon
demand made by the bank. Details of the transaction are set out in
the announcement of the Company dated 27 March 2019 and 10
February 2020.

On 7 July 2020, Yee Hop Engineering, as a borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank offering a term
loan facility in an amount up to HK$15 million and later revised to
HK$30.0 million on 30 April 2024. Pursuant to the terms of the
facility, the bank shall have the overriding right at any time and at its
sole discretion to terminate all or any part of, or reduce or decrease,
the facility by prior notice to the borrower. The facility shall be repaid
in full within 12 months from the relevant date of facility drawdown.
Details of the transaction are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 7 July 2020 and 30 April 2024.
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On 20 May 2022, Yee Hop Engineering and YH Qing Chuang
Limited, as the borrowers, confirmed the acceptance of a facility
letter issued by a bank making available credit facilities for an
aggregated amount not exceeding HK$100 million. Pursuant to
the terms of the facility, which has no tenor, the bank shall have an
unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel or suspend, or determine
whether or not to permit drawings in relations to, the facility. The
facility are subject to review at any time and also subject to the
bank'’s overriding right of repayment on demand including the right
to all call for cash cover on demand for prospective and contingent
liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the announcement
of the Company dated 20 May 2022.

On 24 April 2024, Yee Hop Engineering, as the borrower, confirmed
the acceptance of a facility letter issued by a bank making available
credit facilities up to an aggregate amount not exceeding HK$160.0
million. Pursuant to the terms of the facility, which has no tenor,
the bank shall have an unrestricted discretion to reduce, cancel
or suspend, or determine whether or not to permit drawings in
relation to the facilities. The facility are subject to (i) review at any
time and (i) the Bank’s overriding right of demand for repayment
including the right to call for cash cover on demand for prospective
and contingent liabilities. Details of the transaction are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 24 April 2024.

As one of the conditions of the facilities set out above, the
Company has undertaken to the banks, among others that Mr. Jim
and Mr. Chui should, directly or indirectly, own no less than 51%
shareholdings in the Company or the Company shall maintain
ultimately controlled by Mr. Jim and Mr. Chui.

At the date of this annual report, JJ1318 and Mr. Chui holds
40.25% and 29.75% in the Shares of the Company respectively.
JJ1318 is 100% beneficiary owned by Mr. Jim.

Save as disclosed above, the Company does not have other
disclosure obligations under Rules 13.21 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2024, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and Chief Executive Officer in the shares or underlying
shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:
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(a) Long position in Shares (a) RBROHFRE

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
Number of Shares interests of our
Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company
BEERN TES NN
BEEnR B HRME R4 EE REMHAES T
Mr. Jim Interest in a controlled 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%

EXE corporation (Note 1) 201,250,0000%

RES LB (HaE1)

Mr. Chui Beneficial owner 148,750,000 Shares 29.75%

wEaE EREBA 148,750,0000%

Ms. Lee Sze Wing Interest of spouse 201,250,000 Shares 40.25%
Mabel (Note 2) Ao (B & 201,250,0000%

TBAELLE (Hiz2)

(b) Long position in JJ1318, an associated corporation (b) RAERQTBERTIIZIBHNEA
of our Company

Percentage of
the issued share

Name of Director Capacity/nature of interest capital of JJ1318
Fi{k111318
EEHA B REnHtE ERITREBSL
Mr. Jim Beneficial owner (Note 1) 100%
ErAE E=BEBAN ML)
Notes: s :
1. 11318 is beneficially owned as to 100% by Mr. Jim. Accordingly, 1. WIBISHELREEGHA 2 EES
Mr. Jim is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by JJ1318 Hit - REBEFSRRAEKRD - BEE
under the SFO. WARAPI31855 8 MR G 1
2. Ms. LEE Sze Wing Mabel is the spouse of Mr. Jim and is deemed, or 2. $§?§ﬁitﬁ%%$2@aﬁ CIRIEE
taken to be, interested in Shares in which Mr. Jim has interest under FRHEGRD - R AEENE S
the SFO. VA R RN P A A o
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Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, Chief Executives
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had any
interests or short positions in any Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31 March 2024
as recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of the SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED

CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2024, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons (other than the Directors and Chief Executives
of the Company) had interests or short positions in the Shares
and underlying Shares of the Company which were required to
be notified to the Company under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of
the SFO or which were recorded in the register required to be kept
under section 336 of the SFO.

Long positions in the Shares and underlying shares of the Company:

Number of Shares

»>

Br b aft 3R R & SN - 7020243 A31H ¢
MEARRESE FETHAE R SH
EEEMEMBHEATRERRRSEEM
HEEE (EE R BFH K EE KA EXVER)
REMERD  HERD REST HEAE
RERIBIERSR KA EEDIZE352{68 E
AGFENELMARIRIBEEETRSTA
GARRNR RERZTH A ERIORE -

FERRRADQA K EMBEE
Bk - HERORESZFH

BmlXR

M2024F3A318 " BEEMA - THA
T (BEENARBEBITHRAERIIN R
RARMRD RABBERG T - e ARE
BE N HAEIEHIEEXVERSE2 K30 SR A€ A
naEl RBRGTRRIEES RBEENE
36 FENELMAERSSAE -

RARB RN REBERONETR

Approximate
percentage of
shareholding
interests of the

Name Capacity/nature of interest Interested Company

FEEEN KRB RE
=1 54 EntE RH&E FEBOES T
1J1318 Beneficial owner 201,250,000 40.25%

111318 BamlA A

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any other
persons who have interests or short positions in the Shares and
underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were recorded in the registered required to be
kept under section 336 of the SFO.

Br EXFRIBEEN  EEHTANBEFE
i AT RAR R B RARBIR D -
BREBEES LIRS EROIFEXVEEFR2 K30 H
ARARAHRE  HARFRREZSF R
HEHRPIFEBEFENECMOER L

N
KA o
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed, at no time during the 2024 Financial Year was the
Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries, a party to any arrangements to enable the Directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Share Option Scheme is a share incentive scheme and is
established to recognise and acknowledge the contributions that
Eligible Participants (as defined below) have made or may make to
the Group so as to motivate the Eligible Participants to optimise their
performance and efficiency for the benefit of the Group, and attract,
retain or otherwise maintain ongoing business relationship with the
Eligible Participants whose contributions are, will or expected to be
beneficial to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period
of ten years commencing on 25 November 2015, after which no
further options will be issued. The total number of Shares which
may be issued upon exercise of all options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme and any other schemes shall not in aggregate
exceed 50,000,000 Shares (10% of the Shares in issue as at the date
of Listing), unless approved by the shareholders in general meeting
(the maximum number of Shares of the Company which may be
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to
be exercised under the Share Option Scheme and any other share
option schemes of the Company must not exceed 30% of the total
number of shares of the Company in issue from time to time). No
option may be granted to any Eligible Participant which, if exercised
in full, would result in the total number of Shares issued and to be
issued upon exercise of the options already granted or to be granted
to such Eligible Participant under the Share Option Scheme (including
exercised, cancelled and outstanding share options) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of such grant exceeding 1% in
aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of such grant. The
offer of a grant of share options shall be accepted when the offer
letter has been duly signed and a consideration of HK$1 in total has
been paid by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options
granted is determinable by the Directors and ends on a date which is
not later than ten years from the date of the offer of share options.

EEREROIESFHEF

BRPTIREEE SN - ARA] - HERAREHE
EARTB B8 2% B Sk [R] X BT B 2 R 702024 4F B
BF BT B ERT L Bk - JA
FEARBEZAEBRBARBHAEME
5 A B B R 1D B AR A a5

BT E

BB —ERDEBENRSETE
EEHEERZEE(EELTOEYH
AT RE B AR E LR R AL - PAE
BARERSEERAEENNEMELE
RERWE - RS BB RAEAM TR
MBRABERE BelAYHARH
BNMONEERZBENFEEBHRE -

BB HE T 2/ 8201511 B25H 5 +F
NEBRED BTl —PBTER
o BRIERERIREARGHE - T RIRFT
EIREBEREANE W E MRS
PR REEITER ] THITHRMEE - T
15 #83850,000,0008% f% 7 (A +TH B EHIE
BITRRD10%) (RATE R IE IR 2
A BMEREA IR S B H AR T
FRRITEBIREEITER S AR &
BER A"EEBEAQGTEEETRD
BEH30%) - MEEITHEBRIESER
REBEEZEEERL B (B3FE B) L1121
AHRRIEEBRESMNEERSHEHER
EHEEEMERE(BEETFE B
HHRMARITENERE) EITERD
TRETFETHROAE  BHREBE
HERAEBITROHBIENI% @ | ~ER
A ERSEERHERE - BREBR
ENZHOERELNREEEIEARE B K
BRABSIMEBITHBANER I EEZR-
ERIBRENTERIRESEY I
RTEREMEREZLOE BRI TF2
B4
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Eligible Participants include: (i) any Eligible Employees. “Eligible
Employees” means any employee (whether full time or part time,
including any Executive Director but excluding any Non- executive
Director) of the Company, any subsidiary or any entity in which the
Group holds at least 20% of its issued share capital (“Invested
Entity”); (i) any Non-executive Director (including Independent
Non-executive Directors) of the Company, any subsidiary or any
Invested Entity; (iii) any supplier of goods or services of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (iv) any customer of any member
of the Group or any Invested Entity; (v) any person or entity that
provides research, development or other technological support to
any member of the Group or any Invested Entity; (vi) any shareholder
of any member of the Group or any Invested Entity or any holder of
any securities issued by any member of the Group or any Invested
Entity; (vii) any advisor (professional or otherwise) or consultant to
any area of business or business development of any member of the
Group or any Invested Entity; and (viii) any other group or classes
of participants who have contributed or may contribute by way of
joint venture, business alliance or other business arrangement to the
development and growth of the Group, and, for the purposes of
the Share Option Scheme, options may be granted to any company
wholly owned by one or more Eligible Participants.

The exercise price of options shares shall not be less than the highest
of: (i) the closing price of the Share as stated in the Stock Exchange's
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the relevant option,
which must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities (a “Trading Day"); (ii) the average
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
guotations sheets for the five Trading Days immediately preceding
the offer date of the relevant option; and (iii) the nominal value of a
Share on the offer date.

The principal terms of the Share Option Scheme are set out in the
Prospectus.

Pursuant to the Share Option Scheme, the Company may grant
options to Directors and employees of the Group and other eligible
participants to subscribe for Shares not exceeding 10% of the
Shares in issue, 50,000,000 Shares.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme and
no option was exercised during 2024 Financial Year. There was no
option under the Share Option Scheme outstanding as of 31 March
2024.

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon the exercise of the share options to be granted under the
Share Option Scheme is 50,000,000 Shares as at 1 April 2023,
31 March 2024 and at the date of this annual report, representing
10% of the shares in issue of the Company as at 1 April 2023, 31
March 2024 and at the date of this annual report.

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme was approximately
one year and five months as of the date of this annual report.

»>

RERSEERE  (EMNEEERESR -
[AEREEIEARRA  (ERMEQFR
REBEFFHHEL20%E BITRAE E M
R ((REER]) WEMRE (THER
BGRE EREARTESEIBREE
EIFRNTER) : (DVARE  EAMEL
AREMREERNEFMIFATES (B
EBELIENITES) : (iAREBEMRAKE
QA S E B 8B A & o SR
R ¢ (WAEBEEMKE QR HEMKRE
ERNEMES  WRAKETMAKER
A EMR A BRI - FESNEAM
BT EOEMALTRER  (i)yNEH
EAIR B AR SEMR B BRAEABRER
AR EERIRY B A B AEIRE B AT
BITNEMNESFNERITE A Vi)AE
B{EMKE AR SRR E B EE
BREREBERTMRERL (FXHE
¥R AY) A AL+ Re(viii) & 4 ok AT A #E
BEARLE EBBANEMERLHEMY
AEBEM R LIERELTBAEAEMD
MRS AR R 2 B - AR B RS B T 81
5 BBREUERTH - RAXZREER
SEEDEFRANEARA -

BEERONITEETNSERU TRESE
BN AERBRERDBSE (ZAAR
BREENETESEENEHR (RS
A RE e R RERFARAOKTE
(NN EZARBERENRLY B R
8325 B R E X P& B B R AT A F 19
W (E : R H N 24 B R EE -

BRI SN I BGRAERBRER

BIFEREE - ARFATRAESERAE
EREAMEMSERSZHEERLER
FE o LASREE T B 1850,000,0000% & 3 17 IR
D 10%HI AL 5 ©

N B 20245 BA R AF 2 R I AR 15 BE AR
TR N R AE R I B AR AT o
HZE20244%3A310 BREEZIE T
| AT A B AR -

M2023F4A18 ~ 202438318 R A
FREH - TR RBEBRET SRR
BE e T LATT A IS Bl B R B 1T RR D B B &
% /350,000,0000% + f8&E R A2 71722023
FA4A18 ~ 2024F3A831H R R AR EHKH
BB 1T 9 A910% °

RAEHRBH - BRES IR RERF R
RETHMEA -

I Annual Report 2023/24 3R

63



64

r
Report of Directors

EEEWRE

SHARE AWARD PLAN
The Company has adopted a Share Award Plan on 17 April 2024.

The Board instructed Tricor Trust (Hong Kong) Limited, being the
trustee of the trust of the Share Award Plan (the “Trustee”) to
purchase a certain number of existing Shares on the Stock Exchange
at the market trading price as and when appropriate in accordance
with the applicable laws and regulations and the rules relating to the
Share Award Plan (the “Share Award Plan Rules”) as the awarded
Shares for the Share Award Plan. The remaining life of the Share
Award Scheme was approximately nine years and nine months as of
the date of this annual report.

No Share award has been granted, outstanding, vested, unvested,
cancelled or lapsed since the adoption date of the Share Award Plam
and up to the date of this annual report. As at each of the Share
Award Plan adoption date and the date of this annual report, the
maximum number of Shares in respect of which Share awards may
be granted under the Share Award Plan is 50,000,000, accounting
for approximately 10% of the total number of shares in issue as at
the date of this report.

A summary of the principal terms of the Share Award Plan Rules is
set out as follows:

(@) Purposes and participants

The purposes of the Plan are to recognise and reward the
contribution of eligible participants to the growth and
development of the Group and to give incentives to eligible
participants in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Eligible
participants include (i) any director and employee (part-time or
full-time) of the Company or the Group; (ii) any director and
employee (part-time or full-time) of the holding companies,
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company;
and (iii) any contractor, adviser (professional or otherwise),
consultant or expert in any area of business or business
development of any member of the Group, who provided
its services to any member of the Group on a continuing
and recurring basis, excluding placing agents or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers
or acquisitions of the Company or its Subsidiaries, and service
providers who provide assurance or are required to perform
their services with impartiality and objectivity.
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(b)

(c)

(d)

Duration

Subject to any early termination as determined by the Board
pursuant to the Plan, the Plan shall be valid and effective for a
term of 10 years commencing from the adoption date (i.e. 17
April 2024), after the expiry of which no further Awards may
be made.

Administration

The Plan shall be subject to the administration of the Board
and the Trustee in accordance with the terms of the Plan and
the Trust Deed.

Vesting and lapse

Unless otherwise determined by the Board or the committee of
the Share Award Plan at its discretion, the number of Shares
awards held by the Trustee on Trust and which are entitled by
a Share Award Grantee shall be vested to that Share Award
Grantee in accordance with the Share Award Plan Rules and
any specific conditions as determined by the Board or the
committee of the Share Award Plan at its absolute discretion.

A Share Award Grantee shall not have any interest or rights
(including the right to receive dividends) in the awarded Shares
prior to the vesting date of the awarded Shares. An Eligible
Participant or Share Award Grantee shall also have no rights
in the residual cash of the Trust or Shares or such other trust
fund or property held by the trust.

Unless the Board determines otherwise at its absolute
discretion and subject as otherwise specified in the Plan, an
Award (or, as the case may be, the relevant part of an Award)
shall automatically lapse forthwith and all the Awarded Shares
(or, as the case may be, the relevant Awarded Shares) shall
become Returned Shares if (i) a Selected Participant ceases
to be an Eligible Participant; and (ii) the Subsidiary or Related
Entity by which a Selected Participant is employed ceases to be
a Subsidiary or Related Entity of the Company (or of a member
of the Group).

(b)

(c)

(d)
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(e) Plan limit

The aggregate maximum number of Shares (i) to be awarded
to Selected Participants pursuant to the terms of the Plan;
and (i) to be issued under any other share schemes adopted
or to be adopted by the Company from time to time, shall
not exceed 10% of the total number of issued Shares (i.e.
50,000,000 Shares) as at the Adoption Date (i.e. 17 April
2024) or the relevant date of approval of the refreshment of
such plan mandate limit.

(f) Voting rights

The Trustee shall not exercise the voting rights in respect of
any Shares held under the trust constituted by the Trust Deed
(including but not limited to any Shares in the Shares Pool, the
Awarded Shares, the Returned Shares, any bonus Shares and
scrip Shares). The Selected Participants shall not have any right
to receive any Awarded Shares set aside for them pursuant
to an Award unless and until the Trustee has transferred and
vested the legal and beneficial ownership of such Awarded
Shares to and in the Selected Participants in accordance with
the terms of the Plan.

SUFFICIENT OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float as required under the Listing
Rules since the Listing.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out
in the “Corporate Governance Report” section in this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee has reviewed the consolidated financial
statements of the Group for the 2024 Financial Year.

EQUITY LINK AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report relating to share option
scheme, there is no equity-linked agreement that would or might
result in the Company issuing Shares, or that required the Company
to enter into an agreement that would or might result in the
Company issuing Shares has been entered into by the Company
during or subsisted at end of the 2024 Financial Year.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company has
been entered into or existed during the 2024 Financial Year.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

The employees and remuneration policies of the Group during the
2024 Financial Year is set out in the subsection headed “Employees
and Remuneration Policies” on page 17 of this annual report. The
content is part of the report of the Directors.

AUDITORS
A resolution will be proposed in the forthcoming AGM to re-appoint
SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited as Auditors of the Company.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The annual general meeting of the Company is scheduled to be held
in September 2024. The closure of the register of members of the
Company for determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the
AGM will be set out in the Notice of AGM which will be despatched
to shareholders of the Company in due course.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2024
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B B AR &

311 Gloucester Road,

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF YEE HOP HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yee Hop
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “"Group”) set out on pages 75 to 192, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
material accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs") issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditors’
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
17/F, Chubb Tower, Windsor House,

Causeway Bay, Hong Kong
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Accounting for construction contracts

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies on page 93.
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The key audit matter
HREZEH

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BN EFNETREEZER

For construction contracts, there is considerable
judgment in assessing the appropriate contract
revenue, contract cost as well as the recognition of
contract assets and liabilities. Revenue is recognised
over time. The progress towards complete satisfaction
of a performance obligation is measured based on
input method, which is to recognise revenue on the
basis of the Group's efforts or inputs to the satisfaction
of a performance obligation relative to the total
expected inputs to the satisfaction of that performance
obligation by reference to the proportion of the actual
costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.
This involves the assessment of the completeness and
accuracy of contract costs incurred and forecast costs to

complete.
REESNME R HEESOKRE  SHKRER

BREERBBENEABFTEZREHE - WR Tk
REER THRETEOAEENERBRLRERA
FETE - ERR BEXERATKEOREIMELD
R A (BEHRBERATKBARENBIRA)
W2EMELNBERKANBHERERTRENLL
PlEER WS - ESRRUAELEANKARAYTT
AR TERZE R EEE DGR -

Significant judgement is involved in relation to the
assessment of the total outcome and the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation and is therefore considered as a key audit
matter.
TEERBARUREATERITRABRBNEREY
NEXRAE B RREREREE -

Our audit procedures were designed to test revenue
recognised during the year to ensure the Group’s
accounting policy on construction contracts is in
accordance with the standard.

AP ERET B AR DORI B 6 8 BE AR 9 UL S DA 1
R ESENREESNSTHEETEER - -

We assessed whether the construction costs recognised
were in accordance with the Group’s accounting
policy and supported by the evidence through critically
challenged the forecast costs to complete and actual
cost incurred. We assessed reliability of management’s
assessment in budget costs by considering the
historical actual costs and estimation of budget costs of
completed projects.

BAE B H M E R TR TACA R B R B R
AN RN EEKNARLTER E5EHN
B RLAREXF RMERBEEBEERK
ARBERIBENBERANMGEFUFEEEES
BERANFEREAISE -

We have assessed progress towards complete
satisfaction of a performance obligation under input
method by recalculating the estimate of the progress
towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation of the construction works based on the latest
budgeted costs and the total actual costs incurred.
BMRBRITBFEER AN R TE S B K425 -
BRENAEREIR TR ENBEAETHRER
R BEBERAETRT2EXKBHEEHHEN
£ -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE RS

Impairment of trade receivables and contract assets
Refer to notes 21 and 23(a) to the consolidated financial statements

and the accounting policies on pages 107 to 112.

ESEWRERGHNEERE
BLRGA B IRR W21 K23@)UA M E
107E2112B 2R -

The key audit matter
HREZEE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BENES A REZEE

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had trade receivables
and contract assets of approximately HK$181,006,000
and HK$160,643,000 respectively.

2024%3A318 - ESEMNESEKRIERE L
B E 5 RI495%181,006,0007T &% 160,643,0007T °

The expected credit losses (“ECL") on trade receivables
and contract assets are estimated by the management
based on the Group's historical credit loss experience
and forward-looking information at the end of the
reporting period.
BHORWRERGHNEENTAREEESE ([RHBE
EFEBEDHERERE EEENELEEEBAR
SRIA RO RS IR AT IR ML B RHE L (AT

We have identified the impairment of the trade
receivables and contract assets as a key audit matter in
view of the significance of the carrying amount of trade
receivables and contract assets and the ECL estimation
performed by the management involved significant
judgements and estimates.
ERESRWFERGHNEEREENEZENUR
EREMETONRBEEBRMET S RERAG X
et BMEREEZRURRIBERENEENRE
REARERZEIE -

Our audit procedures were designed to assess the
management estimation on ECL of trade receivables
and contract assets and challenge the reasonableness of
the significant judgements and estimates, including use
of significant unobservable inputs adopted in the ECL
estimation by the management.
BANBARTFEENGEREEHEHEERIER
BREENTEREEBEMG  LHERA G RGE
AAHAEMREER  EREREEEERHARGEE
FREFHTRANESTIAIEREARE -

We have also assessed the appropriateness of the
methodology and reviewed the input data used by
the management with reference to the latest available
general economic data and the cash collection
performance against the Group'’s historical trends and
credit loss experience.

BATEMEA EZRNEZEE  TEEEEEEAN
B ABUR - W2 ZE KA 1S 00 BB KOB BUR A K&t
Y SEEELBENMEEBEBRSCRNFWMEKR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B BE RS

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises all of the information
included in the Corporate Information, Chairman’s Statement,
Corporate Governance Report, Profiles of Directors and Senior
Management, Report of Directors, Five Year Financial Summary,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon, which we obtained prior to the date of
the auditor’s report, and the Management Discussion and Analysis,
which is expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other
information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise
appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have
performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS OF THE
COMPANY AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and for
such internal control as the directors of the Company determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

HibE ¥
BERAREFRAHEMENAT - HME
HEREARER ETFEHE  BXERR
T EERSREREREE EF2R
T AFMBREANABEEN (ETE
B e BRI RRMANZEMERS) -
ZEER R PIN R EE RS A B A
5 AFEMSRZEMRAEFPREAEE
ErmEkOMEER -

BFESEEMBHRRNELL NREEM
BR - RAT T EHEMERBEREMT
X E e e

RRMBZEEVBERERME - RANE
ERMELREMER KMEBEME
HMREEGEMBEHRRIBMERZBIZ
TERENERFEEANT  UFFHE
EXERRL - ERERAE BT I

i 255 70 2K 1P A TR AN A2 BB e 5 T 3% B B A
EESHEMERMESSHTHIE &M
RABZEMERBEAHERRL - LA
WEZEE - st RABAEELERS -

BARESRERZEENA
EMBHRRARENER

BERREFRERBEEGMASHE M
MEEPFRE LR REFERBIEIH
REEX  GEAEBEATHNEGEAMBER
= REREER/REGEMBRERAL
ZHABERE  AEHEEMBRERIFHE
B IGF R R M B MM E NS RR AL -

RRBEFAMBHRERE - ERAERA
Hiffh EEERELENREN  TEE
AEATHEESECEHENER I
ERFERERGER BIE BEQA
EXEEK BEREBRIFLEEXT
EEMERNBATRAERNR -
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Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE

AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion, solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other
purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in
the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors of the Company.

REMAERGEVBERRA
EAFENERE

BN EESHEBEREAVBHRRIEZES T
T 7E i BRGF Sl 88 AR T B B (] K 8 R
BRABSAELZE YHABREERMAER
MR BN 3R - FAPTR IR 1% E 2 RIS IR
Zm BT (ERER) MSE Bzt
WEREEMBN - RATERAREA
BRERMEMA LA ESARERNEERK
B - AEREBIRKFORE - BTEE
RERTEETEUETHESAERX &
AR AR RE IR - SRR AT
FMFFREREL - WENNEBEBESE
BEHBERTAREEREREZEHEEY
BHRERELOEERER  AIRKE/EX
$8 aR R

BARBESSHEAATECNIIEZ
— REFEZHIBRETERR R A E 2R
FrR I AR - AT -

o HRIMFHEARNREFREER M E N
HAMBBRFEERHERRAA
B REFRATEXRETARY
ZERR  ARERTEREEHN
BERERE FREMEANER-
MRRFFAIE S RER BE B
BER ERRAEE AR
1B - Fit RBEH IR AMFME
BREAN#FERRE R R SR AKGE
T30 A R AR 1 28 BUH) BB K 8 AR R At
B LR

e THREERZMEMNAIELE UK
AEENENEF O KLIIFEE
# ESREAMEENBEREER
BR-

o I BERAREEAHEAEIER
REEEREH S REBE
BENAIEIE -
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o Conclude on the appropriateness of the Company’s directors’
use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion.
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events
or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

e 4B EQAFEFRARELESS
EENREEELER  XLRER
ERNEZEE BEELFAEHR
SHABABRENERTEERE -
femARERE SEXENFERL
BERENELEARE - WEMARBR
FEEATHEREZ MALBLEARE
REMBETRFEAEIERS
MBERRTOEERE WEH
BELR  MEFTRMANER -
e DERBEE R B R E A
HIEFENEZREEL - AW
AREBELBRAAEEN EEH
TREFFERE o

o  HERAMBHmEAMNEREHRSA
BELRAT BREEEER AR
HAVBBRETAFRIMEER
CY e

e H EXEERNERIEXBEDHNH
BERERE R MEENEZRE
NEHGEMBERRERER - &
MAEESREEZN IR B8R
7 - BARERERALZLMLEE -

BFEEZZ B (AP ERE) F%ME
SHE - BFRLHEREAERERBE
ZERRERRMEFTZEETRENOA
HRESHE RO B K ER A -

BATAEZZESELRE  BHHRM
ENGARBL EWARERER Wi
BEBBEAEKAERRETERMBEL
UM AERENREMEE - AR SHERY
B BUE P ERER B 1T B Sk B 83 4E its (40
#EA) -
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Mr. Cheung Wang Kei.

SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Cheung Wang Kei
Practising Certificate Number: P07788

Hong Kong
28 June 2024

REBEZZESBRBNERT  HMEE
HARRSEEMERRBECEHEENS
B AMmMEKRBREZSEE - RAEEE
RS R A FERIR  RIPARIOER
TAMARABEZESRR  SERIHE
AT HMABRBEMERMNBRETERX
FHAKNABERRBEELN AR
g7 BIRFPRE T RERSTERZER -

HEARB T ZEENRENETREARA
RRBESTE

BB (FB) SHHEEMERAT
HEEI AT

REE

MEFERS - P07788

BB
20246 A28H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

Hfe 2 HE W m R

SmERER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

L)
\VAVAVAVAVAVAVAY)  (Seac
'

2024 2023
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Revenue W25 5 832,054 707,799
Cost of revenue W zs P AR (738,831) (631,589)
Gross profit ESA 93,223 76,210
Other income and gain H A U A K Uk 2t 6 20,133 26,128
Administrative and other expenses TB R HAMR R (76,231) (75,321)
Selling and distribution expenses HE RS HRAX (1,493) (928)
Reversal of impairment loss of CRVEEREBEED
financial assets 9 302 511
Share of result of an associate SME—HBE A REE (2,481) 1,739
Finance costs & A 7 (14,395) (27,057)
Profit before taxation ¥ 2 B 19,058 1,282
Income tax (expense) credit Frisfi () E R 8 (7,967) 2,611
Profit for the year FAE 9 11,091 3,893
Profit (loss) for the year attributable 1] 4 I8 f& {5 E X 32 7
to: (E18) :
— Owners of the Company S WNGIEZ =N 22,072 12,079
— Non-controlling interests — PR = (10,981) (8,186)
11,091 3,893
Other comprehensive income Hitt 2 E WK (FX)
(expense)
Items that may be reclassified Bz gsEnoiE
subsequently to profit or loss: ?é mZIBE :
Share of exchange reserve of an S5 — M5 E QR
associate 2 BB N A 577 (1,692)
Exchange difference arising on BMEBINEBESE
translation of foreign operations M K, =5 (5,325) (4,147)
(4,748) (5,839)
Total comprehensive income (expense) A% mE W& (FA L) 42
for the year 6,343 (1,946)
Total comprehensive income (expense) LA 418 &1 4 4 2 [ Uk
for the year attributable to: (X)) 8 -
— Owners of the Company — NA 7] %ﬁ}\ 18,656 7,169
— Non-controlling interests — FEERR R R (12,313) (9,115)
6,343 (1,946)
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Earnings per share BRAF
Basic and diluted AR EE 13 0.04 0.02

Annual Report 2023/24 3k

75



SAVATAVATAVAVAVE)

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e MIARR R

g At 31 March 2024 7202443 A31H
2024 2023
Notes HKS$'000 HK$'000
Bt BT T BT IT
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment YN - Es MR IE 4 63,049 78,053
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 1,751 3,203
Investment properties HEMEE 6 336,703 394,963
Interest in an associate R —EE LR R ED 17 66,382 68,286
Other non-current assets HEMIEmREEE 19 460 460
Long term deposit REIE R 24 12,786 13,552
Pledged deposit EHEBER 24 39,286 39,814
Deferred tax assets RETHIEE E 20 7,445 5,610
527,862 603,941
Current assets REEE
Trade receivables g5 WA 21 181,006 131,450
Amounts due from joint operations FEUE & I 29 8,941 7.275
Contract assets EHNEE 23 160,643 135,502
Deposits, prepayments and other Ze  BRRER
receivables E A fE W IR 24 24,623 24,386
Loan and interest receivable JE W B SR R R B 22 = 19,741
Tax recoverable AT U Bl 7518 5,793 6,491
Bank balances and cash RITHEB MRS 25 166,735 127,196
547,741 452,041
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and retention payables B I RENFIER
FERTRE & 26 105,252 88,496
Contract liabilities AHaE 23 49,126 2,658
Accruals and other payables JEstE R MEHM
FE 5K IE 27 34,387 22,731
Lease liabilities HEAE 15 22,567 20,962
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEER 28 57,767 54,659
Amount due to a related company T —RIE LN F R
TKIE 29 4,584 3,494
Tax payable FEfFRIR 7.272 35
280,955 193,035
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e PBIRR R

At 31 March 2024 7202493 A31H

2024 2023
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaF BT T BT T
Net current assets REBEEZFE 266,786 259,006
Total assets less current liabilities ZEEAFERTHEE 794,648 862,947
Non-current liabilities FRBEME
Bank and other borrowings RITREMEES 28 39,124 67,600
Long service payment obligations R EAAR TS & A 30 1,570 1,315
Lease liabilities HER®E 15 270,675 315,508
Deferred tax liabilities EETIERE 20 3,933 5,521
315,302 389,944
Net assets BEEFE 479,346 473,003
Capital and reserves BEXK#E
Share capital [N 317 5,000 5,000
Reserves HE 494,165 475,509
Equity attributable to owners of the AN A &#E A A FEIGHEZE
Company 499,165 480,509
Non-controlling interests FE 12 P e (19,819) (7,506)
Total equity fEmAE 479,346 473,003
The consolidated financial statements on pages 75 to 192 were BISERINEMNGEMBHRERTIBES
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 2 MR2024F6 H28H #t # I 5 #E T 3% -
June 2024 and are signed on its behalf by: WA TIALTREREE
Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin Chui Mo Ming
ERE #E 8
Director Director
EE EE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
MEEREER

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG YN
Non-
Share Share  Merger  Exchange Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve profits Total  interests Total
k& ROEE GHEE EIRE EtEE  REEN B FERER st
HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS'000
BRTn ARt EMTn BRI EWTr  ERTn ABTn  EMTn BRI
(Note a) (Note )
(i) (Wit
At 1 April 2022 R0NELRIA 5000 112583 14,808 1,125 1124 338700 473340 838 474,178
Profit loss) for the year Enat (Bl - - - - -0 019 818 389
Share of exchange resenve of an -~ A5~ ATZ
associate EREE - - - (1,69) = = (1,69) = (1.692)
Eichange difference arising BEENHERN
on translation of foreign EXEE
operations - - - (3218) - - (3218) (929) (4147)
(Loss) profit and total ER(58)EHR
comprehensive (expense) 20 (HR) haes
income for the year - - - 4,910 - 12,079 7169 (9,115 (1,946)
Capital contribution by FERERLE
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - m m
At31 March 2023 REIRIA 5000 112583 U808 (B78) 14 3079 480509 (106 473008
Profit lss) for the year Enhin(EE) - - - - -nimo nomo (0% 11,09
Share of exchange resene of an - HE-TEBENE 7B
as0ciate - - - 5771 - - 577 - 577
Bxchange difference ariing BEBNEBELNENZE
on translation of foreign
operations - - - (3.993) - - (3.993) (1332) (5,325)
(Loss) profit and total ER(B8)EHR2E ()
comprehensive (expense) haaE
income for the year - - - (3410) - 2,01 18,6% (12313) 6,343
At31 March 2024 R0uE3F318 5000 11563 808 (20 14 38T 499065 (19819 479346
Note a: Merger reserve represents the difference between the nominal Hiita - EOHEEERZESEEEAFBENB QR

value of the issued capital of subsidiaries acquired pursuant to a MEBITRAEERARKFEZEHE AR

group reorganisation over the consideration paid for acquiring these WENRBZZHE -
subsidiaries.
Note b: Other reserve represents the difference between the carrying value Hietb - Kb ERE £2016F3A318 LEFE AT

WHBHT R QA R BRIMNE R RmEEE MR
EEBINeTZE -

of the additional equity interests of the subsidiary acquired and the
consideration paid of HK$116 during the year ended 31 March 2016.

78
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES R
Profit before taxation B 56 AT 7 19,058 1,282
Adjustments for: RUATIEE (EHFEE
Bank interest income RATF B WA (4,908) (1,244)
Loan interest income = ESEON (257) (1,080)
Provision for long service payment REARR TS © BB 255 642
Finance costs Bl & AR AR 14,395 27,057
Depreciation of right-of-use assets CREEENE 3,609 4,547
Depreciation of investment properties WEMENE 39,839 21,232
Depreciation of property, plant and W B RRENITE
equipment 26,406 24,026
Loss on early termination of a lease REKRIHEEZEE - 441
Gain on disposal of plant and SR R R E R
equipment (105) (139)
Government subsidies IS 6 B - (7,492)
Share of result of an associate o fh— B & A R A 2,481 (1,739)
Interest income on pledged deposit B IR F A ) B R A (1,938) (2,229)
Reversal of impairment losses of TRLE ERLREEE
financial assets (302) (511)
Operating cash flows before movements EEESEIAIMLE
in working capital RERE 98,533 64,793
Increase in trade receivables B 5 e W SR IE G AN (49,803) (31,638)
Decrease (increase) in deposits, e BAREREM
prepayments and other receivables FE W SR IR > (3 00) 353 (5,025)
Increase in trade and retention payables B 5 e E R EN
R IE € 45 hn 16,756 16,948
Increase (decrease) in accruals and FEst B R R E b EN A
other payables 140 Cri4) 10,997 (213)
Increase in contract liabilities AHEEEM 46,468 2,658
Increase in contract assets EHEEEM (25,276) (27,623)
Cash generated from operations KEEHMSERE 98,028 19,900
Income tax paid EREH (3,455) (14,496)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (& & E BTS84 %5 94,573 5,404
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
IIV_\éIﬁﬁﬁii

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T T T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REEY
Repayment from loan and interest EERERKERLTE
receivable 20,593 =
Interest received 2 BB 4,908 1,244
Interest received on pledged deposit BB IR F U EIF) 2 1,437 2,229
Proceeds from disposal of plant and S B8 R SR B TS SR IE
equipment 512 1,948
Repayment from loan to an associate EEENREERR - 7,362
Release of pledged deposits BRBR B IR F X = 5,101
Capital expenditures on investment HREMENERNAS
properties (17,663) (38,300)
Purchase of plant and equipment EEMRREE (11,950) (32,657)
Placement in pledged deposit TFABERFR (3.272) (14,346)
Advance to joint operations BRTEEHED (1,666) (4,182)
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES & EE)FF IR & %58 (7,101) (71,601)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES AR
New bank and other borrowings raised EEEMRTREMEE 7,848 88,944
Advance from a related company BN RIR 1,090 3,494
Government subsidies received BB AL = 7,492
Capital contribution by non-controlling JEfERR iR A
interests - 771
Repayment of bank and other EERTREMEE
borrowings (30,805) (25,505)
Interest paid for lease liabilities REEBEZNHFE (8,502) (21,997)
Repayment to lease liabilities BEHERRE (12,623) (13,487)
Interest paid on bank and other PIRITREME R FH
borrowings FE (4,955) (4,828)
Repayment to a director of a subsidiary BRT—EHER R
—HEERA (279) (2,300)
NET CASH (USED IN) FROM FINANCING mEEE (FTH) FTis
ACTIVITIES Re A (48,226) 32,584
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND WENIREEEY
CASH EQUIVALENTS EOm D) FE5E 39,246 (33,613)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE FUNIREEIRESZEEBY
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 127,196 161,357
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes SNPEDE R B E R L& 293 (548)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE ERNBERRESEEY
END OF THE YEAR, represented by bank (ABRITEBEIEEERR)
balances and cash 166,735 127,196
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e IS ERAR M

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

1. GENERAL

Yee Hop Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company with limited liability incorporated in
the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law, Chapter 22
(Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands on 12 February 2015 and its shares are listed on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 18 December 2015.
Its ultimate controlling parties are Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin
and Mr. Chui Mo Ming (the "“Controlling Shareholders”).
The address of the registered office of the Company is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, PO Box 1350, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1108, the Cayman Islands, and its principal
place of business is located at Room 1104-06, 11/F., Nan Fung
Commercial Centre, 19 Lam Lok Street, Kowloon Bay, Hong

Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company while the
principal subsidiaries are principally engaged in the provision of
foundation and other civil works and tunneling works in Hong
Kong and Philippines, premises revitalisation and enhancement
in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"). The principal

activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 40.

Other than those subsidiaries established in the PRC and the
Philippines whose functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB")
and Philippine Peso (“PHP") respectively, the functional
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is Hong
Kong dollars (“HKS$"). For the purpose of presenting the
consolidated financial statements, the Company and its
subsidiaries (hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Group”)

adopted HK$ as its presentation currency.
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BERXRSMARAT LM - &K
BERABERBELAERFREALE
([ERBRR]) - AQ A RIS
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KY1-1108, the Cayman lIslands * i £
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AAVAVAYAVAVAVAVAY

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)")

In the current year, the Group has applied, for the first time,
the following new and amendments to Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA")
which are effective for the Group's financial year beginning on

1 April 2023:

HKFRS 17 (including the
October 2020 and February
2022 amendments to
HKFRS 17)

Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12
a Single Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax

Reform-Pillar Two Model

Rules

The application of the new and amendments to HKFRSs in
the current year has had no material effect on the Group’s
financial performance and positions for the current and prior
periods and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated

financial statements.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS

12 - Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction

The amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial
recognition exemption of deferred tax liabilities and deferred
tax assets so that it no longer applies to transactions that, on
initial recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning
liabilities. Therefore, entities are required to recognise a
deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is
available) and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences
arising from these transactions. The amendments shall be
applied to transactions related to leases and decommissioning
obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative
period presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings
at that date. For all other transactions, the amendments are
applied to those transactions that occur after the beginning of
the earliest period presented.

The amendments had no material impact on the consolidated
financial statements of the Group.

ER#HITEEBMBEREE
Al (2B HREED]
RAERT A ()
EREBEERE125 (57T
RE—RFEENEBEER
EENEESEINTE
EHEEERF12% (BTA) BY
BEHIEAEREERIEEENY
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAH:IIE B BREE

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING Bl (TEBBMEHREERD

STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (Continued) RABET 2 ()

Amendments to HKFRSs issued but not yet EHEMENRERZEBHBER

effective HEAMEFT A

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to AEEWEBEAMEAATEEME

HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective. R ER BB R EERSET

Z'_( °
Amendments to HKFRS 10  Sale or Contribution of Assets ERUBRERR HREERABEARN
and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10RRAEEE SELECHREER
Associate or Joint Venture? FTERIE28H (B BRBAS
HES)

Amendments to HKFRS 16  Lease Liability in a Sale and ERMBREEDN EXRMNCEERRE
Leaseback’ E16% (BFTA)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as BN BHEEIBARENE
Current or Non-current and ESLACCHEN) MBARBEEZES
the related amendments to 5% < 1 B{E7] (2020
Hong Kong Interpretation £)MBIRE 25—
5(2020) Presentation of BRAHITAREXK
Financial Statements — BEERZEHER
Classification by the Borrower ETHE

of a Term Loan that Contains
a Repayment on Demand

Clause’
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with N el MHRE 2 RBAE
Covenants' F15% (BETX)
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance Arrangements' ENCE R HEmmE L
and HKFRS 7 FIRREBEYY
WELR
ET% (B3IX)
Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability? N el Bz A R
E215% (BFIA)
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 1OR2024F NV B1AR 2 FRn 2 FE HRE
L3
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025 2 R2025F1AVB Sz & B 2 FEERA
EY
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be PORFERBR BB FEERBER
determined
The directors of the Company anticipate that the application RAAREFEN  EABEMBR
of the amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on HRABIT AT EHARNERE
the results and the financial position of the Group. BRI EEEMERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRS(s)") (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current and related amendments
to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 (2020); Amendments
to HKAS 1 - Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current issued in 2020 (the “2020 Amendments”)
clarify the requirements on determining if a liability is current
or non-current, in particular the determination over whether
an entity has the right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
specify that an entity’s right to defer settlement must exist at
the end of the reporting period. Classification is unaffected
by management’s intentions or expectations about whether
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The
amendments also clarify the classification of liabilities that
will or may be settled by issuing an entity’s own equity
instruments.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
issued in 2022 (the “2022 Amendments”) further clarify how
an entity determines the current or non-current classification
of a liability when its right to defer the settlement is subject to
compliance with covenants.

The amendments require additional disclosures by an entity
that classifies liabilities arising from loan arrangements as
non-current when it has a right to defer settlement of those
liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within twelve months.

The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2024 and shall be applied retrospectively.

AR ERMBREE
Al (B BEREER]
RIEET A (@)
EREFTEAEIE (BT X)) &
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BETARN20245F1 A1B S 2 % 514
WEFHBAS CREENER -

Earlier application is permitted. However, an entity that applies hFRBEERA AWM REER
the 2020 Amendments early is also required to apply the 2022 2020F B E] M BB N % B E A 2022

Amendments, and vice versa.

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March
2024, the application of the amendments will not result in
change in the classification of the Group's liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Listing Rules”)
and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis at the end of each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. Details of fair value measurement
are explained in the accounting policies set out below.

The material accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. If a subsidiary prepares its
financial statements using accounting policies other than
those adopted in the consolidated financial statements for like
transactions and events in similar circumstances, appropriate
adjustments are made to that subsidiary’s financial statements
in preparing the consolidated financial statements to ensure
conformity with the group’s accounting policies.

Control is achieved where the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (i) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its
power over the investee to affect the amount of the Group's
returns.

3.

EXSBERESR

REMBRRNVZBEREGA
SRMNEEM B RELEANRE -
AN SREMBHRERBEEERE
RPAMBRARER EMARA(TE
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LR AR B

BE SR A AR — MRIR A IR B 2 PR A
R 8 AT EE & -
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BEMXNZER M TwmZER
ERERBREMSXEST AR
BERMERAE R FEFEFHE
RTIXFAEETHERDME -

EESFBRHEN T e

REEE

FAVBBRREBARARERF
P42 1) 2 B8 Ko EL B 1 B 0 B 7% 3R
3= o BB 2 R BB R T 348
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

The Group reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of these elements of control stated above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary.

Income and expenses of subsidiaries are included in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of
the Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a
deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

BEESTHEER @)
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55 =8 RIFRABR Lt 5% F 2
AEhBE-—BARZALAZ(L A
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interest in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but

is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group's interest in an associate is accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements using the equity method.
Under the equity method, interest in an associate is initially
recognised at cost. The Group’s share of the profit or loss and
changes in the other comprehensive income of the associate is
recognised in profit or loss and other comprehensive income
respectively after the date of acquisition. If the Group’s share
of losses of an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the
associate, which determined using the equity method together
with any long-term interests that, in substance, form part
of the Group’s net investment in the associate, the Group
discontinues recognising its share of further losses. Additional
losses are provided for, and a liability is recognised, only to
the extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

If an associate uses accounting policies other than those of the
Group for like transactions and events in similar circumstances,
adjustments are made to make the associate’s accounting
policies conform to those of the Group when the associate’s
financial statements are used by the Group in applying the

equity method.

An interest in an associate is accounted for using the equity
method from the date on which the investee becomes an

associate.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEESTHEER @)

R—EBE QT 2 ER
BENREAREEHETEEAN
FENZER -BEARENETNZ
BEEHR2YHEREERR A
A FE 4% 1) 3k F% ) 5% F IR

AEBER-—HBERRZRRETIIR
RBZENGEAVBHRRAARK R
EEmA R HBE AR 2 Ea
TIMN TR ANTER - AR B (5 H
BRAZENHEE R EMEE K
BN Bz AR HIERS
Ko Bl 2 [ Y 25 P RERR o fin AN 5% (B
DE—HEBERRNERESHE
BENZBE QB 2 s (EAER
AEE AREELBEAAREY
ZBELBZFRE CEARDE
@) ARBER IR IE 2 E—
FER BIBREARERE M
BEATHER HERRAEED
EEZRIEEETHRCRZBE
REMEHMK

KA B e R AT /A — HE
BRAIZHMBRERE  HZBER
BIERAASENIIZEFBER &
BREBATZXZREMH AIY
ZBERR Z G BRIEHFE -
NEAREE 2 @A BR B -

>

KB &

B2 W st IR B B R

RBELRERE EABREA

©

Yee Hop Holdings Limited #&ZRARAR  IIIEIEGEGEGEEE—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interest in an associate (Continued)

After application of the equity method, including recognising
the associate’s losses (if any), the Group determines whether
it is necessary to recognise any additional impairment loss
with respect to its interest in an associate. The Group assesses
whether there is an objective evidence that the interest in
an associate may be impaired. When an objective evidence
exists, the entire carrying amount of the interest is tested for
impairment in accordance with HKAS 36 as a single asset by
comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and
fair value less costs of disposal) with its carrying amount. Any
impairment loss recognised forms part of the carrying amount
of the interest in an associate. Any reversal of that impairment
loss is recognised to the extent that the recoverable amount of

the investment subsequently increases.

Gains and losses resulting from transactions between the
Group and its associate are recognised in consolidated
financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investors’
interests in the associate that are unrelated to the Group. The
Group’s share in the associate’s gains or losses resulting from

these transactions is eliminated.

Interests in joint operations

A joint operation is a joint arrangement whereby the parties
that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to
the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, relating to the
arrangement. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing
of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions
about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of

the parties sharing control.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

90

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Interests in joint operations (Continued)

The Group, as a joint operator, recognises in relation to its
interest in a joint operation:

BEESTHEER @)

REEXEBK 2 #RE (8)
AEEERAREERERAERT
RH R R -

e its assets, including its share of any assets held jointly; s HEE BREERHERRBED
FRAIEERNNDE

e its liabilities, including its share of any liabilities incurred e HEE BREENEREE®D
jointly; ERIBEFRHNHER

e its revenue from the sale of its share of the output e HEEAEEBKELMNMEDN

arising from the joint operation;

o its share of the revenue from the sale of the output by
the joint operation; and

o its expenses, including its share of any expenses incurred
jointly.

The Group accounts for the assets, liabilities, revenues
and expenses relating to its interests in joint operations in
accordance with the HKFRSs applicable to the particular assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses.

When a group entity enters into a transaction with a joint
operation in which the group entity is a joint operator, such as
a sale or contribution of assets, the Group is considered to be
conducting the transaction with the other parties to the joint
operation and the Group recognises gains and losses resulting
from such a transaction only to the extent of the other parties’
interests in the joint operation.
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s HRBHEAEEBELNK
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AEBEREREEXEBPORER
REARNBEEE BE BAR
XM BBHBREENAREE
BE - WAKRRMX -

EEBEREAALEXBETRSM
SEERREEDET (WHEHAR
ABE)  AEERESEAERD
MEMETRS  NEBESERZ
RPELN W M EE - AR
ENNEERBHERBR -

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & ZRARAR  IIIEGEGEE—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of
financial position of the Company at cost less accumulated
impairment loss.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is recognised to depict the transfer of promised
goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in
exchange for those goods or services. Specifically, the Group
uses a 5-step approach to revenue recognition:

o Step 1: Identify the contract(s) with a customer

o Step 2: Identify the performance obligations in the
contract

° Step 3: Determine the transaction price

o Step 4: Allocate the transaction price to the
performance obligations in the contract

o Step 5: Recognise revenue when (or as) the entity

satisfies a performance obligation.

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to customers.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or
a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially same.

T
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EERHBEER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) EESHWE (8)

e A TNE P —IRER] - 15 #
R—BEBEANER mik=sil2E
TEREABRNETC ZCEREN —BRE
MNTER

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

e The customer simultaneously receives and consumes the o  EFERASKERELORR I
benefits provided by the Group’s performance as the MERAREBRELYTIRE ZF
Group performs; =

e The Group's performance creates or enhances an asset e AEBEBABIENMATFER
that the customer controls as the asset is created or B E W AIE Sk nsR BT S| 2 &
enhanced; or i Ek

AEEENLREIEHANEH
mMEABERAGEZEE &
AEEH 25 ETKEAN
REB A BHBITHRER -

o The Group’s performance does not create an asset o
with an alternative use to the Group and the Group
has an enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

92

Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the distinct goods or service.

Revenue is measured based on the consideration to which the
Group expects to be entitled in a contract with a customer,

excludes sales related taxes.

Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group'’s right to consideration
in exchange for goods or services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. It
is assessed for impairment in accordance with HKFRS 9. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is required

before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group

has received consideration from the customer.

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple
contracts, contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated

contracts are not presented on a net basis.

TH WEREFPRETEHHE
SR 2 IR R -

WHRRBEAKRERETFANEAD
REREERHKESE ETERE
sHERBERIE -

BHEEREHNER
BHNEEEASERNEFERAR
B e R RG AR E RN (F
REREGEN) - ARBEREBEEY
B EERNFIRFMERE - R -
MR IRIEA KB YK E 2 EGMAT
R - BEEREER  EREDNH
1& B AT KBRS 35K

BHRERAKSERD REFKE
RE MARNEFPEEEMARE
MELE -

REREPFIVUMNE—QGHME - R
BREEFERBNEBEFRZS -
IEREAAME  THEAANA
HMEBEERAHNBETAFEEESZ
bl e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
Construction contracts

A contract with a customer is classified by the Group as a
construction contract when the contract relates to work on
an asset under the control of the customer and therefore the
Group’s construction activities create or enhance an asset
under the customer’s control.

Revenue from the contract is recognised over time. The
progress towards complete satisfaction of a performance
obligation is measured based on input method, which is
to recognise revenue on the basis of the Group’s efforts or
inputs to the satisfaction of that performance obligation
relative to the total expected inputs to the satisfaction of that
performance obligation by reference to the proportion of the
actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs that
best depict the Group’s performance in transferring control of
goods or services. When the outcome of the contract cannot
be reasonably measured, revenue is recognised only to the
extent of contract costs incurred that are expected to be
recovered.

The Group's construction contracts normally include payment
schedules which require stage payments over the construction
period once milestones are reached. The Group also typically
agrees to a one to two years retention period for 5% to
10% of the contract value. This amount is included in
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the
Group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a
certain period as stipulated in the contracts.

Property management services

For property management services, the Group bills a fixed
amount for services provided on a monthly basis and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a
right to invoice and that corresponds directly with the value of
performance completed.

BEEGTHREER @

EEEHWE (B
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EANEREPERENEETIEM
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PREEMEBRKARERAEF KA
BB PR WD BRETAR
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BHORAERE G EETT S HER
Yz e

AEEZEASHBTEREERR
ZROBEERNFONFAR(—BE
RER) - AREITEAR LRES%
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BARANRAERFELPREX—H
BAmBERFEER T AMEE &
HEBFAAGNEE BEERE!
R -
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

Service income

Revenue from service income from provision of administrative
services to its joint operations is recognised over time. As a
practical expedient, if the Group has a right to consideration
from a customer in an amount that corresponds directly with
the value of the Group's performance completed to date,
the Group recognises revenue in the amount to which the
Group has the right to invoice. The service income recognised
in profit or loss is included in the other income and gain line

item.

Variable consideration

For the consideration promised in a contract, the Group
estimates the amount of consideration to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the promised goods to

a customer.

The Group estimates an amount of variable consideration
by using either the expected value method or the most likely
amount method, depending on which method the Group
expects to better predict the amount of consideration to which

it will be entitled.

The estimated amount of variable consideration is included
in the transaction price only to the extent that it is highly
probable that such an inclusion will not result in a significant
revenue reversal in the future when the uncertainty associated

with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group updates
the estimated transaction price (including updating its
assessment of whether an estimate of variable consideration
is constrained) to represent faithfully the circumstances
present at the end of the reporting period and the changes in

circumstances during the reporting period.

Leasing
Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys a right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee

At inception of the contract, the Group assesses whether
a contract is or contains a lease. The Group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a corresponding lease liability with
respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee,
except for short-term leases (defined as leases with a lease
term of 12 months or less from the commencement date
and do not contain a purchase option) and leases of low
value assets. For these leases, the Group recognises the lease
payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over

the term of the lease.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability
at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid
at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the
interest rate implicit in the lease. If this rate cannot be readily

determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease

liability comprise:

o fixed lease payments (including in-substance fixed

payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

o variable lease payments that depend on an index or
rate, initially measured using the index or rate at the

commencement date;

o the amount expected to be payable by the lessee under

residual value guarantees;

o the exercise price of purchase options if the lessee is

reasonably certain to exercise the options; and

o payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising an option to

terminate the lease.

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using
the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying

amount to reflect the lease payments made.
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding

adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

o the lease term has changed or there is a change in the
assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the

revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

o the lease payments change due to changes in an
index or rate or a change in expected payment under
a guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease
liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the
lease payments change is due to a change in a floating
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is

used).

o a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is
not accounted for as a separate lease, in which case the
lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised

lease payments using a revised discount rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of
the corresponding lease liability, lease payments made at or
before the commencement date and any initial direct costs,
less lease incentives received. Whenever the Group incurs an
obligation for costs to dismantle and remove a leased asset,
restore the site on which it is located or restore the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and conditions of
the lease, a provision is recognised and measured under HKAS
37 "Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets”.
The costs are included in the related right-of-use asset, unless

those costs are incurred to produce inventories.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. They are depreciated
over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the

underlying asset.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EEEHEEER®W
INFORMATION (Continued)
Leasing (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as lessee (Continued) KEFESBRBA (E)
Right-of-use assets (Continued) EHEEELE (&)
The Group presents right-of-use assets that do not meet the AREBR R A M BN KA AR
definition of investment property as a separate line in the EREVMEEENERAEEERT
consolidated statement of financial position. The right-of-use REBVIER FEREVMEEERD
assets that meet the definition of investment property are EREEENRIREMEINZY -

presented within “investment property”.

The Group applies HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets to determine AEBERAEE G ERNFEICHKE

whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any EREETEREEERSHEM

identified impairment loss. B WARERIEHAREREE -

Lease modification HE XK

Except for Covid-19-related rent concessions in which the RASEERERMBLLERERED

Group applied the practical expedient, the Group accounts for COVID-19t8 @ & Bk E SN - AR A

a lease modification as a separate lease if: REEATESE REEBHEERZ

BIER—HEBNHEEETENE
jEd 8

e the modification increases the scope of the lease by e ZIBUBBENER—HIE
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; HENEENEMNBERTHEE
and #HE: B

e the consideration for the lease increases by an amount o THERBHIEMEREMEALD
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the ERSNEBBERIREESL
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to BEREITEE HBEN TN
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of the g -
particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate MREEBRRER—HEBNHME

lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based on the EHETEFERE AEENEHRA

lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised REHAEERENEERRAENR

lease payments using a revised discount rate at the effective & T IR R B R W HH & T R

date of the modification. EITITR - UEFFEHERE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

98

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

The Group as lessor

The Group enters into lease agreements as a lessor with
respect to some of its machineries and properties. Leases
for which the Group is a lessor are classified as finance or
operating leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All other
leases are classified as operating leases.

When a contract includes both lease and non-lease
components, the Group applies HKFRS 15 to allocate the
consideration under the contract to each component.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a
straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Sublease

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for
the head lease and the sublease as two separate contracts.
The sublease is classified as a finance or operating lease by
reference to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease,
rather than by reference to the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At
the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing
at the end of each reporting period. Income and expenses
items are translated at the average exchange rates for the
year. Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity under
the heading of exchange reserve (attributed to non-controlling
interest as appropriate).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate.

Government grants related to income that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or for
the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related costs are recognised in profit or
loss in the period in which they become receivable.

Retirement benefits costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

The Group’s net obligations in respect of long service payment
to its employees on cessation of employment in certain
circumstances under the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance is
the amount of future benefits that the employees have earned
in return for their services in the current and prior periods. The
obligation is calculated using the projected unit credit method,
discounted to its present value.

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of salaries, annual leave and sick leave in the period
the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of
the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee
benefits are measured at the undiscounted amount of the
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related
service.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.
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The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the B HA FE < Bt T8 42 4F A B SR B s B &
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as H-BRTBNARNGEERR
reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and E{ﬁiﬁ% % 7% FT SR A [BR B4 A&
other comprehensive income because it excludes items of Al RATERERB RN TEER
income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other b E A FERT S AT R UL TE B -
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or 7‘]'71_@?%%/,\ R A B VE R A I8
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated cAKERAMKRIEBEAERAR
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively %iﬁ%ﬁﬂiﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ?gﬂﬂﬁﬂ’ﬂﬁ

enacted by the end of each reporting period. EEHE o

ERERBZGEMBHRERNEER
BERREE R EERB SN A

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax EEBENEG S EZRER BELH
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax BEE—MUFMERRNEG RERE
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary R OIBELEHRIBEEE —RBENEA
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for b IS FE AR B i ) DA K 85 A] &) AR ]
all deductible temporary difference to the extent that it is 0B B = BB IR B BT B AT HURUE S

probable that taxable profits will be available against which EEWMR - HEREHEHVLSHER
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such —HEATERERRT ML G E T

MRZMWEERABEMRES BN
BERSGHTEERTHRARM
AENEREEZR AT E®R
RELEHBREERAE -

deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit and at the time of the
transaction does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences.
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B AREREZFETIAREENRL
5o E AR HN - EBEZFIRE R HE
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Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
interest in an associate, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible
temporary differences associated with such investments and
interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable MER RN AB A EREEMN =
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to I 78 HA A BT R K R % [0 3% 55 R %5
utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are TR o

expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the REBEEEREEGN S WS
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that RNigasl - WA T BRI gEE BHE
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be Tt g ) LA Wz 2] 2 B sk 2B o5 & E
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered. B °
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
each reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of each reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority and the Group intends
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS
12 Income Taxes requirements to the lease liabilities and the
related assets separately. The Group recognises a deferred
tax asset related to lease liabilities to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred
tax liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or
for administrative purposes are stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position at cost less subsequent
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses,

if any.

Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings

When the Group makes payments for ownership interests of
properties which includes both leasehold land and building
elements, the entire consideration is allocated between
the leasehold land and the building elements in proportion
to the relative fair values at initial recognition. When the
consideration cannot be allocated reliably between non-lease
building element and undivided interest in the underlying
leasehold land, the entire properties are classified as property,

plant and equipment.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment less their residual values over
their estimated useful lives, using the straight-line method.
The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting period,
with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a

prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals
(including properties under development for such purposes).
Investment properties include leased properties recognised
by the Group as right-of-use asset and leased out under

operating lease.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write
off the cost of investment properties over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account of their estimated
residual value, using the straight-line method. Costs incurred
for investment properties under construction are capitalised
as part of the carrying amount of the investment properties
under construction. An investment property held by the
Group as a right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost in

accordance with HKFRS 16.

Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of financial position, cash
and bank balances comprise cash (i.e. cash on hand and
demand deposits) and cash equivalents. Cash equivalents are
short-term (generally with original maturity of three months
or less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
to a known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents are
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments

rather for investment or other purposes.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash equivalents,

as defined above.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value, except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the cost of the
financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial
recognition. Transaction costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are
recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time frame
established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in
their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, depending
on the classification of the financial assets. The classification of
financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial
asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group's
business model for managing them. The Group’s financial

assets are classified as financial assets at amortised cost.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised
cost if both of the following conditions are met:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows; and

o the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest on the principal amount
outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment.

() Amortised cost and effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of allocating
interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated
credit impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are credit
impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash
receipts (including all fees and points paid or received
that form an integral part of the effective interest rate,
transaction costs and other premiums or discounts)
excluding expected credit losses, through the expected
life of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a
shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt
instrument on initial recognition.

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount
at which the financial asset is measured at initial
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the
cumulative amortisation using the effective interest
method of any difference between that initial amount
and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset
is the amortised cost of a financial asset before adjusting
for any loss allowance.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

(i) Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)
Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased
or originated credit impaired financial assets, interest
income is calculated by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial asset,
except for financial assets that have subsequently
become credit impaired. For financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent
reporting periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired
financial instrument improves so that the financial
asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the
gross carrying amount of the financial asset.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is
included in the “Other income and gain” line item (note 6).

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9

The Group recognises a loss allowance for ECL on investments
in debt instruments that are measured at amortised cost
and contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade receivables
and contract assets. The ECL on these financial assets are
estimated using a provision matrix based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions and an
assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including time value of
money where appropriate.
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

For all other financial assets measured at amortised cost, the
Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL,
unless there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises lifetime
ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or

risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument
has increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience
and forward-looking information that is available without

undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account
when assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly

since initial recognition:

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal

credit rating;

o existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial
or economic conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its

debt obligations;

o an actual or expected significant deterioration in the

operating results of the debtor;

o significant increases in credit risk on other financial

instruments of the same debtor;

o an actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment of
the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the

debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the
Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly since initial recognition when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information that

demonstrates otherwise.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
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impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the foregoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk
on a financial instrument has not increased significantly since
initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined
to have low credit risk at the reporting date. A financial
instrument is determined to have low credit risk if i) the financial
instrument has a low risk of default, ii) the debtor has a strong
capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the
near term, and (jii) adverse changes in economic and business REBABLE TR EFHEERL
conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, HURERABRITEGANRERER
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash Fzeeh REMITAHETEAE
flow obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have ERRBRE Z2EEABREBERK
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of EF 2N IEEF ZETFF ek (4
‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally understood WEINBTR) EEEEANLIEL
definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has IR AREEREBMEERE
an internal rating of ‘performing’. ERBIRIE
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The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria
used to identify whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant increase in
credit risk before the amount becomes past due.
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Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event
of default for internal credit risk management purposes as
historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either
of the following criteria are generally not recoverable:

o when there is a breach of financial covenants by the o BEISANER AR 5
debtor; or
e information developed internally or obtained from o NEBRAE AN RIRIET Y

BHRRABBATAEEZER
HERA (BRAEE) NRE
(REt R A KB FHH I AR
W) °

external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without
taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).
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Irrespective of the above analysis, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than
90 days past due unless the Group has reasonable and
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events
that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash
flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

. a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

o the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

o it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g.
when the counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under
the Group's recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of expected credit losses

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of
default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the loss if
there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given default is based on
historical data adjusted by forward-looking information. As for
the exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented
by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the original effective
interest rate.

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial
instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in the previous
reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date
that the conditions for lifetime ECL are no longer met, the
Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to
12-month ECL at the current reporting date, except for assets
for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit
or loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding
adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets and other items subject to
impairment assessment under HKFRS 9 (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset's carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments
Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are
classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in accordance
with the substance of the contractual arrangements and the

definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

The Group's financial liabilities are subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial liabilities and equity instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration
of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for-trading,
or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
(including all fees and points paid or received that form an
integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs
and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of
the financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period,

to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or

liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss.

BEESTHEER @)

£@IE(E)
SHEERKALTA(E)

HE B ER A S E &
WIENKRBAREB S P HIA
RE:2)FBIEEE : I3)EERER
FEFAEZNSHEE  HEMN
BRI ROR IR B AN E -

BERMERDFAERBERAS R
BEZEHERARDENBERAX
T BRMEIERER T CREA
B2 AR A EAFEH% (WER) &’
RHEAGRARRZRA (BB
REBEMERAHRBY 2Bk
BEhz—OBRENEEE RS
RAREMEESTR) ESREE
BRI R -

RIFEREME B

EHEEASENETRER =
HEERE  AKREAR RS
BAB-CRIEEREZBABNER
HEAE N MENKE (BRERND
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

3. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 3. EEEBERER®
INFORMATION (Continued)
Provisions B
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present WAEEART EHRERBERE
obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, IHERET MASEAIEAERTT
it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that ZEBEME YA SEMEFZEENS
obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount ORI mREE -

of the obligation.

Provisions are measured at the best estimate of the BEEREHRBTREREAMRS
consideration required to settle the present obligation at the RENZERTHE ULEEEE
end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and BETHNRBRETHBREE - E%
uncertainties surrounding the obligation. When a provision is HEREBETHEBETGETER SR
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present B8R - EFREERAZZHEN
obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those ENHE(MEESHEERYES
cash flows (where the effect of the time value of money is K)o BEEBRENLD K2 I LH
material). When some or all of the economic benefits required MzZFEEHBEHE = FUE - fHAK
to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third WEASEENREWRKESEELR
party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually FitE - ABERFIERRAEE -

certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of
the receivable can be measured reliably.

Impairment losses on property, plant and M HERRE  REWEN
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use RERAEEEZRERBSE

assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the RMEBMR RNEBHHEYE - #
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment, RBREZE REMEREREEN
investment properties and right-of-use assets to determine MEREEEERAEED TG - A
whether there is any indication that those assets have ETBATNTRBTIZEEED
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, WREEE - WMEEEALERTR
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order Bl & 2 & = ] W Bl & 58 (F Il &t
to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. The NEEREEBEENEZ (WE) -9
recoverable amount of property, plant and equipment, ¥ BERZE CRAEEERRK
right-of-use assets, and investment properties are estimated B E ORI O & g @RI E 5 e
individually. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable A A ETE B B ER AT IR E & 78 -
amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates the rEEEHAZEEMBRSEL
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to Bu((Reg£EM]) malkEs
which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent FHoErA#A—EAEE-—BND
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also ER cEXEETSSE=MER
allocated to individual CGU, or otherwise they are allocated ReEEEN  BRALEEERE
to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and BAMEE —BERIRER/NR
consistent allocation can be identified. REASMAS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and right-of-use
assets (Continued)

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have
not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated
to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the
asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the CGU) in prior years. A reversal
of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately in
profit or loss.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s leasing
transactions and value in use of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets for the purpose of impairment
assessment, the Group takes into account the characteristics
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those

BEESTHEER @)

M3 BBRRRE REWEN
RERABEE ZRERRE(H)

Al el & AR E QT ER G ERA
HERBEEMETNRSE - FfHh
EREER fAtRAKRRERES
REARATREFBRRE  ZB
AITRRERREEEEREED
ERIMSHERZEEFANRAR
(REFHZ AR BB G RIBRDR

g)-

Mt E (RRSEEER) 0T
WoEl R R LB (8 ¢ B (5
ReEEEN) HEAEEAEEL
T4 I 88 - L 65 9 D 0 9
PR -

iR EEERELRED - & (3R
TELEM) WREESATEEL
fERT R fh 5t AT MR B & 28 - 38 pni&
MEREENSBAMZEE (FRE
EAEM)ERTFRENEERRE
BEERERRNKREE-  RERS
BHE O AR R BEERREA -

AT B
AEAFER RAREMNHEER

HARRAERET S WK B
SRR G R EE 2 R PR A
S+ 755 25 4% 5 1 2 L
SEALEENABEES R

characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability WEENBEEH -
at the measurement date.
A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into HIECRHMEEELATEFER &

account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the

AERMB2EEURERIRERER
BEBAZBEEE M3 —RBA%
BEMAGRERRERZEEEN

asset in its highest and best use. M52 mEENEZEEENRSH
1B A 55 o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

116

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate
in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are
available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable
inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value
measurements into three levels, based on the characteristics of
inputs, as follow:

BEESTHEER @)

DNPEFEE)

AEERBBEIERREAER
BERRBEBAHFEAFE &
EERHEHABEHABEBRES
MRERTABEEARE A
MmE  NEEREHAZRBNER
B AFEFESBER=ERRIMT :

Level 1 = Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active F—4 - ZHEREEXEBER
markets for identical assets or liabilities. TER IS A TSR E
(REEFEE)ETE -
level2 -  Valuation techniques for which the lowest FE-H — BELFEFEMES
level input that is significant to the fair BB RN SRR R
value measurement is directly or indirectly ANEHEELEES
observable. RGHHGE S AR
=
level3 -  Valuation techniques for which the lowest FE=H — BELFEFEMES
level input that is significant to the fair value PN R il
measurement is unobservable. ABEBRAEBREER
HESETE -

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines
whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair
value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective fair value
measurement.

NEEER AREEBRENEE
RAERaNATENE BEE
AFEHENEEREBOAFE
SR MRTGEGHERS -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT 4. BRESHE RMETH
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION BRZNETERR
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which RE A A S B g BUR (R M 33,
are described in note 3, the directors of the Company are M) ARARERAREERAE
required to make judgement, estimates and assumptions BREME © FT U e & 2 DA R &R
about the carrying amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and U BHREE T E D HE - (A5
expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated RRFZ et REARZIRRBE
financial statements. The estimates and associated assumptions e R EMAARBENEZIEL -
are based on historical experience and other factors that are ERERTEER RN ZEMET -
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on et R BRRIEFEEEERN -
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are WS E] B B Z B - Al st
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if fI%ETAEA%uH’Eﬁf T EA R
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the SR FT R B AR AR MR REAR
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current EyNES uT,HHFEJ&ﬂiPK,HﬁF%Ew

and future periods.

Critical judgement in applying accounting policies FE A& s BUR M E K H &

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those RARARIEENEATEE K
involving estimations (see below), that the directors of the F2BERY R 2 BRI (R
Company have made in the process of applying the Group's T30 BAGN - AR B TEARE B R
accounting policies and that have the most significant effect FERCCHRAEREATE AR
on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the FIR

consolidated financial statements.

Classification of joint arrangements EERENDE

Yee Hop-Amain JV and Amain-CW Yee Hop JV are joint Yee Hop-Amain JV&Amain-CW Yee
operations as the Group have joint control of the arrangements Hop WEBE & %% REAAKREH
and have rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities, BB LR 26 DA Rt
relating to the arrangements. Pursuant to the respective FRZYmMHEEZARNEEE
contractual agreements regarding each of these joint BEAEEE BBEAHELFSaLER
arrangements, all major decisions and the decisions regarding HRNEBEAME MBERATE
the relevant activities of these joint arrangements require R EEELHNBREBRRTE
the unanimous consent of all parties to the arrangement. HEAKLZHEE T —HRAE AL
Accordingly, the directors of the Company concluded that the RARAEERRASEHEERH
Group has joint control over the joint arrangements. A LR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Classification of joint arrangements (Continued)

The directors of the Company also assessed whether these
joint arrangements are joint operations or joint ventures under
HKFRS 11 Joint Arrangements. After considering the rights and
obligations of parties to the joint arrangements with reference
to the structure, the legal form of the arrangements, the
contractual terms agreed by the parties in the arrangements,
and the relevant facts and circumstances, the directors of the
Company concluded that all of the Group's joint arrangements
should be classified as joint operations under HKFRS 11 as
the relevant joint arrangement document specify that the
parties to the joint arrangements have rights to the assets and
obligations to the liabilities relating to the joint arrangements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

Accounting for construction contracts

The Group recognises revenue according to the management’s
estimation of the total outcome of the project as well as
the percentage of completion of construction works under
the input method. When determining the total budgeted
costs, management makes reference to information such as
current or recent offers from subcontractors and suppliers and
estimation on material costs, labour costs and other costs for
the completion of the projects provided by its internal quantity
surveyors. Notwithstanding that the management reviews and
revises the estimates of both contract revenue and costs for
the construction contract as the contract progresses, the actual
outcome of the contract in terms of its total revenue and costs
may be higher or lower than the estimates and this will affect
the revenue, cost and profit recognised.

o A=A SR oy N
BIEZNEERIR &)

SERYNIE(E)

ARAREFTREFBYHHREE
AR LT IEZFTAZER
HELRAREBURZELE K
SERBLREE EEVA &
TR RBER 5 E A K EFKIAKRAR
AEELBATEREELHET
MENREER  ARREERS -
AEEMBENBERHREREY
BREEMNENRDOBRAEFRT -
RAGHBAEERHEXHITAGE
RHETHAERHARANEER
AEFERNRAML-

fhET T E RN EZERR
UTREBRRENEERSR &R
BEPRNGEFTTABRRZEME
ERF EXBZRBRSEH T @
MHREEANEERABREER
RERFE -

BESNZETERE
AEEREBEEEEHEB AKRD
Mt RBZETRTKBADLEZEKRA
AR - EETRTREKRAE
EEEZ2ESEEMEERAREN
MRz HREARKSEANTTHAE
BOPTIR L IE B € TAT B M BHRCA
BTRAREMKA 2 A EER -
REAEEEERANEZRMRE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

4,

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT

AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment loss on trade receivables, contract
assets, deposits and other receivables, pledged
deposit, loan and interest receivable and amounts
due from joint operations

Impairment for trade receivables, contract assets, deposits and
other receivables and amounts due from joint operations are
based on assumptions about ECL. The Group uses judgement
in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the
impairment calculation, based on the number of days that
an individual receivable is outstanding as well as the Group'’s
historical experience and forward-looking information at the
end of the reporting period. Changes in these assumptions
and estimates could materially affect the result of the
assessment and it may be necessary to make additional
impairment charge to the profit or loss. At 31 March 2024,
the carrying amounts of trade receivables, contract assets,
deposits and other receivables, pledged deposit and amounts
due from joint operations are approximately HK$181,006,000
(2023: HK$131,450,000), HK$160,643,000 (2023:
HK$135,502,000), HK$32,645,000 (2023: HK$32,426,000),
HK$39,286,000 (2023: HK$39,814,000) and HK$8,941,000
(2023: HK$7,275,000) respectively, net of accumulated loss
allowance for ECL of approximately HK$1,331,000 (2023:
HK$1,084,000), HK$135,000 (2023: nil), HK$829,000 (2023:
HK$918,000), nil (2023: nil) and nil (2023: nil) respectively.

T

o A=A SR oy N
BHREZNEFERE @)

ESERRE GHEE - &S
FHMEWRE - SERER
EWEREREVRFELUREKRES
EERRENRESSE
BORBHE GHNEE Ke Rk
B Ath JE UK FRIE - FE U E 3R K R MR
BUARERE & X RBRRER
REBHEEBEBNBR A5
AR ¥ (8 51| 8 U 3R TE B K (8 8 R BUA
MAEERBERRNELER R
AEMER  FRHUAHEEZSR
REGEERETENE ABE - %
LFRB R EC AT T (A4
RELEEATE A ALEHIE
= E BB INR R E S o 1R20244F
3A31E "B ZRKFRIE - 508
E ke REMERIE BHER
TR EINE R &I WF B A K& e
WEEBEBRENERAEBESNNA
75 #181,006,0007T (20234 : B
131,450,0007T) - /& #160,643,000
7C (20234 : % #135,502,0007T)
75 #32,645,0007T (20234 : B #
32,426,0007T) ~ ##39,286,000
70 (20234 : 7 #39,814,0007T) &
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7,275,0007) - IR TEHEEFEZ
RETEEEED B 45 %1,331,000
JC (20234 : ##1,084,0007T) * &
#135,0007T (20234 : &) B
829,0007T (20234 : & #918,000
J0) ~ (20234 : 48 ) R4 (2023F -
f|) o

I Annual Report 2023/24 ¥

=
5
=l
S
<)
S
]
B
1
S
=
Kl
E

119



AAVAVAVATAVAYATE

120

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
Estimated useful lives of property, plant and
equipment
The Group depreciates the property, plant and equipment
over their estimated useful life and after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, using the straight line
method. The estimated useful life reflects the directors’
estimate of the periods that the Group intends to derive future
economic benefits from the use of the Group’s property,
plant and equipment. As at 31 March 2024, the carrying
values of property, plant and equipment are approximately
HK$63,049,000 (2023: HK$78,053,000).

o A=A SR oy N
BHREZNEFERE @)

W HBERRENETTTERA
FH
NEBLT RE - HeSRRHE
ATRISREEE  RAEREARMGR
AR Y MBS R EE
OWE - FERATHRMRES
MEBANERYE KR RERER
BE A R SR A I 25 RO HA RS 4 HE A i
5t o 2024538310 - 5 - s
FAEM R EE 4 A5 63,049,000
70 (20234F : A& #78,053,0000T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Impairment assessment of investment properties

Investment properties are stated at costs less accumulated
depreciation and impairment, if any. The Group has to exercise
judgement and make estimation, particularly in (1) considering
whether an event has occurred or any indicators that may
affect the asset value; (2) assessing whether the carrying value
of an asset can be supported by the recoverable amount
which is the greater of its fair value less costs of disposal and
value in use; and (3) applying the appropriate key assumptions
in estimating the recoverable amounts including cash flow

projections and an appropriate discount rate.

As at 31 March 2024, the carrying amounts of investment
properties are approximately HK$336,703,000 (2023:
HK$394,963,000) respectively. Further details about the

investment properties are set out in note 16.

B8 8 = 5T M BT % fh 5t T 88
BHREZNEFERE @)

REWE 2 BER G
REYRZERAR R E RRE
(WnF) FIME - AN BZAE A8 R
EITHE LEE - ()EERS
EHEDBERNAEMPRBERARE
TEEEEBE QFLEEREE
EREMATROSEFF (ERE
RNPFEROEXRAREREEME
REREE)  RQEMFAKEE
BHREEREEERER(BERER
ERAREEMERE) -

MR2024F3A318  BEWENE
& 2 5l %) & 7 336,703,000
(20234 : 7 #394,963,0007T) ° &
MBIEEME 2 E—THBHNM T
16 °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5.

Revenue

An analysis of the Group's revenue for the year is as follows:

122

W 25 2 7 &R &
i 25

AREBHFARBEOMMOT

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Revenue from contracts with BEAMBHREERE155E
customers within the scope of HEANEFESH KR
HKFRS 15
Disaggregated by major products or 1%+ BE Fsk RIGLEH D IF
services lines
— Construction revenue under —MEREM T ARTIE
foundation and other civil SER Nl
works 670,619 563,801
— Construction revenue under —BETEBE N ZEE
tunneling works Wz 146,313 140,768
— Management fees income under —MEECRARET
premises revitalisation and ZEEBERA
enhancement 5,397 1,180
822,329 705,749
Revenue from other source Al 3R /Y U 2
— Rental income under premises —MEFCRARETZ
revitalisation and enhancement el A 9,725 2,050
832,054 707,799
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WgkoIBER @
(Continued)
Revenue (Continued) Wz (&)
Set out below is the reconciliation of revenue from contracts TERHEIRBEEFAEILELNZ
with customers with the amounts disclosed in the segment WamEDBERAMER B S
information. R
For the year ended 31 March 2024 BE202453A31BLFE
Segments
2
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
HEREM MEELR
tARIR BEIR R @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BT BT BETL BT

Types of goods or service SRS RsER
Construction revenue under WEREMEARTERET

foundation and other civil ZEEK

works 670,619 - - 670,619
Construction revenue under BETIRIET 2 gl

tunneling works - 146,313 - 146,313
Management fees income under W E(C A RIET 2

premises revitalisation and EEBIA

enhancement - - 5,397 5,397

Total revenue from contracts with E1& P ETE[ 442 Bl
customers = 670,619 146,313 5,397 822,329
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoEER @
(Continued)
Revenue (Continued) Wz (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3HA31B ILFE
Segments
k=
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
MEREAM MmEE R
TARTHE BriE T2 FR @ar
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AT BT BETT BETT

Types of goods or service SRR
Construction revenue under WEREMIARTIRET

foundation and other civil ZRENS

works 563,801 - - 563,801
Construction revenue under BETRETNEEkE

tunneling works - 140,768 - 140,768
Management fees income under ¥ E(CRARET 2

premises revitalisation and EREBIWA

enhancement = = 1,180 1,180

Total revenue from contracts with ERE S Frz] & 4) 7 # Uk
customers = 563,801 140,768 1,180 705,749
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WmkoEER @)

(Continued)

Revenue (Continued) W (%)
Disaggregation of revenue by timing of recognition 0 [ 7 58 1Y W 25 5 HF
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Over time 48 B 822,329 705,749

Transaction price allocated to the remaining
performance obligations for contracts with
customers

As at 31 March 2024, the aggregate amount of transaction
price allocated to the performance obligations that are
unsatisfied (or partially unsatisfied) is approximately HK$1,423
million (2023: HK$869 million). The amount represents
revenue expected to be recognised in the future from
construction contracts. The Group will recognise this revenue
as the relevant performance obligation on the construction
contract is satisfied, which is expected to occur over the next
1-22 (2023: 2-34) months.

Segment information

Information reported to the chief executive officer (“CEQ"),
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance
focuses on types of goods sold and services provided. The
directors of the Company have chosen to organise the Group
around differences in goods and services. No operating
segments identified by the chief operating decision maker
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:
1. Foundation and other civil works;
2. Tunneling works; and

3. Premises revitalisation and enhancement.

RENEFIRERTBRER
ZR 5 E%

202438318 P EEEXRETT
(HBHOKRBIT) CRHEEZRS
BB AYBE1,4238 8T (2023
F B8R EIL) c X ETE
HEABEEEANEROWES - K
EEBERNIEEEERAONBENERT
ERE (FAEFTR AR ZR1ZE221E A (2023
F 25348 A) NEAE) Rz -

2EEFR

FITHRAR (TBAR] EEE
BRRE) MEMMEERD B Rt
DEMRERENERZRVAE L
MEmEEENREER - KA T
EZCRERTRE MR RE AR
AEE - TBERLERREEERL
SENAE2R7 BT EZEEH
RIEVEEZ D HB

1. HWEREMEARTRE:
2. BEBEIRE: R

3. MEEERFAE-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. kW@ KkoEER @)
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results DEBU S I A
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and results INTREF2HRREEDEE DK
by reportable and operating segments. REBER W REEDT
For the year ended 31 March 2024 B Z202453A31H LEE
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
WER A ES
TAIR REIR  ELRAR @t

HKS000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS000
ARTR BRI BRI ARTR

REVENUE K&

External segment revenue A R 670,619 146,313 15,122 832,054
Segment profit (loss) AEER (H5E) 55,783 44,515 (7,456) 92,842
Share of result of an associate Me—HEBENAEE (2,481)
Unallocated income APERA 20,133
Unallocated expenses RARAZ (77,041)
Unallocated finance costs FOWBERK (14,395)
Profit before taxation BHAE 7 19,058
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

T

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WamKkoIBER 50
(Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) D EB U R I AR ()
For the year ended 31 March 2023 B E2023F3H31B ILFE
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
civil works works  enhancement Total
WER A LES
TARIRE BETE  RCEAR @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BB BT BETT BRI
REVENUE W&

External segment revenue N B 563,301 140,768 3,230 707,799
Segment profit (loss) AR (BE) 59,291 17,59 72) 76,311
Share of result of an associate PME—HBENREE 1,739
Unallocated income ) Hiﬂﬁz A 26,128
Unallocated expenses FAERE (76,339)
Unallocated finance costs AOBBEKK (27,057)
Profit before taxation BHATA 1282

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies described in note
3. Segment profit (loss) represents the profit earned by (loss
incurred from) each segment without allocation of certain
administrative and other expenses, certain selling and
distribution expenses, directors’ salaries, finance costs, reversal
of impairment loss of financial assets, share of result of an
associate and other income and gain. This is the measure
reported to the CEO for the purposes of resource allocation
and performance assessment.

RED B ST BER M E3MME A
SESFHRMER - 28 (BHR)
EENRMEY B BLE TITHREE
MwAX ETHERDHEAX &
SHE REKAEA REERE
BRED  HEBEQRRREAR
HoA Y A T e 25 B0 1B T P BRER Y
A (SRS ER) - T8 HEETT
BIR D B R RIRFF (4 M A1TERARE
ERHTTE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. W@k oIBER 50
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities PTHEERAR
The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities THAAEERZ2®|MRLEE DI
by reportable and operating segments: SPMEERBESN
Segment assets TEHEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Foundation and other civil works EREMEARTIE 297,460 190,540
Tunneling works fxiE T2 68,486 74,819
Premises revitalisation and YR R
enhancement 390,582 466,782
Total segment assets DENEEBEE 756,528 732,141
Corporate and other unallocated NARHMAD B EE
assets 319,075 323,841
Total assets BEMRE 1,075,603 1,055,982
Segment liabilities DEEE
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Foundation and other civil works RN H MR T 153,863 82,228
Tunneling works BxiE T2 18,474 10,954
Premises revitalisation and YIEEC R TR
enhancement 298,523 343,856
Total segment liabilities HEPEELRTE 470,860 437,038
Corporate and other unallocated RAEAIREMRSEEE
liabilities 125,397 145,941
Total liabilities BEMARE 596,257 582,979
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

1. All assets are allocated to operating segments, other
than interest in an associate, amounts due from
joint operations, certain plant and equipment, other
non-current assets, loan and interest receivables, bank
balance and cash, tax recoverable, certain deposits,
prepayments and other receivables, certain right-of-use
assets and deferred tax assets. Assets used jointly by
reportable segments are allocated on the basis of the
revenues earned by individual reportable segments; and

2. All liabilities are allocated to operating segments, other
than certain accrual and other payables, bank and
other borrowings, tax payable, long service payment
obligations, amount due to a related company, certain
lease liabilities and deferred tax liabilities. Liabilities for
which reportable segments are jointly liable are allocated
in proportion to segment assets.

5.

T

Wk oBER @

PHEERAR(E)
RERSBRARR S HBES R E
/EE E’]ﬁﬁ g’

1. B%EAE‘Q"‘**"TV = Bl A
XA ETHERRERE
HIFRBDEE  BRER R
A8 ﬁEﬁ R RRE - AR
BIHE - ETESE  ANREA
K Bt EARIR - B TE AR
é?&mk%ﬁlﬁéﬁﬁ\\ A
BEOORTRENG A2
oy BP AL H@Fﬁﬁ’]ﬁ&ﬁzﬂ”ﬂ
R R] 257 EREREX e s & 0 B
54

2. BRETREFERREMEMNK
HCRTTREMES  BAKR
B RERGEAE BN
BERRFRE ETHERER
EERBAGBI  FIEAES
"HE%%%%-&B c BRI EHD
H??Kﬂ‘f‘él’]’,é1,ahzﬁ’n’ﬁﬁ|3éf
FE’JtWIJ
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e PSRRI

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Other segment information Hitt 7 # & ¥
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
andother ~ Tunneling and
civil works works enhancement  Unallocated Total
WERHM NEELR
IRIE REIR A& AAE @
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETR BYTR
Year ended 31 March 2024 HENMEIMNELEE
Amounts induded in the measure of AREETESDEAD
segment profit or segment assets: PHEENSE:
Depreciation Vit 17,013 3,901 39,889 9,051 69,854
Additions to non-current assets TEFRDEE 7970 2,69 17,663 3,441 31,770
Amounts regularly provided to the chief EHMEELERRERM
operating decision maker butnotinduded ~ BREEAHEAFRAIR
in the measure of segment profit or PHEENSE:
segment assets:
Bank interest income BERGFHTS WA - - - (4.908) (4908)
Loan interest income EFHEHA - - - (257) (257)
Interest income on pledged deposit BAEFIEWA - - - (1,938) (1,938)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net — HEERRRENE 58 - - - (105) (105)
Share of loss of an associate HM-HBELAAEE - - = 2481 2481
Finance costs BERA - - - 14,395 14,395
Income tax expense FEREX - - - 7,967 7,967
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WaEkoiHER @
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hitb o BE R (8)
Premises
Foundation revitalisation
and other Tunneling and
avil works works  enhancement  Unallocated Total
HWEREM mEELR
IATE BiETE & N faz

HKS000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK$'000
AETT  B%Tn BBt BBTn A%Tn

Year ended 31 March 2023 BEUBEIANBLEE

Amounts included in the measure of AREHEADERD
segment profit or segment assets: PHEENSE:
Depreciation e 14,751 3,383 21,269 10,402 49805
Additions to non-current assets REERDERE 11,75 3977 167,410 1M 204,354

Amounts regularly provided to the chief ~~ EHEFELERRARY
operating decision maker butnotinduded ~ BREEAHEAHRAIR

in the measure of segment profit or PHEENSE:

segment assets:

Bank interest income FANEMA - - = (1,244) (1,244)
Loan interest income SHHEMA - - = (1,080) (1,080)
Interest income on pledged deposit BEABFHFEMA = = = (2,229 (2,229
Government subsidies HRRE (7.492) (7,492)
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment, net  HERBRHEE WG FE - - - (139) (139)
Share of profit of an associate HME-HBERA &R = = = (1,739) (1,739)
Finance costs BERK - - - 27,057 27,057
Income tax crecit b = = = (2611) 2611)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WEkoIBER @)
(Continued)
Other segment information (Continued) Hitb o BER (8)
Geographical information 1 7B & #Y
The Group’s operations are located in Hong Kong, the PRC REBERES  PRKEREES -
and the Philippines.
Information about the Group’s revenue from external ERASEEREIINTEFPNKEE
customers is presented based on the location of the BOREEMEMER BELASE
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets FEMBEENERNREEN
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets. BUBEH-
Year ended Year ended
31 March 2024 31 March 2023
BZE2024% B %E2023%F
3A31MBLEE 3A318LEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
BETT BT T
Revenue from external customers R BN E B RIS
Hong Kong 5 816,381 699,493
The PRC 2] 15,122 3,230
The Philippines JEEE 551 5,076
Total #Et 832,054 707,799
Non-current assets*
FRBEE*
At 31 March At 31 March
2024 2023
120245F 20234
3A31H 3H31H
HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETIT
Hong Kong i 121,320 134,104
The PRC & 336,781 395,102
The Philippines FERE 9,784 15,299
467,885 544,505
* Non-current assets exclude other non-current assets, long term S FRBDEETBEEMERDEE

EHER BB ERRAE RIEE
HIREE °

deposit, pledged deposits and deferred tax assets.

132
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WERDBEE @

(Continued)

Information about major customers FEEFNER
Revenue from customers of the corresponding year RIEEFEARAEERKRERE
contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group are BI0%ME P WERIAT
as follows:
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT
Company A’ ~EA! 107,783 112,748
Company B’ A A)B! 107,410 N/A /N3 2

! KEEREMEARTRED B RE
BTRD APRO USSR -

L Revenue from both foundation and other civil works and tunneling
works segments.

RBSHRRAZEPHOKE IR
REBBKREEH10% °

2 The revenue from that customer was less than 10% of the total 2
revenue of the Group during the reporting period.

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN 6. HttW AR W=
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Bank interest income HRITHE YA 4,908 1,244
Gain on disposal of plant and HEMF  HEREHERE
equipment 105 139
Government subsidies (note 1) AT B (K7t 1) = 7,492
Insurance claim REREE(E 202 1,915
Sundry income HMIEWA 2,342 1,845
Sales of materials HEMR 7,233 -
Rental income from equipment RBHERA - 469
Interest income on pledged deposit BT RF B WA 1,938 2,229
Loan interest income (note 2) BRF WA (Ka22) 257 1,080
Service income (note 3) BRF WA (H7223) 3,148 9,715
20,133 26,128
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

6. OTHER INCOME AND GAIN (Continued) 6. HAWARWE @
Notes: Mt -
1. For the year ended 31 March 2023, government subsidies 1. HZE2023F3A316B L FE - BRF M

amounting to approximately HK$7,136,000 (2024: nil) was
received under the Employment Support Scheme and approximately
HK$4,000 (2024: nil) was received from Construction Industry
Council as the Anti-epidemic Fund to support eligible construction
company to overcome the challenge from outbreak of COVID-19.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, other government subsidies
of approximately HK$340,000 (2024: nil) was received under the
“Ex-gratia Payment Scheme for Phasing Out Pre-Euro IV Diesel
Commercial Vehicles” upon retirement of certain motor vehicles
and approximately HK$12,000 (2024: nil) was received from the
PRC government for employment support.

The amount represented loan interest income from loan receivable
from a related company (note 22).

The amount represented service income from joint operations and
an associate.

FINANCE COSTS

Bh 4978 #7,136,0007T (2024% : &)
B 1R 5t Z 51 8 Y ER I 49 7 54,0007
(2024F : T) HEE X B S EIE
BIEES  UEPHEEREEAR
55 ARCOVID-1948 2 &5 2R M) Pk 8 - 1A
HE202343A831HLFER  Hi
BTRBIE R T /REREERREE
SR B BB Y HA LA AT S 7 A B A A
B ETE] ] FTUER 4973 %£340,0007T
(20244 : &) - I 1 7 B BOAT WO ER
L2 ST IE 4975 12,0007T (20244 -
z) o
ZeBERERRE—HAEQAZE
B B F B WA (iaE22) -

ZEeERRRAGLEBREER
BZRBEA -

BE A

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T

Interests on: 2
— bank borrowings —RITIEE 2,205 2,268
— other borrowings —HMEE 3,688 2,792
— lease liabilities —HEAaE 8,502 21,997
14,395 27,057

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) 8. FEHMAX(ER)

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Current year taxation NEFEHIE
Hong Kong Profits Tax EBEFER 11,390 3,615
Deferred taxation (note 20) EIERLE (K75220) (3,423) (6,226)
7,967 (2,611)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued)
Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2

million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed
at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed
at 16.5%. For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023,
Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group is
calculated in accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates
regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong
not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation
of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%.
Accordingly, provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax
("EIT") for the PRC subsidiaries is calculated at 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the year. No PRC EIT has been
provided for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 as the
assessable profits are absorbed by unrecognised tax losses.

Under the Philippines National Tax Law, the tax rate of the
Philippines subsidiary is 25%. No Philippines Corporate Tax has
been provided for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023
as the subsidiary in Philippines did not have any assessable
profits subject to Philippines Corporate Tax.

FreBilx (IKR) @
RR_BHEHEEHE  5E%
TENESE2EB THEAOFE
iR A825% BB BHE2EE TH
m F B F SRR B16.5% ° H =
20244 2023438318 IEFE -
AEBEEREBEBHNEENEHR
B_RANEHBEEHEFTE - A7
EZRAEHHEHENRNEETE
BEANEMERMN N GEELRR
16.5%H) B — B R EF o

BIEFREARLZMBEGCEMEHE
([EERBHZE]) REXEFAERE
EHEGEA - FENBRATNRES
25% o E it - FEAR KB A A KA
BEMSH ((REMEH]) BE
BE NG ERBUR A A25%:TE -
H E2024%F K2023F3A31H IEF
B BARERBEEFE B RERB
HE BRI - I BRI
FriS i B o

BEGEREBRME  EREWE
N AHT KR B25% - R IERE M
BRARUEMCAAMRNIFEELE
HEERBER - B8 £20245F
F2023F3A31H It FE W EAIRIE
BEDEM -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CREDIT) (Continued) 8. FREBRX (%))
The tax charge (credit) for the year can be reconciled to the AFEEHERY (K5 BiREGEBR
profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit T E b 2 T UK 25 2% B 3k B B A1 V4
or loss and other comprehensive income as follows: HERMAT ¢

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Profit before taxation K F53 A Y ) 19,058 1,282

Tax calculated at the domestic income & Hh AT 1557 & 16.5%

tax rate of 16.5% FTEMBIIA 3,145 211
Tax effect on share of result of an SME—HEEBERRERE L

associate MG 2 409 (287)
Tax effect of income not taxable for BMETEEEGRREKRAZ

tax purposes Mg 2 (946) (2,455)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible &% 75 @A~ Al 1R X H 2

for tax purposes Mg & 5,958 3,686
Utilisation of tax loss previously not A BERERR

recognised MIEEE (20) (1,680)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised  ARHERFIBEBNHIE T E 2,815 1,597
Effect of two-tiers profits tax rates MBFEHRBEEHENZE

regime (165) (165)
Effect of different tax rates of REMBEEREE 2B

subsidiaries operating in other NEIIREEB R 2

jurisdictions or subsidiary subject to WEARTRMRE 22

statutory tax rate (3.220) (3,500)
Effect of tax exemption granted (note) ER TSI R 2 2 (H1:) 9) (18)

Income tax expense (credit) for the KEFZHE#HEY (ER)

year 7,967 (2,611)
Note: Tax exemption represents a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax Kiat - F5E % Bl R 20234F/20244F %2022
for the years of assessments 2023/2024 and 2022/2023 by 100%, F/2023F RBLF R KR 100% & 5 F
subject to a ceiling of HK$3,000 (2023: HK$6,000). B8 LR AEME3,0007T (20234 -

75 #6,0007T) °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Profit for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

F B A
6 A THEMB GEA) ToI%E

E
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Staff costs B TR
— Salaries and other benefits —FHe REMBET 157,875 159,580
— Retirement benefit scheme —RRAEFIET 2L X
contributions 7,059 7,306
— Provision for long service payment  — R HIAR TS & B 255 642
Total staff costs (excluding directors’ B TAAR A (ZEE&
remuneration (note 10)) (M5E10) BR A1) 165,189 167,528
(Reversal of impairment losses) TREE CRERBERD)
impairment losses of financial BEEE
assets:
—loan and interest receivable —ERERRFE (595) (240)
— trade receivables — B S RUGRIA 247 (1,033)
— contract assets —GHNEE 135 -
— other receivables — H fth FEUGRIR (89) 762
Total reversal of impairment losses of 4 & & 2 i (8 &5 18
financial assets e EECE (302) (511)
Depreciation of property, plant and W KR REREBINE
equipment 26,406 24,026
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENE 3,609 4,547
Depreciation of investment properties & & ¥ E 39,839 21,232
Total depreciation hewsE 69,854 49,805
Research and development expenses A 255 5% 2,081 -
Loss on early termination of a lease REKRIEHEEZEE - 441
Auditor’s remuneration 1% ELRD BN & 1,040 980
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 10. EERATHRAE M
EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2023: BB AR R R LA (20234 < L
nine) directors and the CEO of the Company were as follows: i) EE RITBURRNF IO T
Year ended 31 March 2024 BZE202453A310LLFE
Executive directors (E0 Independent non-executive directors Non-executive director
s it i BuangEs FanEs
M. Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong Ms. Lee
YinKwan,  Mr.Chui Hung Kwong, Mr.Yan Mr. Lee Mr.Yu  ChiKeung, ~ MrWang  SzeWing,
Jackin-~ Mo Ming Derrick Chitat  LukShiu  HonKwan Johnny Jian Mabel Total

BABRE ARERE  RERRE  BRERE  IRARE  REMRE  IEMRE  TRRE 2REft it
HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000
BEIT RETR ABTR BETn BETR ARTR BETn BETR BRTn RET;

(note(v)  (note(y)
(KW (KE)

Emoumensspador  SEBALHAL S
receialinespet ERBEAATEES
ofapeson'ssenices B RN

as a director, whether

of the Company or it

Subsidiary undertaking
Fees g - - - - 10 10 10 - 200 920
Other emoluments: ~ Efp &

Slaies £t 2940 1920 1440 1800 - - - - - 8,100

Discretonary bonus~—~ EETED 500 40 %0 500 - - - - - 1,650

Retrement beneft B IRERE B

scheme contributions Bl 154 9 163 - - - - - 051

Total &3t 3671 2474 1781 2,463 20 20 20 - 200 131
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

10. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

10. EERITHERFHFHN @

Year ended 31 March 2023 BZE2023F3A31B1LFE
Non-executive
Erecutve directors (E0 Independent non-executive directors director
§rEs i EujynEs FifES
Mr.Jim Mr. Leung Mr. Wong
Yin Kiwan, Mr.Chui Hung Kwong, Mr. Xu Mr. Yan Mr. Lee MrYu  Chikeung,  Mr.Wang
Jackin Mo Ming Derrick JunMin ChiTat LukShiu~ Hon Kwan Johnny Jian Total
ERBRE  BRABAE  RERRE  RERRE  EEERE  ZRAGE  REME  TEARE T it
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$1000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000
#%fn  BETn ARTm #Efn BETn BEfn #ETr BT #Efn BETn
(note (v)
(=)
Emoluments pad or REBALIEATS
recehabl n respect ENBAAEES
of 3 person's senices BARENEH
a4 director, Whether
of the Company or it
subsidiary undertaking
Fegs LEa = = - - - %0 W "W - m
Other emoluments; EfEm:
Salaries i 2790 1825 1,360 - 1,600 - - - - 1575
Discretonary bons L 500 40 %0 - 50 - - - - 1,650
Retiement benefit BB
scheme contrbutions n 145 90 - 148 - - - - 610
Tot it EETAE N - 0 0 0 B 55

Notes: it -

(i) The discretionary bonus is based on the individual performance of (i) BBRADBEEECBAARAR
the directors and the Group’s performance and profitability and the REBZRBERENEE N RE AT
prevailing market conditions. SEEE ©

(i) ~ Mr. Yan Chi Tat is also the CEO of the Company and his (i) BEEXENDRBEADRRITEHELE
emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by BTREXHBENGTMREFRESE
him as the chief executive. ETBABFTIRMHOZ SR

(i) Neither the CEO nor any of the directors waived any emoluments @iy  PAMEFEA - HETHREEREM
for both years. BEERETAME -

(iv)  No emoluments were paid by the Group to any directors and CEO (ivy FPWEFER  NEBIWERARDG]
of the Company as an inducement to join or upon joining the EREE RITHRAR SN EREBE
Group or as compensation for loss of office for both years. ERMAREBRMAREBRKH

RENAERBERAE -
(v) Mr. Xu JunMin has resigned as executive director on 31 July 2022, (v) BRERLER2022F7A31HET#H

Mr. Wang lJian has resigned as non-executive director on 31 May
2023 and Ms. Lee Sze Wing, Mabel has appointed as non-executive
director on 31 May 2023.

TEERB  TREEN2023F5AH
BHBAFATESRLE MR
BB+ M2023F5A31HEZ T A
WITES -
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AAVAVAVATAVAYATE

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

11. INDIVIDUALS WITH HIGHEST
EMOLUMENTS
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, four (2023: four) of them were directors or the CEO
of the Company whose emoluments are included in note 10
above. The emoluments of the remaining one (2023: one)
individual were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. REFMA L

AEEREESHFMALSR  EH
A (20235 : MA) RARBES
RITHAE  WENFHEWER
£ XXM EE10 - R gR—& A £ (2023
F—N)RFBT

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

Salaries, allowances and other benefits %4 - 285 & H {th 18 1,260 1,251
Contributions to retirement benefits RIRAE R IR

scheme 66 68

1,326 1,319

His emoluments were within the following band

2 Z B Ty B LA T B &

2024 2023
No. of No. of
employees employees
EEHA EE#E
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 75 #1,000,001 TE
75 #1,500,0007T 1 1

12. DIVIDENDS
During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, no interim
and final dividend has been proposed or paid.

12. BB
#H 220244 K2023FE3A310 IF
& 4 5K kR (< A 2R R oK HA AR

B o

1SN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. 8RER
The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share KARER AEMENERER RS
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the SERF TIIRIE TS BIEETE -

following data:

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Earnings &R
Earnings for the purpose of basic ARETEEREARRT
earnings per share ) & F 22,072 12,079
Number of shares R4 8 E 000 ‘000
T Bz T
Weighted average number of ordinary FR st & &R E AR T
shares for the purpose of basic RO INHE S5 B AR B B
earnings per share 500,000 500,000
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings BN 220244 2202343 A31H Ik
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares FELEEMEHEFTE DO RITE
outstanding during the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023. TER EREERFNENEGRE

REF °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - WERRE
Ownership
interests in
Leasehold land
and Leasehold ~ Machinery and Motor

buildings  improvement equipment vehicles Total
BELHR
BFH

fiEREE HENEEE BRRRE RE @t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT BETL BETTL BETTL BRI

cosT KA
At 1 April 2022 W2022F4A1H = = 279,005 38,202 317,207
Additions NE 16,679 = 11413 4,565 32,657
Disposals HE = = (1,871) (3,895) (5,766)
Exchange realignment R = = (1,862) (33) (1,895)
At 31 March 2023 #2023F3A318 16,679 = 286,685 38,839 342,203
Additions RE = 1,284 7,114 3,552 11,950
Disposals e - = (1,405) (1,531) (2,936)
Exchange realignment 5 AR = = (181) B (184)
At 31 March 2024 M02453R318 16,679 1,284 292,213 40,857 351,033
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION ~ E:HTERFIfE

AND IMPAIRMENT
At 1 April 2022 1202254710 = = 219,084 25,850 244,934
Charge for the year ERMB 333 = 20,510 3183 24,026
Eliminated on disposals HE RS = = (1,871) (2,086) (3,957)
Exchange realignment [ 5 % = = (832) Q1 (853)
At 31 March 2023 12023F3A318 333 = 236,891 26926 264,150
Charge for the year FRMk 334 159 20,898 5,015 26,406
Eliminated on disposals HER L - - (1,405) (1,124) (2,529
Exchange realignment RS - - 1) 2 #3)
At 31 March 2024 2024%F3A318 667 159 256,343 30,815 287,984
NET CARRYING VALUES FEFE
At 31 March 2024 12024%3A318 16,012 1,125 35,870 10,042 63,049
At 31 March 2023 #2023F3A318 16,346 = 49,794 11913 78,053
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(Continued)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are
depreciated on a straight-line basis, after taking into account
of their estimated residual values, over their estimated useful

lives as follows:

Motor vehicles

15. LEASES

14.

M - HIBERRE®

i #BERREEE HRA
BREKFH REMFARBERRR
HInTMEHERFRANE :

Ownership interest in leasehold 2% — 10% per annum HELHNMEFH BEF2%E10%
land and buildings HHEER
Leasehold improvement Over the shorter of the term HEMEEB I EF
of lease or 3 years —FEIREE
Machinery and equipment 20% —33.33% per annum R N 7% BF20%%E
33.33%
20% — 25% per annum B BF20%E25%
15. HE
() Right-of-use assets () ERAEEE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Buildings gF 1,751 3,203

The Group has lease arrangements for office properties,
site offices and storage area. The lease terms are
generally ranged from two to three years. The lease

payments are fixed.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year
ended 31 March 2024 amounted to approximately
HK$2,157,000 (2023: HK$4,462,000) due to new leases

of office properties.

AEBEBHBMAEME BRI
RERFRERERELZH M
H-—RNFME=F -HER

H E2024F3A31B It FEE
FAREERNRERNBE
2,157,0007C (20234 : H#&
4,462,00070) © AR E
NEVEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. HE@®
(ii) Lease liabilities (i) HEAE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current IFER B 270,675 315,508
Current mE 22,567 20,962
293,242 336,470
Amounts payable under lease liabilities HESEEMNE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year — &R 22,567 20,962
After one year but within —F LA EMRFIUAR
two years 26,228 27,164
After two years but within MENEFRAFUA
five years 96,075 95,075
After five years HEFEE 148,372 193,269
293,242 336,470
Less: Amount due for settlement & : 7 121@ A A 2 Ef
within 12 months WAL ENERE
(shown under current (RREBAETIIR)
liabilities) (22,567) (20,962)
Amount due for settlement after F\121& B 14 51| H8
12 months WAEZBNERE 270,675 315,508
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

15. LEASES (Continued)
(ii) Lease liabilities (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, included in lease liabilities was an
amount of approximately HK$924,000 (2024: nil) due
to a related company. The controlling shareholder of
the Company, Mr. Jim Yin Kwan, Jackin, has beneficial
and controlling interest in the related company. During
the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into a number of new lease agreements in respect of
renting office properties (for its own use) and recognised
lease liabilities of approximately HK$2,157,000
(2023: office properties and investment properties of
HK$133,397,000).

Rent concessions

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group
received rent concessions in the form of a waiver of
payment during the period of travel restriction measures
introduced to contain the spread of COVID-19.

These rent concessions do not meet all the conditions
in HKFRS 16.46B, the changes in consideration of lease
contracts that were not part of the original terms and
conditions are accounted for as lease modification.
Accordingly, there is a reduction of the Group’s lease
liabilities of HK$14,230,000 and a corresponding
adjustment of the same amount to the investment
properties.

15. HE®w)
(i) AEEE@E)

M202343H318 - HEAE
B 3 N — R RS A B IR
T8 4976 #924,0007T (20244 :
BT IT) o AN A A1 AR IR
REMMBLERZBED Y
o MIERE R - &1 22024
FIA3MBLEFE  AEEH
HERAEYE (BA) L
ZIEHHERRE  TERAEE
B & 4% #2,157,0007T (2023
FRAEYMERIEENES
#133,397,0007T) °

HEHE

REZE2024F3A8318 EFE
A - 1E 438 HICOVID-19{E 1
FEH TR IR EAE - A&
B AR B 3 e X R ERE &

-

ERHEEREITEBBUG
|E R FE16.46BERP T A
e I IE IR R 3R K MG 15 — &P
PHHBESHNREEZEELT
EBHAR- At AEEHN
HE 8 &R 114,230,000
L WEIREWEELER S
M RERAE -

I Annual Report 2023724 R

=
S
=l
=
<)
S
]
B
1
B
=
Kl
E

145



AAVAVAYAVAVAVAVAY

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

15. LEASES (Continued) 15. A€ (@)

146

(iii) Amounts recognised in profit or loss (i) REEZEINESEHE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT IT
Depreciation expense on FAEEED
right-of-use assets: FrERX :
— Motor vehicles - LIE) - 97
— Buildings —BF 3,609 4,450
3,609 4,547
Interest expense on lease HEABZFERX
liabilities 8,502 21,997
Expense relating to short-term ARG HAERFH X
leases 456 1,143
(iv) Others (iv) Hfty

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the total
cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$21,581,000 (2023: HK$36,627,000).

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
early terminated a lease contract, the respective
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities of approximately
HK$3,883,000 (2024: nil) and approximately
HK$3,442,000 (2024: nil) are derecognised accordingly,
resulting in a loss on early termination of approximately
HK$441,000 (2024: nil) recognised in profit or loss.

Restrictions or covenants on leases

As at 31 March 2024, the lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing
purposes.

B E2024F3A318 LFE -
HMERSRHBEANEE
21,581,0007T (20234 : B
36,627,0007T) °

B E2023F3A318LFE -
REBIRSFRIEHESA4 48
ERIEEREREEEREE
B & 4975 3,883,0007T (2024
F|E) RH B3 442,000
gL (20244 : &) - BHRNIE
EHERARERIEEBBEOBE
441,0007C (20244F : 4) -

HE R 5%
M2024%38318 B EME A
HENHEEEMERERS
AN - 78 E 1 5 4 i AT fr] 2
o MEBETEBIEAEEN
ARG o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. REWE
Total
st
HK$’000
BE T
COST PR 7R
At 1 April 2022 2022F4H1H 268,904
Additions NE 167,235
Exchange realignment PEE 35, & (16,904)
At 31 March 2023 1202343 831H 419,235
Additions NE 17,663
Lease modification HEEN (14,230)
Exchange realignment & H % (23,581)
At 31 March 2024 1202453 H31H 399,087
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION 2= E
At 1 April 2022 202244718 -
Charge for the year FEMRK 21,232
Exchange realignment R 3,040
At 31 March 2023 202353 A31H 24,272
Charge for the year FEMK 39,839
Exchange realignment VE 5 % (1,727)
At 31 March 2024 120243 831H 62,384
NET CARRYING VALUES IREFE
At 31 March 2024 202453 A31H 336,703
At 31 March 2023 20233 A31H 394,963
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 16. REYZE @)

148

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised
additional investment properties amounted approximately
HK$17,663,000 (2023: HK$167,235,000) which representing
right-of-use assets and renovation costs of approximately
nil (2023: HK$128,935,000) and HK$17,663,000 (2023:
HK$38,300,000) respectively. Included in the investments
properties, certain leased properties of approximately
HK$65,380,000 (2023: HK$78,227,000) were under
development (renovation) as at 31 March 2024 and 2023.
Under the lease agreements, the Group is permitted to
sub-lease the properties to others. The properties are classified
as investment properties as they are held for generating rental
income from sub-leasing in the PRC.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties as at 31
March 2024 was approximately HK$347,763,000 (2023:
HK$464,990,000). The fair value has been arrived at based on
a valuation carried out by the directors of the Company. The
valuation was determined by establishing the market value of
the properties by using income method. For income method,
it estimates the value of the properties on an open market
basis by taking into the account of the current rent receivables
from the existing tenancy agreements and the vacancy rate
on potential leasable areas of the investment properties by
reference to the market rent of comparables.

HE202453A31H I FE  AEE
TSR ILIG E WIS 17,663,000
70 (20234 : % #167,235,0007T) °
BN A A & B R B TR AN 2 Bl 407
2T (20234 @ 8 1128,935,000
JC) N #17,663,0007T (20234 ¢
75 #38,300,0007T) ° M2024%F K&
2023%F3A31H B BEWEF
#4975 #65,380,0007T (20234F : &
78,227,00070) ME TEHMAWEILE
R (EE) RELAEHR -

SEEEBLEEMESBTFMA -
HREDAEFESANEERS
WAMmFE At - ZEWESE

AEERIKEEYER2024F3H31
B A F{ED BB 347,763,0007TC
(20234 : B #464,990,0007T) ° 7%
ARFERREARAESETHM
BER/E -HERRKRZEAEENE
MmE - BEkEE EEAHAT
GEREFEREEREREHER
FNABEREKASARKRENES
FEAHAmENEEER  2F 8 M
MENTSHSEHAVENEE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The following table gives information about how the fair
values of the investment properties as at 31 March 2024 are
determined (in particular, the valuation techniques and inputs

16. REWZE @)
TRIBHEBER A E E2024F3 A31

REEMENRFENEFR (FHE

PTE A EY M ERAM R A) -

used):
Relationship of key
Range of  input and significant
Fair value unobservable  unobservable input to
hierarchy input  fair value
EATENER
TUER BWAEREEH
DYEER BABEE FUREBAEZBE
Investment properties ~ Level 3 24%1t028%  The higher the vacancy
(2023: rate, the lower the fair
4% 10 15%) value
REME E=R TEX U%EW% FEXHS:
(2023% RYEBE
4%Z15%)

The above investment properties are depreciated on a
straight-line basis at the following rates per annum:

Leased properties

Over the lease terms of ranging from
10 to 12 years

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

¥ #£464,990,0007T)

LR EYMRZE NI FERAERE

HRHTE -

HEWE

RNATF10E 1245
) 78 Bf

. R—EBERRZER

2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Cost of investment in an associate

— unlisted TWERA—FFELT 44,462 44,462

Share of post-acquisition profit and DG W 18 s A
other comprehensive income HEab2mE = 21,920 23,824
66,382 68,286
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e PSRRI

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had interest in the

following associate:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

17. R—REEBE QT 2R @)
202449 &2023%F3A31H * AEE
RT5HE R R AR -

Proportion of
ownership interests
or participating shares
Countryof  Principal place ~ Class of indirectly held by the  Proportion of voting
Name of entity Form of entity registration  of operation  shares held Group power indirectly held  Principal activity
ARERRRAL
fERERSSH BikE
L1540 L1517 HRER IREENE  FERGEH R LA RERLH IREH
2024 2023 2024 2023
Perfect View Enterprises  Incorporated ~ HongKong ~ HongKong  Ordinary 40% 40% 40% 40%  Property development
Limited (“Perfect Bl AT &5 5 LEk DRER
View")
ERLEERAR
(%))

The summarised financial information prepared using HKFRS
in respect of the associate of the Group which accounted for

using equity method is set out below:

BRAARNSENEE R E RIEsE
ABRZERTEMBRE LA RE
M BER M EERI T

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT

Current assets mEEE 166,787 180,477
Current liabilities mEEE (833) (9,762)

150
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 17. R—EBERT 2R @
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
BZ2024% HZE2023F
3A31H 3A31H
LFE IEFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue U = 6,025 291,894
(Loss) profit for the year FRN(BE) B (6,202) 4,347
Other comprehensive income AFEEHMEEmKE (FX)
(expense) for the year 1,441 (4,229)
Total comprehensive (expense) income ZANEE2mE (F ) Ws4a%
for the year (4,761) 118
The reconciliation of the summarised financial information LM 25 2 B 7% E B BB
presented above to the carrying amount of the interest in the Nz ERREENERETI AT

associate is set out below:

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Net assets of the associate BERNRzEERE 165,954 170,715
The Group's ownership interest in AEERE LN E

Perfect View Rz L) 40% 40%

Carrying amount of the Group'’s AEBNRERERD
interest in Perfect View AREE 66,382 68,286
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

18. INTERESTS IN JOINT OPERATIONS 18. REEXEB 2L
As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group had interests in the 20244 &2023%F3A31H * AEE
following joint operations: NIRRT P
Country of Principal place of  Class of shares Proportion of participating Proportion of voting
Name of entity Formofentity ~ registration operation held shares held by the Group power held Principal activity
B4R 11/ HftER IZEERE  FRRORH AEEEE 2 SRR LA FERERLA TEXH
2024 2083 2024 013
Yee Hop-Amain JV Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong na 10% 0% 66.67% 66.67%  Construction
F1E 3 B AER B4
Amain-CW Yee Hop JV Unincorporated ~ Hong Kong Hong Kong na 2% 2% 50% 50%  Construction
F5E B (3 TR B4
19. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 19. HtERBEE
Other non-current assets H3EmBEE
2024 2023
HK$°000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Club debenture BEIBEH 460 460
The club debenture represents club membership in a private BERBEHFEEE —BLAELE
club with indefinite useful life in Hong Kong and is measured HER(F R FHN 2R eEI iR
at cost less impairment. The directors of the Company consider RABREE - ARAFEERA
no impairment identified with reference to the second hand RIEHR WELEZELILEF
market price of the club debenture as at the end of the H Z_F NG ERERRBE -

reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

The following is the analysis of the deferred tax assets

T

|
5
=
=
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20. FEERIBEEE (BFE)
T ARERIEEE (B1E) B -

(liabilities) for the financial reporting purposes: LAVEBA 53R 5 A i
2024 2023
HKS$'000 HK$'000
BT T BEET I
Deferred tax assets EIETRIBEE E 7,445 5,610
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIERE (3,933) (5,521)
3,512 89

The following are the major deferred tax assets (liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

REAFERBEFE BEHERINE
RREHBEE (BE) REZEHM

prior years: N

Accelerated

tax
depreciation Tax Losses Total
IEBLETE RIEEE wa
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T BT T
At 31 March 2022 20223 A31H (6,139) - (6,139)
Credit to profit or loss (note 8) &+ AB % (A7:£8) 638 5,588 6,226
Exchange realignment bE 3 AR = 2 2
At 31 March 2023 7R2023F3H31H (5,501) 5,590 89
Credit to profit or loss (note 8) 5+ A38%% (#77#8) 1,583 1,840 3,423
At 31 March 2024 M2024F3A31H (3,918) 7,430 3,512
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

20. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES)

21.

(Continued)
At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused

tax losses of approximately HK$67,180,000 (2023:
HK$45,364,000) available for offset against future profits.
A deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
approximately HK$29,723,000 (2023: HK$22,362,000) of such
losses. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect
of approximately HK$37,457,000 (2023: HK$23,002,000)
due to the unpredictability of future profit streams. Included
in the tax losses of approximately HK$34,557,000 (2023:
HK$22,362,000) that will expire in 2029 (2023: 2028),
approximately HK$22,839,000 (2023: HK$12,766,000) that
will be expired after three years from the year of assessment to
which they relate to, the remaining tax losses of approximately
HK$9,784,000 (2023: HK$10,236,000) may be carried
forward indefinitely.

20. EERIBEBEE (BE) @

RMEAR  AEEBEARSABE
&5 18 % #67,180,0007T (20234 :
#45,364,0007T) 7] A 7 #K 85 K 2R 5
F o BBz EE1E4%51%29,723,000
JC (20234 : B ¥22,362,0007T)
BRELEFIBEE - AR KK &
FREy Al FE R - E NS
¥37,457,0007C (20234 : & #&
23,002,0007T) FERRIEIE R 1B & = ©
FE#% 7A20294F (20234 : 2028%F) &
B B T B5 48 %) 78 #37,557,000T
(20234 : ##22,362,0007T) F -
#) 75 #22,839,0007T (20234 : /&
#12,766,0007T) #% 7F #8 B8 &7 Fi
ER=F®IEB EHRHEBIE
%) 75 #9,784,0007T (20234 : B &
10,236,0007T ) A & R HR 45 82 o

TRADE RECEIVABLES 21. EZEWRKIE
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Trade receivables H 5 W IE 182,337 132,534
Less: allowance for impairment loss OB E RS (1,331) (1,084)
181,006 131,450

At as 31 March 2024, the gross amount of trade receivable
arising from contracts with customers amounted to
approximately HK$182,337,000 (2023: HK$132,534,000).

The Group does not hold any collateral over these balances.

MR2024%F3A31H BEF A4
EXNESRKFEBRBEN LS
#182,337,0007T (20234 : &
132,534,0007T) °

AEEBERZFERFTHETME
Hom e

Yee Hop Holdings Limited #&ZKRARAR | IIIIEGEGEE—



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

21.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

For construction services, the Group does not have a
standardised and universal credit period granted to its
customers, and the credit period of individual customer is
considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the
project contract, as appropriate. The following is an aged
analysis of trade receivables, presented based on the certified
report which approximates revenue recognition date at the
end of each reporting period, and net of impairment loss
recognised:

21.

25 EWRRIE @)
MBLERS TS - AEEHEEE
REBMEEHETHES @5
EEMEEHMEEABRERR
RIERANFHET (WER) - B8
HEEME R AERABAS
X B R 2 51 8B 5 RE I KA 6
BRI (F1B B B 3R 10 V3L (65 18)
M

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT T BT T

0 to 30 days 0230H 69,807 91,616
31 to 60 days 31£60H 47,881 23,008
61 to 90 days 61£E90H 37,143 10,658
91 to 180 days 91£180H 8,444 796
181 to 365 days 1812365H 11,825 5,226
Over 365 days 365H A = 5,906 146
181,006 131,450

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The expected credit losses
on trade receivables are estimated by reference to past default
experience of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

As the Group’s historical credit loss experience does not
indicate significantly different loss patterns for different
customer segments in the segments of “Foundation and
other civil works” and “Tunneling works”, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between
the Group's different customer bases in the corresponding
segments.

AEEZESFRE2HRBEMEEESR
METBTEE S EUFIBENERE
w-BEHRERENBHREERSR
D2EBEBANBERENLR LY
BB ARIRITI BRI D T HETT
fBEr YREBANKFERER &
BARERETENERBEENRR
KRR E BB E R RIERM R TS
AE RS L A -

HRASENBEEEEBELRY
AR EREM T ARTIR] R[BEE
ITRITRAEE D BB RERTRE
BEX  ERABRRNEREE
TEE—FPRAKEEED BHT
REFHZERD
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. EFZEWRIE#)
There has been no change in the estimation techniques or RAREHRE  FERMKEZER
significant assumptions made during the current reporting BB o
period.
The Group recognised lifetime ECL for trade receivables based RNEFBREEBEARNEP K IEEEF
on individually significant customer or the ageing of customers EAREEARBIE AR KD
collectively that are not individually significant by using a BAZE S ERNZEN S EBEEE
provision matrix. B8 o
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount  allowance amount
¥

AHEER SREAE BERE SREFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000

As at 31 March 2024 R202453H318 BT BETRT BETT
Current (not past due) BIER (R A) 0.02% 117,709 21 117,688
Less than 3 month past due BHEDR3ME A 0.05% 53,832 29 53,803
More than 3 months but less % #i#A1@3{E A8 4>
than 6 months past due 76fE A 9.07% 3,969 360 3,609
175,510 410 175,100
Individually assessed (EGIERES 13.49% 6,827 921 5,906
182,337 1,331 181,006
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESEBWRE®
Weighted
average Gross Net
expected carrying Loss carrying
loss rate amount allowance amount
e
HHEEE REAE sk REFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
As at 31 March 2023 7202363 A31H AT T BT BETT
Current (not past due) BN (R ER) 0.00% 121,727 5 121,722
Less than 3 month past due BE D R3ME A 0.03% 3,605 1 3,604
More than 3 months but less ~ #1 #8318 A8
than 6 months past due D6(E A 7.29% 6,447 470 5,977
More than 9 months but B AR EIE AR
less than 12 months past L1218 A
due 67.48% 452 305 147
132,231 781 131,450
Individually assessed (EhERR R 100% 303 303 =
132,534 1,084 131,450
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

21. TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued) 21. ESERFRIE @)
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of trade B RBAIEREEERZRENES
receivables is set out below: AT :
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
1 April 4H1H 1,084 2,117
Impairment losses recognised BB R R ()
(reversed) 247 (1,033)
31 March 3H31H 1,331 1,084
22. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE 22. ERERKAE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Fixed-rate loan and interest receivable  fEU [E F 5| &R B R & A8 - 20,336
Less: allowance for impairment loss B EEE B - (595)
- 19,741
As at 31 March 2023, included in the loan and interest M202343A318 @ B E & & F
receivable was principal amount and interest receivable of E'\Efﬁgqﬁl\—ffﬁgﬁ’&ﬂﬁ’i$§&
approximately HK$18,000,000 (2024 nil) and HK$2,336,000 %'Jm\n ;”;‘J #@/ﬁ %18‘,00”0,000% (202_4
(2024: nil) respectively from a related company, which was i ﬁéﬁ@gﬂ:) &’_% M%’BG;OOO?E
e ' (20245 : BEZTT) - ZERER
unsecured, carried fixed interest rate of 6.0% per annum and I R R B6.0% 0 O RE
fully settled during the ended 31 March 2024. Z=20244%38318 IFEE KD 81
% o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

22. LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE (Continued)  22. EIREF R FIE (@)

The Group measured the loss allowance for loan and interest AEERBEERNREABEHREES
receivable at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. As at 31 B S RBEERIKE R R ERT E
March 2023, in determining the expected credit losses, B &S BB E - 7202338318
the directors of the Company have taken into account the HEBRHEEBER AQAES
financial position of the counterparty, considering various ARRGBFANFHEMRR  EE
external sources of actual and forecast economic information, BRI RIR A BB R TR LS
as appropriate. B (@A) -
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of loan FEWE R R F SR EE B BN S
and interest receivable is set out below: BEHNMAT :
2023
HK$'000
BT T
1 April 2022 2022F4H1H 835
Amount reversed during the year FARE SR (240)
31 March 2023 2023%3A31H 595
Amount reversed during the year FRELO R (595)
31 March 2024 2024F3A31H -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES

(@) Contract assets

23. EHNEERGNARE
(@) EHEE

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Analysed as current: DHBRE :
Retention receivables of EREANERRE S
construction contracts (note a) (B1ita) 86,507 83,336
Unbilled revenue of construction FEEE& #) 7 RBEEE 2
contracts (note b) Iz (HiEb) 74,271 52,166
160,778 135,502
Less: allowance for impairment & : JE{E &5 18 #5
loss (135) =
160,643 135,502
Notes: Bt
(@) Retention receivables included in contract assets represent (@ FIAARHNEEZREWRESE
the Group's right to receive consideration for work REBEFEBHTRBEARE
performed because the rights are conditional on the ZRER - REAZEEERN AR
satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a ERFREHARTE —EHMEAE
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract REEERTMERAAIE
assets are transferred to the trade receivables when the rights T o AEBRMNTZIEGR
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date Bl CAERAEEREAEEFHR
of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on EEETIENREESRME
the service quality of the construction work performed by the BRzEBEERBE) &4
Group. The due dates for retention receivables are usually EEQEBEE HRKEIE -
one to two years after the completion of construction work. EURESZZIBABE AE
RIRTIR—EMEF -
(b)  Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the by FTABRHBEZARBEEZW

Group's right to receive consideration for work completed
but not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon
the satisfaction by the customers on the construction work
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the
certification by the customers. The contract assets are
transferred to the trade receivables when the rights become
unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group
obtains the certification of the completed construction work
from the customers.

smIEAREFE TR IE M AR B
REZ TRKEBREZER
REZERENAGFEFEHA
SEMTREETERTHE
BOAFEREABIRARS
PR - i A48 B A TS5
HRE (EHAERRTES
FERRETERGREFLR
) AHNEESHEBERS
FEUFRIA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 23. BHEEREGHNERE®W
LIABILITIES (Continued)
(a) Contract assets (Continued) (a) EHEEHE)
Contract assets are included in current assets as BHEERRBEENTER -
the Group expects to realise these within its normal REARAREETEHANE T & &
operating cycle. BEANBRZEEE °
The estimated recovery or billing for contract assets as at 202449 K20234F3H318 -
31 March 2024 and 2023 is as follows: A #E E RS FT U D ok 7 B
RAT :
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Within one year —F R 141,055 114,464
Over one year iBm—F 19,588 21,038
160,643 135,502
The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of AHEEREBEREZSDE
contract assets is set out below: T
HK$'000
BT T
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 2022%F4H18 &2023%F3A31H =
Amount recognised during the year FANERLHE 135
31 March 2024 2024%3H31H 135
The Group measures the loss allowance for contract 20244 K202343AH318 -
assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECL at 31 March AEBZBENRZHBEHEE
2024 and 2023. EENSETEANEENE
B -

I —— A\nnual Report 2023/24 R 161



AAVAVAVATAVAYATE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

23. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (Continued)

23. GEHNEERGHNER®

(b) Contract liabilities EHEaE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Construction services (note a) ERERS (Hita) 48,043 1,802
Premises revitalisation and MEFRFR
enhancement 1,083 856
49,126 2,658
Note: Biat -

(a) The excess of cumulative billings for construction work
over the cumulative revenue recognised in profit or loss is
recognised as contract liabilities.

Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 March
2024 that was included in the contract liabilities as at 1
April 2023 is approximately HK$2,658,000 (2023: nil).
There was no revenue recognised in the current year that
related to performance obligations that were satisfied in
a prior year.

@ NESEIZEIERFER
HARWEN O ERRA
wafmk-

H E2024F3A31H L F B #E
RE Wz FT AR2023F4H1H
& B ELNAB2,658,000
JC (20234 : &) - XEEHR
BREFF—FEERITERNE
FHEBEKE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

24. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER 24 BT -FANRERHAME
RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT BRI\ BEBER
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables BRE - ANRERHEAERKIE
The following is an analysis of deposits, prepayments and RERERK - e  BEIRER
other receivables at the end of each reporting period: HAib e IER DA T

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Other receivables H th & W kA 7,815 9,056
Loss: allowance for impairment loss R EEE B (829) (918)
6,986 8,138
Deposits e 12,873 10,736
Long term deposit RS 12,786 13,552
Prepayments for suppliers & 7 O FB 1~ FR0E 4,764 5,512
37,409 37,938
Amount shown under non-current FERBEEE NI T~&H
assets (12,786) (13,552)
Amount shown under current assets ~ RENEEIE NI RS E 24,623 24,386
The Group measures the loss allowance for deposits and other AEERBEERNRERAEHEES
receivables at an amount equal to 12-month ECL. There has BB ERe R E A EWRHKIE
been no change in the estimation technique or significant EIEREH N AREHEE - BTk
assumptions made during the current reporting period. firsk BEARB R EE1L o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

24,

25.

DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES/PLEDGED DEPOSIT (Continued)
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables
(Continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment loss of
deposits and other receivables is set out below:

24,

BE BAANRERHME
WRIE,BERAER @
Be - BARARH b ERRR
()

2 T 1t 8 M R TR 1 (LA 9 5
BEHEBHMT :

HK$'000

BT

At 1 April 2022 7K2022F4 718 156
Increase during the year F NI 762
At 31 March 2023 72023F3A31H 918
Decrease during the year FRRD (89)
At 31 March 2024 7202453 H31H 829

Pledged deposit

Pledged deposit represents deposit pledged to borrower to
secure facilities granted to the Group. Deposit amounting
to approximately HK$39,286,000 (31 March 2023:
HK$39,814,000) have been pledged to secure long-term
borrowing amounting to approximately HK$39,286,000 (31
March 2023: HK$38,209,000) and are therefore classified as
non-current assets. The pledged deposit carried fixed interest
rate which range from 4.85% to 5.25% (31 March 2023:
4.85% to 5.25%) per annum.

BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances earned interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates which range from 0.01% to 5.19% (2023:
0.01% to 1.2%) per annum.

25.

2EFER
EEFTHRRERBTFERANTE
FOLEAEBERERE - NBK
39,286,0007T (202343 A311H :
#39,814,0007T) K17 3k E EHE 1 A
Y18 4978 39,286,0007T (202343
H318 : % #38,209,0007T) & & Hf
BE ARSBERIRBEE -
ERETHROETFFE B485%E
5.25% (2023%3H31H : 4.85% %
5.25%) °

RITEBRERS

RITHEBBETARITERMNERE
FENFENFEFE0.01%E5.19%
(2023 : 0.01% £1.2%) BEFIE °
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

26. TRADE AND RETENTION PAYABLES

The following is an analysis of trade and retention payables at

26.

T

EZERNREARENRES
REME MK - B 58 KB R

the end of each reporting period: HIRESH T -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT T
Trade payables B S RN HIA 63,657 56,485
Retention payables JERHRE & 41,595 32,011
105,252 88,496

The average credit period on purchases of goods is from 30 to
180 days (2023: 30 to 180 days). The Group has financial risk
management policies in place to ensure that all payables are
settled within the credit timeframe. The following is the aged
analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date

KEEmmFEHEERA302180H
(20234 : 301808 ) ° ANEE P 4
AU BRBREEBRRABRAARE
NZEBREESHRALS NS
A BHEMTOEEEZASHF

at the end of the reporting period: BHREROITAT -
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
0 to 90 days 0£90H 57,402 48,164
91 to 180 days 912180H 3,243 5,357
181 to 365 days 1812365H 137 2,115
Over 365 days 365H M 2,875 849
63,657 56,485
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

27. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 27. BrrERARE MBI

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT

Accruals fEstE M 21,317 12,810

Other payables (Note (3)) o B 3R IE (B 57 (a)) 13,070 9,921

34,387 22,731

Note: Kt -

a) As at 31 March 2024, included in other payable of approximately a) 20243 4318 + 4975 %6,318,000
HK$6,318,000 (2023: HK$6,597,000) is payable to a director of JC (20234 : #%6,597,0007T) ) E
a subsidiary of the Company, which is unsecured, non-interest HENFEREEER T ERA
bearing and repayable on demand. RERERNENAR R BB

RAZ —BERNFIA -

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 28. RITREMEE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT
Bank borrowings, guaranteed (note (i) R1TEE - SIER (47:3)) 14,903 42,082
Other borrowings, secured (note (i) — HAibEE - B (472£3)) 39,286 38,209
Other borrowings, unsecured HEMEE - SR (5 200)
(note (iii)) 42,702 41,968
Total other borrowings Hin§ 58 81,988 80,177
96,891 122,259
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 28. RITR

Based on the scheduled repayment dates set out in the
loan agreements and ignore the effect of any repayment on
demand clause as follows:

REER

By 48 -
«‘?Vgé- .

HtfE & (=)
R AR

BRHEHE
I 2B LA T (E ] 3% B SR E 2 KR

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Within 1 year —F N 57,767 42,417
Between 1 and 2 years —EMF 37,938 34,887
Between 2 and 5 years —EhRF 1,186 44,955
96,891 122,259
Carrying amount of bank borrowings 78 245 Hi R 2
and other borrowings that are not —FREENHRITEE
repayable within one year from the K E A {8 B BRE(E -
end of the reporting period but S B IEERKEBIEK
contain a repayment on demand
clause - 14,567
Carrying amount of bank borrowings 78R & HAR AL 5T —
and other borrowings that are FRNEEMIE
repayable within one year from the BB SREEIETRE
end of the reporting period and RITERERAMEER
contain a repayment on demand Z RHEE
clause 1,333 27,515
Carrying amount repayable within one —EXNEZERIBE
year and do not contain repayment REBREEIETH
on demand clause AREE 56,434 12,577
Carrying amount that are not BEAR—FNEER
repayable within one year and do TEEREXRER
not contain repayment on demand G A EREE
clause 39,124 67,600
96,891 122,259
Amounts shown under current MEEEE TR
liabilities C7feag= (57.767) (54,659)
Amounts shown under non-current ERBEEE TR
liabilities kg 39,124 67,600
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

28. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 28. BITREMEE

168

Notes:

(i) The bank borrowings of approximately HK$1,333,000 (2023:
HK$24,746,000) were denominated in HK$ carrying interest at
variable-rate with an interest rate of 3-month Hong Kong Interbank
Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 2.75% (2023: HIBOR plus 1% to
2.75%) per annum, guaranteed by the Company and certain
subsidiaries. It also consists of approximately HK$13,570,000 (2023:
HK$17,336,000) denominated in RMB carrying interest at fixed-rate
between 4.85% and 5.20% (2023: 4.85% and 5.20%) per annum,
guaranteed by certain subsidiaries in PRC.

(ii) As at 31 March 2024, other borrowings of approximately
HK$39,286,000 (equivalent to RMB36,423,000) (2023:
HK$38,209,000 (equivalent to RMB33,423,000)) are secured
by deposit of approximately HK$39,286,000 (equivalent
to RMB36,423,000) (2023: HK$38,209,000 (equivalent to
RMB33,423,000)) and carried fixed interest rate of 8% (31 March
2023: 8%) per annum.

(i) The other borrowing from an associate of approximately
HK$42,702,000 (equivalent to GBP4,322,000) (2023:
HK$41,968,000 (equivalent to GBP4,322,000) is unsecured,
non-interest bearing and repayable at the discretion of the Group.

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group obtained
new borrowings of approximately HK$7,848,000 (2023:
HK$88,944,000). The proceeds were used to finance the
Group’s operations.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group has the following undrawn
borrowing facilities.

Bz

(i) #9785 #1,333,0007T (20234 : B8
24,746,0007T) MR 17 18 B LAB &
FTE - R=EANBEBRITAZENR
B ([BEBEITAERS]) FFEN
2.75% (2023%F : EFRITRFEF L
ERNRIN1%ZE2.75% ) B F B F =5t
B AARARIRE THBRGER -
H JR B8 15 4975 13,570,000t (2023
4 5 #17,336,0007T) * AA R
FHE - IR E 7 F 7 £4.85%E5.20%
(20234 : 4.85%%5.20% ) 5t & * B
HEFHEMBARREER-

(i) M2024%3A31H  HhEE Y
7 #39,286,0007T (1% R
#36,423,0007T) (202
#38,209,0007T (B E B
33,423,0007T)) FA £V 7% #39,286,000
T (& N AR #®36,423,0007T)
(20234 : # 38,209,000 (HE
AR #33,423,0007T) ) B9 77 FRAEHE
- 3 32 B 4 F %£8% (202343 A
31H : 8%)5t 8 °

(i) KEBMLITZEMEELNEE
42,702,0007T (1A% 7°4,322,00054£%)
(20234 : ##41,968,0007T (HER
4,322,000% 6%)) AEE T T5T 2
kAAEERIEREEE -

HE2024%F3A831BItFEARN > K
%= B BB 5 B 495 7,848,000
(20234 : #188,944,0007T) ° Ff
BREREAAEBEERSA

R2024F3A31H  "REBHBIAT X
REMEERE -

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

Floating rate expiring within one year ~ — % N B IR ¥ B AR5 2 183,597 174,247

As at 31 March 2024, the Group's bank borrowings with
carrying amount of HK$1,333,000 (2023: HK$24,746,000)
are subject to the fulfillment of covenants relating to certain of
the Group’s financial ratios. If the Group were to breach the
covenants the drawn down facilities would become payable
on demand. The Group regularly monitors its compliance with
these covenants. Further details of the Group’s management
of liquidity risk are set out in note 33. As at 31 March 2024,
none of the covenants relating to drawn down facilities had
been breached (31 March 2023: nil).

M2024F3A318  AEBRE & HE
/5 78 #1,333,0007T (20234 : B
24,746,0007T) MIR{TiE B /AEFH
AEEETHHELEFBNRER
o WEAERERMERS Bt
BHBEGERBARERER K
EETHENLETHEZRENS
M- BEAEBERERHELER
B3 — B EF B #5233 - 102024
F3A31H - HERIMEEHENR
VMg N (2023F3H310 - &) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

29.

30.

AMOUNT(S) DUE FROM (TO) JOINT
OPERATIONS/A RELATED COMPANY

The amounts due from joint operations were trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.
The Group allows an average credit period of 180 days to its
joint operations.

The amount due to a related company was non-trade nature,
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

The Group measures the loss allowance for amounts due
from joint operations at an amount equal to 12-month ECL.
The management considered that the amounts due from
joint operations to be low credit risk and no recent history of
default, and thus no impairment losses recognised during the
years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023.

LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
Obligation to long service payments (“LSP") under
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance

Pursuant to the Employment Ordinance, Chapter 57, the
Group has the obligation to pay LSP to employees in Hong
Kong under certain circumstances, subject to a minimum
of 5 years employment period, based on this formula: Last
monthly wages (before termination of employment) x
2/3 x Years of service. Last monthly wages are capped at
HK$22,500 while the amount of long service payment shall
not exceed HK$390,000. This obligation is accounted for as a
post-employment defined benefit plan.

Furthermore, the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance passed in 1995 permits the Group to utilise the
Group’s Mandatory Provident Fund contributions, plus/minus
any positive/negative returns thereof (collectively, the “Eligible
Offset Amount”), for the purpose of offsetting LSP payable
to an employee (the “Offsetting Arrangement”).

29.

30.

W () & XK —8
A2 1 =] Y I
BRAEEBRABRSILE - &
IR TH B REERMEE A%
EETHASEBIS0AMTHER
5 -

BN —RBEEARREBIHFES
g EER TEHERREREE -

AREBAREN12E BFBHEEE
BHSHETERIKAE 2 EBFEN
EERE - TEERE BRAEZE
¥BRENEERRBRRIE  BinH
I 48 32 4950 6% 0 B I R B 220245
F2023F3A31H EFERITERER
RIEEE -

RABRBEEE
BEER(EBHEID THRARE S
((REBRHE]) EE

RIEE B XD ESTE RIFBIESF) -
AEBEEAEETHERATZNE
HR%e TEBREE HAEXE
KL RF  ERBEARFGE : (K
IHERERD &EBE—RBANIE x 2/3
X RIBFE - &E—RAITES
#22,500t & LR - M RHAKRBG &
S EE T 3R B B 390,0005T ° 2 &
FERBEBERER/MEIALKR -

S - 19955 BB R (s il 1t AT
EFFEIGIDAFASESAAEE
B 58 B RS R I REAE
fIIE/BER (5HEA & ERIEH
T8 AEEEMESNRBR
Be (EERHED -
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e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

30. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
(Continued)

Obligation to long service payments (“LSP") under

Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Continued)

The Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022 (the
“Amendment Ordinance”) was gazetted on 17 June 2022,
which will eventually abolish the Offsetting Arrangement. The
Amendment Ordinance will come into effect prospectively
from 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”). Under the
Amendment Ordinance, the Eligible Offset Amount after the
Transition Date can only be applied to offset the pre-Transition
Date LSP obligation but no longer eligible to offset the
post-Transition Date LSP obligation. Furthermore, the LSP
obligations before the Transition Date will be grandfathered
and calculated based on the last monthly wages immediately

preceding the Transition Date.

As at 31 March 2024, the LSP obligation is HK$1,570,000

(2023: HK$1,315,000) and presented on a net basis.

Movement of present value of provision for long service

payment obligations is as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

30. RERKEEEFE @

EB(EBHFA) THRBKRKES
(TRERK£]) EF#E)
202266 178 @ (2022F & B &
RIRETEVED (R HE) (BFT) &
By (MEFTIRAI)) FIE - ERKEE
BB S 2 BE - (UEETIR P 1§ & R
2025518 ([EH B ) &R R E
FEER - BIBUSETRG) - R
FIEEMNEEREKESBETAR
EHEF AN ERERBSE L
mMTBAEEREHEEH AR R
RS EE- o BHARMHE
HEBecEEBeESHE MR
EBEZEERESARE—@ANTE
o

MR2024F3A31H » REIRRE S &L
/575 #1,570,0007T (20234 : B #&
1,315,0007T) @ EIFREE AT TR o

FRHRBeEANBREREZDN
T

2024 2023

HK$'000 HK$'000

BET T BT T

At 1 April M4B18 1,315 673
Charged to profit or loss BEZR 255 642
At 31 March M3A31H 1,570 1,315
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

30. LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS 30. REBRBEELE @
(Continued)
Obligation to long service payments (“LSP”) under EE(EBREA THRERKE S
Hong Kong Employment Ordinance (Continued) (RHREL]) EE@E)
The provision represents the management’s best estimate of BEREEENMENREAREEH
the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period. As at B BB REMET o 7020245F 2023
31 March 2024 and 2023, the amount is calculated based on F3A31H «BIRETREER
the principal assumptions stated as below: ®ETH
2024 2023
Salary inflation rate FegRx 5% 5%
Discount rate Prif = 3.52%-4.14% 3.01%-3.33%
The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of AETRMNECRENKIHBEER
the defined benefit obligation was carried out as at 31 March EREEDCEBEM AR AR K2024
2024 and 2023 by Graval Consulting Limited. The present FN2023F3A31HETT - KEEHW
value of the defined benefit obligation of the Group was AEEMNEARBERABHEME
measured using the projected unit credit method. FUERTE o
31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BA&
Number of
shares  Share capital
gl 4=] [N
HK$'000
BT T
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each TR EE B #¥0.01TH
ZER
Authorised EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and 7202244 A 18 - 20234
2024 202493 H31H 1,560,000,000 15,600
Issued and fully paid ERITRHE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and R2022F4 818 ~ 2023%F
2024 }2024%F3H318 500,000,000 5,000
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

32. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 32. EXEREE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group's
overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank and other
borrowings disclosed in note 28, lease liabilities disclosed in
note 15, bank balances and cash disclosed in note 25, and
equity attributable to the owners of Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on
a semi-annual basis. As part of this review, the directors of the
Company consider the cost of capital and the risks associated
with each class of capital. Based on the recommendations
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through the payment of dividends
and new share issues as well as the issue of new debt or the
redemption of existing debt

AEEERELN BRAKENE
BEAKELE RAKBEBRI(E
1% R A A B R A R Y [ A A
AEENBBRBESEZFRERST

REBEE AN B IR 28R
BRORTREMER M E15AE
BHEERE 25K E MR
THRHEERES  URARABHEE A
fEiGtEs (BRIED BITRARHE)

RRABEZBFFEERHNEARE -
EREFENN—MD  ARAES
EEEARAREEEEREBN
kg REARFEENEZZ
SEBERERRNBRE REITH
B AREBETHEGXBERRERE
B EEERBEARRE -

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 33. £ T A
Categories of financial instruments TRMIANSE
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Financial assets EREE
At amortised cost (including DA S5 A AR B TR
bank balances and cash) (BRFETEHEAS) 428,613 357,902
Financial liabilities SHEaE
Financial liabilities stated at DA 885 5 AR 51 TR BY
amortised cost TRAR 241,114 236,980
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. £ T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies BERREEBZERBUR

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include TEENFZEcHEERBERE
pledged deposit, amounts due from joint operations, trade EEFTENR EREEEBHRIE -
receivables, deposits and other receivables, loan and interest Z 5 EWHIE - ke & E b U
receivable, bank balances and cash, trade and retention H EREREFE - RITEHE
payables, accruals and other payables, amount due to a Re EHENFEREMRES
related company and bank and other borrowings. Details of et E R R E A REAMNRIE - BN —
these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. M 8 & 2 B 5RIA LA R 1T R E A fE
The risks associated with these financial instruments included E-ZEem T ANFI1E N8B
market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and HEPER -HEZEeMIABEN
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are [\ B B 45 T 9% R B (5 @ B e ) 2
set out below. The management manages and monitors these Rg) - EERRRTEE S @b -
exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented AARDAR 32 R BV I R H R T3 o
on a timely and effective manner. EREEEERERZEMEENR

B DARER B R A BT EETT
BB -

Market risk e

(i) Currency risk () E%EE
Each individual group entity has its own functional BEEENEEERIEED
currency. Foreign exchange risk to each individual group M EE - BERXHE R
entity arises when transactions or recognised assets or WEENBEUIFEEIEE
liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the BNEEHER S5EEE
entity’s functional currency. The Group operates mainly GELIINERR AEEFE
in Hong Kong, the PRC and the Philippines. EES  HERFEEFLE -

I Annual Report 2023724 R 173



174

AT AT AT ATANATAT

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T A s
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERBEEEERBEK (B
(Continued)
Market risk (Continued) TR B (E)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) () EEEEE)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency R EBE - AEBAINEF
denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are BENEEEEMNEREERT :
as follows:
Assets Liabilities
BE 8E&
2024 2023 2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$'000
BETT A¥Tr BETr BT
us$ e 901 1,000 - -
GBP HEE 74,519 69,551  (42,702)  (41,968)
RMB AR 73,223 70,102 (60,957) (67,438)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, management monitors foreign
exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to US$, GBP and RMB.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for US$, as HK$ is
pegged to USS.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a
5% (2023: 5%) increase and decrease in HK$ against
the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2023: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible
change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated
monetary items, and adjusts their translation at the end
of the reporting period for a 5% (2023: 5%) change in
foreign currency rates.

A positive (negative) number below indicates an increase
(a decrease) in post-tax profit where HK$ strengthen 5%
against the relevant currency. For a 5% weakening of
HK$ against the relevant currency, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the profit or loss.

A& E B AT SN 0 I
WA BEEEGEEIIE
Rk X eEFERE B+
BERIMNER R o

BURE D
AEBEIREEET  RER
ARKERR -

R R E T E e - Fib
I 48 Bt 55 7T A BL B E D AT ©

TRFVIAEE AL NI
HNEE I8 10 K2R 5% (20234F ¢
5% ) KIBRKE ° 5% (20234 :
5%) TyAE M EZBERAB R
2 GNEE [ B B T A M BURRE
LER - R 1R E N ETE R &Y
AEATREE L 2T - BURE
DMEBEREEZENINEE
EHIBE WRBREHARIN
P R 2 {L5% (2023%F : 5%)
FABHBRE o

THHE(R)BFRTEE R
1E B E T ES % R B R 0R
FSE 0 O D) o an7EH 5 AR RS
ERERE%  MeHEsE
EHRFNERTE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

(i)

. ERTITHE

HMEEREEREERBEEE)

Market risk (Continued) B R (E)
Currency risk (Continued) () EEEEE)
Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BREE DT (B)
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Effect on post-tax profit HBRRE G NFE
GBP HEE (1,328) (1,152)
RMB AR (512) (111)
Interest rate risk (i) FIEE R

(ii)

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate lease liabilities, pledged deposits
and bank borrowings (see notes 15, 24 and 28 for
details). The Group currently does not have an interest
rate hedging policy. However, the management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider other
necessary action when significant interest rate exposure
is anticipated.

The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to bank balances and variable-rate bank
borrowing (see notes 25 and 28 respectively). It is the
Group's policy to keep its borrowing at floating rate of
interests so as to minimise the fair value interest rate
risk.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial
liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate
risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of Hong
Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR").

rEBEHEEHETEHEES
&  BEEBTERRRITEE (5
15 B M 5E15 ~ 24%28) B9 A F
BENMERER - AEE B 77
FIRE SRR - Rifn > BIEE
BRI REA R - WA TER
IR B K F R @R B E B H At

REE -

AEENEREBRTESR
FRRITEENRSRRAE
A& (5 5 B M 3E25%28) o &
EEMEE TR BEE
BEREAFEFEEAR -

AEEHBRNTRE BN ERE
REFRRANERSE S AR
EE—f - AKBENRERE
MNEEBREZEPFRBBRT
RZEFRE ([EBBITEER
B KE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i) Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-derivative
instruments at the end of the reporting period. The
analysis is prepared assuming the financial instruments
outstanding at the end of the reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 basis points (2023:
10 basis points) increase or decrease is used when
reporting interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment of

the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 10 basis points (2023: 10
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 March 2024 would increase/decrease by
approximately HK$46,000 (2023: HK$24,000). This is
mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates on its bank balances and variable-rate bank

borrowing.

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2024, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due
to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is
arising from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of

financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination of
credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures
to ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider

that the Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued)

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has
applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. The Group determines the ECL
on an individual basis for customer with significant balances
and/or collectively by using a provision matrix, estimated based
on historical credit loss experience, as well as the general
economic conditions of the industry in which the debtors

operate.

The credit risk of other financial assets is managed through an
internal process. The Group closely monitors the outstanding
amounts of other financial assets at amortised costs and
identifies any credit risk in a timely manner in order to reduce
the risk of a credit related loss. In this regard, the directors
of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by

international credit-rating agencies.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. £ T A %)
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE (&)
The Group's exposure to credit risk K B E G A 15 B R
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises AEBERREERRERERSE
the following categories: AT #4851 -
Category Description Basis for recognising ECL
Al ut BAAHEEFRNEE
Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of 12-month ECL

default or has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition and that are
not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
Rif REHNRBKBNAEREEERBRABEXN 128 AR B EE &R
EMEFEERENEREE (BRE—MBR)

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a Lifetime ECL — not credit impaired
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition but that are not credit impaired (refer
to as Stage 2)

A] &t BYAEREEERREEEREMKIFREE >HBEBEEEE - BEERE
BENEMEE (BRE_BR)

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired Lifetime ECL — credit impaired
when one or more events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

EHX) E-HENZHEEMHHEENMGTARARRERE 2HEBEEER - HREERE
EETHZER  eREEANTHREERE
(BRE=FEEKR)

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in Amount is written off

severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

i sH BETFRKRABEABARENTBRE - B TXIE B 3
REBWEFRIEN R BB
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. R T A %)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group's exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and contract
assets, as well as the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
by credit risk grades are disclosed in respective notes.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 23% (2023: 9%)
and 63% (2023: 42%) of the total trade receivables was due
from the Group’s largest debtor and the five largest debtors
respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2023:
100%) of the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2024.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by the management to finance the Group's
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowing and ensures compliance with loan covenants.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023 the Group had not breached
any of the covenant clauses of its borrowings (note 28).

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual
maturity for its financial liabilities and lease liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. The table has been drawn up
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities
based on the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank borrowings with a repayment
on demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to exercise
their rights within one year after the reporting date. The table
includes both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted amount
is derive from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

HMEEREEREERBEEE)

FEmELE (&)

A E B g e 1= B AL ()
AEENEREENANEENE
EER UERAKEZEERRSE
A B A (S B R e 0 4R R BT RE AP R

Eo

HM23% (20234 : 9% ) K%63%
(2023%F : 42% ) M B 5 B FRIA 4
BHORERAEBRRRKESAR
AREBANKE HWAEEHRSE
EREERR -

AEBZMWEBMES HHEERR
EFRREE  (ER2024F3H31H
H 5 EN B AREE100% (20234
100%) °

mBELmE

EERRDESRRE  AEEHE
EREREEER/EANRE R
BeEEY UREKEEMNEKE
HES WHERSRERINE
Z-EREERERITERXNER -
I FEOR 8 5 B R o

20244 2023383180 - AEE
WEEREMEAEE (F7E28) 8
UMEFK ©

TRFAMAEEC 5 5E EE GRA
THABEREEAEMNHRTEOE
HIB - ZRBEAKEAIRKRERX
MHRFERZESHABRMER
ERERHE -REME  @BERT
BRI EERRE HRR—FRT
EERER - BB R B R EE R
MIRITEEDNHFAZFORER -
ZRBEMNERAERERE - R
REHR - WASRERZBFE -
AIRBER S BRIBEAN R E -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 33. €@ T A%
Financial risk management objectives and policies MERREEEERBEK(E)
(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBE LA (E)
Weighted Within Total
Average  Tyearoron Morethan  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate demand  1to2years  2to5years Syears  cash flows amount
B2 FiRRE
Liquidity table ik} 6 nEFHHE REX 122F 1358 RiEsE it LAl
% HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
BT ELA BELR BT ELA BETR
At 31 March 2024 H0AE3A31A
Trade and retention payables BHENTERERRES NIAFRER 105,252 - - - 105,252 105,252
Accuals and other pajebles Eir 8 R RAREME NATER 34,387 - - - 34387 34,387
Amount due toarelated company B -EBEAT3E NIATER 4,584 - - - 4,584 4,584
Bank and other borrowings (ote)  FTREMEE W) 485t0Z 8,00 61,182 40,809 1,235 - 103,226 96,891
205,405 40,809 1,235 - U709 W14
Lease lablis HEEE 270102 7.8 B8 38,555 129435 s 383534 3.4
At 31 March 2023 2335318
Trade and retention payables LREMTERENRES AN 88,4% = - - 83,49 88,4%
Accruals and other payables EAERRAERNTA NARER 0731 - - - 073 0731
Amount due to arclated company R —HEEA A NARER 349 - - - 349 3494
Bank and other borowings (note )~ HARA fEE (H) 2512 800 45845 36,581 45000 - 127,446 122,159
160,566 %581 8500 - 1,167 23650
Lease ablts HEER 2802788 45,001 4513 144780 301 167957 336470
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

33. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)
Notes:

Bank borrowings with a repayment on demand clause are included
in the “within one year or on demand” time band in the above
maturity analysis. At 31 March 2024, the aggregate principal
amount of the bank borrowings amounted to approximately
HK$1,333,000 (2023: HK$42,082,000). Taking into account
the Group’s financial position, the directors of the Company do
not believe that it is probable that the banks will exercise their
discretionary rights to demand immediate repayment. The directors
of the Company believe that the bank borrowings will be repaid
by monthly installments after the end of the reporting period in
accordance with the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements. At that time, the aggregate principal and interest cash
outflows will amount to HK$1,350,000 (2023: HK$44,004,000).

ii. The amounts included above for variable interest rate instruments
for financial liabilities are subject to change if changes in variable
interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined

at the end of the reporting period.

Fair value measurement objective and policies

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities are
determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing
models based on discounted cash flow analysis using prices
or rates from observable current market transactions as input.
Where Level 1 inputs are not available, the management
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs for

fair value measurement.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets, and financial liabilities
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial

statements approximate to their fair values.

33.

€RIEm
MEERETEEERKE (&)

BB AR (E)
Wit -

M A R Bk EEIE R RITE
EREXRHBSITERASHAT—
F RN IR Bk AR B ° K2024
F3A31A BOEEZASHLE
#9755 #1,333,0007T (20234 @ B #
42,082,0007T) ° & & B K & & &9 Bf
BT - RAREEL TR BIRITA
BETTHEERBEREERNREEE -
ARIEEHERITEEBKRBEXR
BEAHTEEERRRERERR
BEADHEE - ER ASREK
FILEIR & #% & 7% %1,350,0007T
(20234 : 5 #44,004,0007T) °

i B EZEBENRERREE
ARG AR B LR e s SR
BENFPNETASENSEE -

AFHEITEBEERHE
TREERERBENAFEIR
BAREEBRA RBEMREBRNK
ABRBEMERXZ MR RE AR
BEHNMBARSREDNMETE - H
BRAESS —MBARE  AlEE
JBI&MEE M ERM LA B
AERFE -

ARBEERE NEAMBREK
NILBEHRARNAROEM SR EE
Re@BENREERELQFEMR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

34. COMMITMENTS 34. A&
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BET T BT T
Capital commitments contracted for — BtLA T & IBR 4GRS B 7%
but not provided in the consolidated ¥R 2 5T 4B R B
financial statements in respect of: B AR
— Renovation of investment — R A
properties 32,376 50,039
— Acquisition of plant and — YR Bs K R
equipment 829 496
33,205 50,535

35. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided

the following guarantees:

35. AAEE

RmEMR - NREEFLATHER -

2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Guarantees in respect of performance  FtEARFENHEZF
bonds in favor of its clients BZam AER 81,452 80,303

In the opinion of the directors of the Company, it was not
probable that a claim would be made against the Group under

the performance bonds guarantees.

ARREERR REBORERE
RAAREEEHBARNAEETK -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

36. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Equity-settled share option schemes of the
Company

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Scheme”), was
adopted pursuant to a written resolution of the Company
passed on 25 November 2015 for the primary purpose of
providing incentives to directors and eligible employees,
and will expire on 24 November 2025. Under the Scheme,
the board of directors of the Company may grant options
to eligible employees, including directors of the Company
and its subsidiaries, to subscribe for shares in the Company.
Additionally, the Company may, from time to time, grant
share options to outside third parties for settlement in respect

of goods or services provided to the Company.

The total number of shares in respect of which options may
be granted under the Scheme is not permitted to exceed 10%
of the shares of the Company in issue at any point in time,
without prior approval from the Company’s shareholders. The
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to any individual in any
one year is not permitted to exceed 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue during any 12-month period, without prior

approval from the Company’s shareholders.

Options may be exercised at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from
the offer date subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof, and provided that the Board may determine the
minimum period for which an option has to be held or other
restrictions before its exercise. The exercise price is determined
by the directors of the Company, and will not be less than
the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of grant; (ii) the average closing price of the shares
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of

grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

No share option has been granted since the Scheme has been
adopted. As at 31 March 2024, there are no outstanding

share options issued under the Scheme (2023: nil).

36. LR BERNZNARS

RNA T H B A SR R T E

ARARR BT 8 ([ZEtE) Ty
R A N A R2015%F11 8258 £
TRMEERAERESIREER
BEMNEERERETEML R
2025% 11 248 5 88 - B EZ &t
g -ARREEEMEERESR
(BRARIREWNBARES) K
LSRR LA RIB AR A% o FHLt
KRR AR EINEE = IR E
A A LAE M) AR 2 B A B M sk
AR 7% -

REARRBBIRE LI E  RIRE
Zat B REE R B AR R A2
BIBBERARFREMRKRE %
TTIRIDENI0% - REARBMIR=E
SR MEFMFREREMALE
R ATRER H M BB AR B AT I
B TETRNDBE TEBREARA
PAMERN12{E A R E TR EI1% o

BEEIRESGAUEEEMNHME
AERBETE ETSEBRRLY
BHREE + F (AT ERSUR AT
) ANEESEERREET
AT ZAFE A B9 & 72 BRI S LR -
TEERARRESFEE A1 F
ERAT&EE : (AR RBRNRE
BRI (E ¢ (DA R B & IR
A EIRT R A2 % A 8P TIE
K (i) BB O E{E -

B % T 2 ER AN DA R 4B 95 B AR A -
202438318 » IRIEZT &I E
BB AT M ARTTE 2 BE R4 (20234 -

z) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

4 For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE
37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 37. BB AR S
(a) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial (a) BEAUBHRERAEAITTIF
statements, during the year, the Group entered into FRAE N - AN B A B R
transactions with related parties as follows: FEIM TR S
Related party Nature of transaction 2024 2023
2k REME HK$°000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Hong Kong Qing Chuang Limited Loan interest income
(note i) 257 1,080
BB EIBRAR (A72ti) E R B WA
Windmill Street Development Limited Service income 156 7,248
AR 75 YL A
Yee Hop — Amain JV Service income 2,992 2,467
PR 75 A
Pioneer National Development Limited Rental payment
(note (i) 936 936
HIEZERER A (M) Y SHEE
Asia Time Development Limited Rental payment
(notes (i) and (ii)) = 282
TRERBRAT (K205 0)) gk
Hilton Development Limited Rental payment
(notes (1) and (ii)) = 474
SLBRBERER AR (B Z0)L) Y NHEE
Land Treasure Development Limited Rental payment
(notes (i) and (ii)) = 414
e B RER DB (0L 36)) SENpickn

Notes: Mt -

The above transaction was conducted at terms determined i. b AR 5 ¥R AN o [ B R B O
on a basis mutually agreed between the Group and the B 2 2 EE T 8 KEGE
related parties. The directors of the Company have control 1T RRAEER L Bgw 7
and direct beneficial interest in the above mentioned related HEERREEE S g -
parties.

i The above tenancy agreements were early terminated on 30 i A & e B 702022469 A
September 2022. Details were set out in the announcements 30HIRRKIE - BAFBEER
dated 30 September 2022. HEAA2022F9 A30A M AL -

(b) Compensation of key management personnel (b) TEEEAS W TN

The directors of the Company consider that they and RABESRABRER—%E

one employee are the key management personnel of the BAREENTIEZEEEAS -

Group. Other than remuneration paid to the directors BRI 10T B XA T A

of the Company as disclosed in note 10, the Group paid RAEIEZENEFM I AEE

compensation to one key management personnel during B E20244F K20235F3 31

the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, details of AEFERM—RFEERAER

which are disclosed in note 11. SANE R R N A I
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

38. RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS 38. BIKERIFTE

Defined contribution plans

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees
in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs,
capped at HK$1,500 per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in the
PRC, the subsidiaries of the Group in this country participate
in respective government retirement benefit schemes (the
“Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are required to
contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement benefits of
the eligible employees. Contribution made to the Schemes is
calculated based on the certain percentages of the applicable
payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements in the
PRC. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the
Schemes is to pay the ongoing required contribution under the
Schemes.

Pursuant to the regulation of the relevant authorities in
the Philippines, the subsidiary of the Group in this country
participates in respective Social Security System (the “System”)
whereby the subsidiaries are required to contribute to the
System to fund the social security benefits of the eligible
employees. Contribution made to the System is calculated
based on the certain percentages of the applicable payroll
costs as stipulated under the requirements in the Philippines.
The only obligation of the Group with respect to the System is
to pay the ongoing required contribution under the System.

The total cost charged to profit or loss amounted to
approximately HK$7,710,000 (2023: HK$7,916,000) for
the year ended 31 March 2024. The payment represents
contributions payable to these schemes by the Group in
respect of the current accounting period.

During the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group
has no forfeited contributions from the pension schemes
(i.e. contributions processed by the employees who leave the
scheme prior to vesting fully in such contribution) available
to reduce its contributions to the pension schemes in future
years.

REMHAEE

AEEAREEMBEAEARERR
VoRTEERE  FHEEERALEE
BESHAFE BAIXTALZHHE
CERE - ASEZREEIERNAN
5% (PR && A ¥1,5007T) A58
BorrElfER®E - miE B MER
LRI AER e

RETEERERMNMRT  A5HE
RSB O I B X B 22 B2 AR R KT AR
RIEFIGHE (T5HE)) - 3k - M S
REIARGEIHK REERESR
MERRBNERES - 5HEIHRTD
R Y% AP B 2 SRPT AR E O 53 A E B AR
AWETEDLAE - NEEH G
M- BEERRBFIINSE
P B HHER o

REFEEAHERNMAT A%
BRABENMBAR2ERARLE
REERX(RBR]D) B - HBAR
AIARBRER  REEREED
HEREBRREHES BREHEX
TIRIBIEE T B KA TE BE A F
MRANETEDLAE - AEE
HRANE-BEIEREBREMN

SEFTH R

HE2024F3A31B ILFE - N8
7 FBR B9 4B K 2N 49 78 6 7,710,0007T
(20234 : B 1#7,916,0007T) < % &
B AEASEE A SR B R B RZ

FaT IR -

RE E2024%F 220233318 IEF
B AEBEITEREERSFTEN
RIH (IR T2 FB R 2Bl
BFFTEIMEEMEENET) ATA
RBELPERKRKRFEFERNRAKSEE

K
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PSRRI

For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 39. A A Ky B AR R
THE COMPANY
2024 2023
HK$’'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Non-current asset RBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—REMBRRMNIRE 14,808 14,808
Current assets REEE
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE U B B A R FRIAR
(note a) (Kiita) 112,059 112,224
Prepayments TR IR 133 133
Bank balances and cash RITEHRLES 371 316
112,563 112,673
Current liability nEEE
Other payables and accruals HiENZRIBERESE R 625 605
625 605
Net current assets REBEEFE 111,938 112,068
Net assets EEZRE 126,746 126,876
Capital and reserve EAXR#E
Share capital &% A 5,000 5,000
Reserves (note b) s (B Eb) 121,746 121,876
Total equity DB 126,746 126,876
Notes: Hiat
(@)  The amounts are unsecured, non-interesting bearing and repayable (@ FBRFIBBAEER RERERERE
on demand. EE -

(b)

186

Movements in reserves

Share Merger  Accumulated

premium reserve losses Total

A5 8 oG E5i i @5t

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BETT AT T BETT BETT

As at 1 April 2022 R2022F4A18 112,583 14,808 (5,432) 121,959
Loss and total comprehensive FREBERZARSAE

expense for the year = = (83) (83)

As at 31 March 2023 M202343HA31H 112,583 14,808 (5,515) 121,876
Loss and total comprehensive FREERZARSAE

expense for the year - - (130) (130)

As at 31 March 2024 M2024F3HA31H 112,583 14,808 (5,645) 121,746

Yee Hop Holdings Limited & ZRARAR  IIIEGEGEE—
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40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE

B
5
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40. XA EEMBELQF

COMPANY
Place of
incorporation/  Place of Issued and fully paid share capital/ Percentage of equity interest and
Name of subsidiaries establishment  operation registered capital voting power attributable to the Company  Principal activities
ZREL/
WEARER KM% Fd-3uk BRARARKRE/ERELR FAREERERRARE DL TEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
Direct  Indirect Direct Indirect
EE B BB BE
Yee Hop Engineering Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Engineering and construction
HK$14,800,001 HK$14,800,001
FATIRERAR B8 EE LRRER LARES - 100% - 100% @ IRREE
14,800,001 14,800,0017
Yee Hop Construction Company Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Construction contracting
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
ZRREARDA B Bk LEkA%000m  EBRER,000 - 100% - 100%  BZER
Y. H. Foundations Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares = 100% = 100%  Engineering and construction
HK$1,000 HK$1,000
ZANBERRAR % 36 TRRER000T  EBRE,0007 - 100% - 100% @ TREEE
YH Qing Chuang Limited (“YHQC") Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 70% - 70%  Investment holding
HK$1 HK$1
AEABRAA(BEES) &k &k ERREBIT ERRERIT - 70% - 0%  REER
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. Philippines Philippines Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 100% - 100%  Provision of logistic services to
PHP21,250,000 PHP21,250,000 construction and mining sites
Full Tech Equipment and Machinery Inc. ~~ 3E2% FRE L121,50,000  EiBAE21,250,000 - 100% - 100% @ RBERFRGERGEMR
FRELR FRELR vy
Absolute Pure EnviroSci Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares Ordinary shares - 65% - 65% Research and development of
HK$1 HK$1 speciality biochemical and
biomedical products
Absolute Pure EnviroSci Limited B B LRRABIT ERRABIT - 65% = 65%  HEREEMEERENRE
Em

Guangzhou Qingchuang Heaven PRC PRC RMB20,000,000 RMB20,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Premises revitalisation and
and earth Commercial Operation enhancement in the PRC
Management Co., Ltd.*

ENEARBBERELERARLA
(note (3))

EMEEIRNEEELERERAR FE HE AR20,000,0007  AR%20,000,0007 - 63% - 63%  RREZOEERAR
(W)

Guangzhou Qingchuang ideal Commercial ~ PRC PRC RMB15,000,000 RMB15,000,000 - 70% - 70%  Premises revitalisation and
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* enhancement in the PRC
ENEEREEEEEERARLA
(note (a))

ENBEEEEEELERERRR P E HE AR 150000007 AK#15,000,0007 - 70% - 0% REEZHEECRAR
(W)

Guangzhou QingChuang Wangdi PRC PRC RMB7,000,000 RMB7,000,000 - 63% - 63%  Premises revitalisation and
Commercial Operation Management enhancement in the PRC
Co, Ltd.*

ENEE AL EEERERAA
(note (a))

ENBEEEEELERERAR ki HE AR7,0000007T  AR%7,000,0007C - 63% - 63%  RREZNEECRAR
(W)

Guangzhou Yihe QingChuang Commercial ~ PRC PRC RMB3,500,000 RMB3,500,000 - 70% - 70% Premises revitalisation and
Operation Co., Ltd.* enhancement in the PRC
BNEAEEEEELARLT
(note (a))

EMEAEEIBZELERAR Wite) +8 E AR3,5000007  AK%3,500,0007 - 70% - 0%  RREZOEECRAR

* Translation of Chinese name for identification purpose only. & P EBERERBR -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

Note:

(@)  These entities are registered as a private limited company under the
PRC law.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected
the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details
of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of
the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has other
subsidiaries that are not individually material to the Group. The
principal activities of these subsidiaries are investment holding
and inactive. A summary of these subsidiaries are set out as
follows:

40. AATFTEME QT (&)

Bzt

(@ ZEEBRBEDEEZELA/TLA
BRAFE -

ARABEERR ERIIHAEE

BB AREIEXEASENER

SEERRB-ARFERTRA

REE MWK B QAW B RS

BILEK »

RBERR  AEEEHEEHAKE
M= @B TERNEMHBAR -
ZEMBRAAMIEXEB /KR ER
BRTER ZEWNBARMESR
(IR N

Number of subsidiaries

MEBATEE
Principal activity Principal place of

FEEK business FEEE 2024 2023
Investment holding - Hong Kong — & 4 4

KEER — The British Virgin —HBRLEE
Islands (the “BVI") ((RBEZBEE]) 8 8
Inactive - Hong Kong —&B 4 4
ANE BB — The PRC — 1 1
—The BVI -~ RBELES 1 1
- Vietnam — M 1 1
— Macau — BP9 1 1
20 20

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities
subsisting at the end of both years or at any time during both
years.

B 2 R B AT I P R R =
MEFETREFENERES

Yee Hop Holdings Limited #&ZRARAF  IIIIEGEGEGEGEE—
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. ZRFETEM B DT (&)
COMPANY (Continued)
The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiary TRINTHEBEHAEEAMEBEXR
of the Group that has non-controlling interests that are ZIHEREENANEBIEZEWE
material to the Group: NAZEFFE
Place of incorporation/ Proportion of voting power
establishment and principal Proportion of ownership interest held by non-controlling Loss attributable to Accumulated
Name of subsidiary place of business held by non-controlling interests interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
HRAL/RLAE FEREEREN FERREEAN
HELAREE BREZEXHE frE&ERILA REELH FERESRLEFE ZitkERER
2024 2023 2024 2023 204 2023 2024 2023
% % % % HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000

ERTR BETT ERTR BETL

YHQC Hong Kong 30% 30% 30% 30% (9,356) (8,186) (18,194) (7,50)
Gk B
Individually subsidiaries (1,625) - (1,625) =

with immaterial
non-controlling interests

FERERFEANER
HEAR
(10.981) (8186) (19,819 (7506)
The summarised financial information in respect of each of the BEHAEEBEAELERERD
Group's subsidiaries that have non-controlling interests that EAKENBARNMBERBRE
are material to the Group, before intragroup eliminations: (RETEBEARQ R EH )
YHQC 58l
2024 2023
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT T
Non-current assets FRBEE 356,998 408,659
Current assets RBEE 61,411 64,075
Non-current liabilities FRBE IR (309,116) (367,651)
Current liabilities REBRE (172,416) (141,677)
Equity attributable to owners of the AN & A AFE(GREZS
Company (44,929) (29,088)
Non-controlling interests* FEEAR A (18,194) (7,506)
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

40. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE 40. AT EXEMB AT (@)
COMPANY (Continued)
YHQC (Continued) =R p- 6]
Year ended Year ended
31 March 31 March
2024 2023
BZ2024% B ZE2023F
3A31H 3A31H
LFE EFE
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT T BT
Revenue Wes 15,122 3,230
Expenses F (38,685) (33,392)
Loss for the year FAEE (23,563) (30,162)
Loss attributable to owners of the AKRNRER AEGEE
Company (14,207) (21,976)
Loss attributable to non-controlling IR R AL B 1
interests* (9,356) (8,186)
Loss for the year FNEBE (23,563) (30,162)
Other comprehensive expense AKRATHEE AEEEA
attributable to owners of the 2ERX
Company (1,634) (1,667)
Other comprehensive expense EEREREEE M EE
attributable to non-controlling Fx
interests (1,332) (929)
Other comprehensive expense for the AN E Hith &M
year (2,966) (2,596)
Total comprehensive expense AR EAAEHER
attributable to owners of the EHEALBE
Company (15,841) (23,643)
Total comprehensive expense FEEREREIEFER
attributable to non-controlling 2HRMZ B
interests (10,688) (9,115)
Total comprehensive expense for the 5 % M i 2 4258
year (26,529) (32,758)
Net cash inflows from operating KEEBMSIEERAFRE
activities 18,966 21,498
Net cash outflows used in investing KETHMAR SR F5E
activities (20,715) (47,655)
Net cash inflows from financing MEEEAMEEERAFRE
activities (1,005) 23,150
Net cash (outflows) inflows B& ORd) mAFE (2,754) (3,007)
* The amounts included net assets or loss attributable to & ZeHBRREESFTANB QAR R
non-controlling interests of subsidiaries of YHQC. s FEEREE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

41. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING 41. MEETHELE2EBYHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRENWNAEBRETHELE LS
arising from financing activities, including both cash and BEEHFF BERERIREE
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities FoMmEFIEELEBBERBEL
are those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will HROBERNGEEHRERERS
be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as HAREBETHRERNZEAE -

cash flows from financing activities.

For the year ended 31 March 2024: B E2024F3A31HLLFE :
Non-cash changes
#5849
Financing Finance New lease Lease Exchange
1141203 cashflows  costsincurred  arrangements  modification  realignment 31/3/2024
03% FEEME NUE
4818 BERENE gE FRERH HEER EXwE 38318
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000

BRI BRTR BRI BRI ERTR ERT BRI

Bank and other borrowings 1T REMEE

note 28) (#28) 122,059 (22,957) - - - (2.411) 9,891
Interest payable (incuded RS (G A E

in Accruals and other ARAENE)

payables) 479 (4,955) 5893 - - - 1417

Amountduetoadirector  FER— B AT
of a subsidiary (included —4ESHFE
in Accruals and other (AR ERR

payables) EthEMFE) 6,597 (19) o - - - 6,318

Amount due to a related Ef—-HEEAT
company A 3,494 1,090 = s - . 4,584
Lease liabltes fEak 336,470 (21,125) 8,502 2,157 (14,230) (18532) 29320
469,299 (48,226) 14,395 2,157 (14,230) (20943) 402,452
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For the year ended 31 March 2024 & Z=202463A31HIEFE

41.

42.

43.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEEFBEEZABHER
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES (Continued) (%)
For the year ended 31 March 2023: B E2023F3A31HLLFE :
Non-cash changes
ESE o)
Financing Finance New lease Early Exchange
1412022 cashflows  costsincurred — arrangements termination realignment 3132023
WNE fELRE WBE
4B BERLNE A FRERH REAL EX 8% 3A31H
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI BETT BETT BT BETT BETT BRI
Bank and other borrowings  HTREMEE
(note 28) (Wii2) 58,820 63,439 - - - - 122,259
Interest payable (ncuded ~ ERS (G AR E
in Accruals and other AREEMNZE)
payables) 247 (4,828) 5,060 - - - 479
Amount due toadirector B —EHEBAR
of a subsidiary (included —4ESHFE
in Accruals and other (A ERR
payables) EthERZIE) 8,897 (2,300 - - - - 6,597
Amountduetoarelated R —FEEEAT
company A - 3,49 - - - - 3494
Lease liabilities HERE 237,067 (35,484) 21,997 133397 (3442) (17,065) 336470
305,031 2431 27,057 133397 (3442) (17,065) 469,299
MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 42. TEFRERS

During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group entered
into new arrangements in respect of office properties.
Right-of-use assets, investment properties and lease liabilities
of approximately HK$2,157,000 (2023: HK$4,462,000),
nil (2023: HK$128,935,000) and HK$2,157,000 (2023:
HK$133,397,000) respectively were recognised at the
commencement of the lease.

EVENT AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The Board approved the adoption of a share award plan, i.e.
the Plan. The purposes of the Plan are to recognise and reward
the contribution of eligible participants to the growth and
development of the Group and to give incentives to eligible
participants in order to retain them for the continual operation
and development of the Group, and to attract suitable
personnel for further development of the Group. Details are
set out in the Company’s announcement dated 17 April 2024.

43.

RE E2024F3A31BILEE - K&
B AEMET LT LA
BEE REVWERHBEBED R
%) 575 %2,157,0007T (20234 : Bk
4,462,0007T) ~ & ¥ = Jr (20234 ¢
751%5128,935,0007T) K E#E2,157,000
7C (20234F : 7 #133,397,0007T) &
P ERBEER -

WMEHEKREE
EEgEHERABRNDEEE
BNiZatéEl - ZETEIMEBEMDHAE
KL EEAAEBNKERERA
EEBTUBSERBEURAAEE
BLEERBEUBUNREZELE
B2HESAEBRREFELBRE
BRUAKESIGEABHEEANERE
—SER - -BHAFBHNAAFH
B A2024F4AB17HRIRE »
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Five Year Financial Summary

hFHBEESE

CONSOLIDATED RESULTS mEHEE
For the year ended 31 March HZ=3A318IEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BETT BETT BETT BETT BETT
(Re-presented)  (Unre-presented)
(EF25)) (LEEHE25)
Continuing operations FEREEY
Revenue 25 832,054 707,799 736,003 863,865 980,053
Cost of revenue e (738,831) (631,589) (632,069) (764,088) (870,409)
Gross profit E 1] 93,223 76,210 103,934 99,777 109,644
Gain from changes in fairvalue ~ £¥MEERTFEEFH 2
of biological assets less costs to Wz S & P AR
sell - - - - 13,196
Other income and gain H A WA R 20,133 26,128 9,597 40,829 45,803
Administrative and other expenses 7B K E 5 52 (76,231) (75,321) (66,087) (68,592) (110,389)
Selling and distribution expenses  $H& &5 #HH X (1,493) (928) (223) - (21,177)
Reversal of impairment loss SREERDRE
(impairment loss) of financial BiECRESE)
assets 302 511 (2,437) (559) (1,996)
Share of result of an associate DME—FBHENAIEE (2,481) 1,739 3,574 19,024 1,175
Finance costs RE K (14,395) (27,057) (7,101) (4,804) (7,576)
Profit before taxation BBt A A 19,058 1,282 41,257 85,675 28,680
Income tax (expense) credit FER (A EE (7,967) 2,611 (8,251) (7,012) (6,174)
11,091 3,893 33,006 78,781 22,506
Discontinued operations BAILER
Loss for the year from BRIEEBZEN
discontinued operation B8 - - (16,141) (40,511) -
Profit for the year ERREF 11,091 3,893 16,865 38,270 22,506
Other comprehensive income FRNEMRERE
(expense) for the year (%) (4,748) (5,839) 90 17,815 (12,016)
Total comprehensive (expense) FR2EFAX) KE
income for the year k] 6,343 (1,946) 16,955 56,085 10,490
As at 31 March M3H318
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BRI T BETT BETT BETT BETT
Non-current assets FRBEE 527,862 603,941 486,640 505,172 299,638
Current assets MEEE 547,741 452,041 391,231 460,793 495,096
Current liabilities MEEE (280,955) (193,035) (149,467) (328,957) (372,311)
Net current assets mBEEFE 266,786 259,006 241,764 131,836 122,785
Total assets less current liabilities & Z&E & ZE )
BE 794,648 862,947 728,404 637,008 422,423
Non-current liabilities EnBEE (315,302) (389,944) (254,226) (193,199) (37,373)
Net assets EEFE 479,346 473,003 474,178 443,809 385,050
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Glossary
HAAR

In this annual report (other than the Independent Auditor’s Report
and Financial Information), unless the context otherwise requires,
the following expression shall have the following meanings:

“2024 Financial Year”

2023 Corresponding

Year”

“"AGM"

“Articles”

“Birmingham Property

Project”

“Board”

“BVI"

“CG Code”

"Company”

“connected person(s)”

“Controlling
Shareholder(s)”

“Directors”

“GBP”

"Group”

IIHK$II

for the year ended 31 March 2024

for the year ended 31 March 2023

Annual general meeting of the Company

the Articles of Association of the
Company, as amended from time to time

a project for the development of a
residential property which consists 304
apartments situated at Windmill Street,
Birmingham, the United Kingdom

the board of Directors of the Company
the British Virgin Islands

the Corporate Governance Code

Yee Hop Holdings Limited, an exempted
company incorporated in Cayman Islands
with limited liability, the shares of which

are listed on the Stock Exchange

has the meaning ascribed to it under the
Listing Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto under
the Listing Rules and, in the context of
the Company, means each of Mr. Jim,
Mr. Chui and JJ1318

the director(s) of the Company

British Pound, the lawful currency of UK

the Company and its subsidiaries

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of
Hong Kong

R ARF R A (8 S A% BUAD & 8281 15 & B

BN - BRI BT
B AHU TS -

[2024F B RERE ]

[2023F

[RRBFAE]

[Eiz4a)

[MERFHFER ]

[AEAL]

[TRRBCR ]
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(54
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HZE204F3A318IEFE

HZ2023F3A318IEFE
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Glossary
EHAE
“Hong Kong” or “HK"

“JJ1318"

“Listing”
“Listing Rules”

“Main Board”

“Model Code”
“Mr. Chui”

“Mr. Jim"”

“PHP"
“PRC”
"Prospectus”
"RMB”

"SEQ”

“Share Award Plan”

the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region of the PRC

JJ1318 Holdings Limited, a company
incorporated in the BVI, is wholly
owned by Mr. Jim and is a Controlling
Shareholder

the listing of the Shares on the Main
Board on 18 December 2015

the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange

the main board of the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers

Mr. CHUI Mo Ming (R EVBR), an Executive
Director and a Controlling Shareholder

Mr. JIM Yin Kwan Jackin (E#Ef), an
Executive Director and a Controlling

Shareholder

Philippines Peso, the lawful currency of
the Republic of Philippines

The People’s Republic of China

the prospectus in relation to the Shares
Offer of the Company dated 8 December
2015

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the laws of Hong Kong)

the share award plan adopted by the
Company on 17 April 2024
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Glossary
HAAR

“Share Option Scheme”

"Shareholder(s)"”

“Shares”

“Shares Offer”

“Stock Exchange”

“Yee Hop
Construction”

“Yee Hop Engineering”

=

the share option scheme adopted by
the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the Shareholders of the
Company passed on 25 November 2015

holder(s) of the Shares of the Company
from time to time

Shares issued by the Company, with a
nominal value of HK$0.01 each

the public offer and placing of totalling
125,000,000 new Shares of the Company
at the offer price of HK$1.00 under the
Prospectus

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited

Yee Hop Construction Company
Limited (EAEZEABR AT, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

Yee Hop Engineering Company Limited
(EATREBMRAA), a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and an indirect subsidiary of the
Company

(Rt 8l]

(32 Ff )

[EARE

ARAREADABRER
201511 A5BFr@BER
FEREMEERERE

KRERS 2 T ERAA

ADRMBEITEREESYE
0.017CHI %17

BEARSRIABEEEE
TOOLARBEREES
125,000,0000% A2 7)1 B 47

BEMARAMBRAR

ERREARDA RNEA
EMRINBERAF LA
RARMEERHEAR

EATRERAT HES
EMRIMERAT LA
AATEENEAT
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Garfield Family © 2023 Project G Productions, LLC All Rights Reserved.
Garfield and all related titles, logos and characters are trademarks of Paws, Inc.
Exclusive licensee of Project G Productions in Greater China: Starlight Film
Culture Industry Development (Shenzhen) Limited.
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